
                                                  SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
                                                        Washington, D.C. 20549 
 
                                                               Form 10-Q 
 
(Mark One) 
 
[X]      QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
 
         For the quarterly period ended December 31, 2002 
 
                                            OR 
 
[  ]     TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
 
         For the transition period from ----- to ----- 
 
Commission file number 0-13163 
 
                                                          Acxiom Corporation 
                                        (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter) 
 
                          DELAWARE                                                        71-0581897 
                (State or Other Jurisdiction of                                        (I.R.S. Employer 
                Incorporation or Organization)                                        Identification No.) 
 
            P.O. Box 8180, 1 Information Way, 
                      Little Rock, Arkansas                                                 72203 
         (Address of Principal Executive Offices)                                        (Zip Code) 
 
                                                            (501) 342-1000 
                                         (Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code) 
 
         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file 
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 
 
                                                               Yes X No 
 
         Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Act). 
 
                                                               Yes X No 
 
         The number of shares of Common Stock, $ 0.10 par value per share, outstanding as of January 31, 2003 was 89,046,851. 
 
 
 
                                                  ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                                                                 INDEX 
                                                          REPORT ON FORM 10-Q 
                                                           DECEMBER 31, 2002 
 
                                                                                                 Page No. 
        Part I.  Financial Information 
 
             Item 1.  Financial Statements 
 
                 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and March 31, 
                      2002 (Unaudited)                                                              2 
 
                 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Months Ended 
                      December 31, 2002 and 2001 (Unaudited) 
                                                                                                    3 
 
                 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Nine Months Ended 
                      December 31, 2002 and 2001 (Unaudited) 
                                                                                                    4 
 
                 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended 
                      December 31, 2002 and 2001 (Unaudited) 
                                                                                                    5 
 
                 Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 
                                                                                                  6 - 15 
 
             Item 2.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
                 Results of Operations                                                           16 - 29 
 
             Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
                                                                                                    30 
 
             Item 4.  Controls and Procedures                                                       30 
 
        Part II.  Other Information 
 
             Item 1.  Legal Proceedings                                                             31 
 
             Item 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K                                              31 
 
        Signature                                                                                   32 
 
        Certifications                                                                           33 - 36 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1.  Financial Statements 
 
                                         ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                                        CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                                                     (Unaudited) 
                                               (Dollars in thousands) 
 
                                                                          December 31,                March 31, 
                                                                              2002                       2002 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
                            Assets 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents                                         $                66,402     $               5,676 
  Trade accounts receivable, net                                                    194,066                   185,579 
  Deferred income taxes                                                              48,716                    48,716 
  Refundable income taxes                                                             2,926                    41,652 
  Other current assets                                                               70,475                    78,602 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
     Total current assets                                                           382,585                   360,225 
 
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and 
    amortization                                                                    171,727                   181,775 
Software, net of accumulated amortization                                            73,145                    61,437 
Goodwill                                                                            220,811                   174,655 
Purchased software licenses, net of accumulated amortization                        168,696                   169,854 
Unbilled and notes receivable, excluding current portions                            25,344                    40,358 
Deferred costs, net of accumulated amortization                                     116,024                   125,843 
Other assets, net                                                                    30,062                    42,687 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
                                                                    $             1,188,394     $           1,156,834 
                                                                     =======================     ===================== 
 
             Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 
Current liabilities: 
  Current installments of long-term debt                                             32,021                    23,274 
  Trade accounts payable                                                             26,403                    29,472 
  Accrued expenses: 
    Restructuring and impairment                                                      1,249                     3,022 
    Payroll                                                                          11,485                    17,612 
    Other                                                                            37,595                    43,176 
  Deferred revenue                                                                   63,527                    61,114 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
    Total current liabilities                                                       172,280                   177,670 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
 
Long-term debt, excluding current installments                                      326,533                   396,850 
 
Deferred income taxes                                                                94,691                    71,383 
 
Commitments and contingencies 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Common stock                                                                        8,944                     8,734 
  Additional paid-in capital                                                        322,032                   281,355 
  Retained earnings                                                                 277,319                   231,791 
  Accumulated other comprehensive loss                                               (5,315)                   (8,609) 
  Treasury stock, at cost                                                            (8,090)                   (2,340) 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
  Total stockholders' equity                                                        594,890                   510,931 
                                                                     -----------------------     --------------------- 
                                                                    $             1,188,394     $           1,156,834 
                                                                     =======================     ===================== 
 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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                                       ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                                 CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
                                                   (Unaudited) 
                                (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
                                                                             For the Three Months Ended 
                                                                                     December 31, 
 
 
 
                                                                          2002                       2001 
                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
 
 
Revenue                                                           $            257,961      $             220,543 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
    Salaries and benefits                                                       80,474                     74,121 
    Computer, communications and other equipment                                69,066                     53,604 
    Data costs                                                                  28,748                     27,793 
    Other operating costs and expenses                                          48,457                     39,386 
    Gains, losses and nonrecurring items, net                                     (521)                    (1,059) 
                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
        Total operating costs and expenses                                     226,224                    193,845 
                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
Income from operations                                                          31,737                     26,698 
                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
Other income (expense): 
    Interest expense                                                            (5,088)                    (7,767) 
    Other, net                                                                   1,064                     (1,029) 



                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
                                                                                (4,024)                    (8,796) 
                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
Earnings before income taxes                                                    27,713                     17,902 
 
Income taxes                                                                     8,176                      6,624 
                                                                   --------------------      --------------------- 
        Net earnings                                              $             19,537      $              11,278 
                                                                   ====================      ===================== 
Earnings per share: 
 
    Basic                                                         $               0.22      $                0.13 
                                                                   ====================      ===================== 
    Diluted                                                       $               0.20      $                0.13 
                                                                   ====================      ===================== 
 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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                                  ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                            CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
                                              (Unaudited) 
                           (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
                                                                     For the Nine Months Ended 
                                                                            December 31, 
 
 
 
                                                                   2002                    2001 
                                                            --------------------    -------------------- 
 
 
Revenue                                                    $            718,763    $            640,785 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
    Salaries and benefits                                               230,316                 245,253 
    Computer, communications and other equipment                        195,921                 186,940 
    Data costs                                                           87,478                  88,503 
    Other operating costs and expenses                                  129,067                 121,922 
    Gains, losses and nonrecurring items, net                            (5,081)                 44,283 
                                                            --------------------    -------------------- 
        Total operating costs and expenses                              637,701                 686,901 
                                                            --------------------    -------------------- 
Income (loss) from operations                                            81,062                 (46,116) 
 
Other income (expense): 
    Interest expense                                                    (15,485)                (21,722) 
    Other, net                                                            2,607                  (3,412) 
                                                            --------------------    -------------------- 
                                                                        (12,878)                (25,134) 
                                                            --------------------    -------------------- 
Earnings (loss) before income taxes                                      68,184                 (71,250) 
 
Income taxes                                                             22,656                 (25,918) 
                                                            --------------------    -------------------- 
        Net earnings  (loss)                               $             45,528    $            (45,332) 
                                                            ====================    ==================== 
Earnings (loss) per share: 
 
    Basic                                                  $               0.51    $              (0.51) 
                                                            ====================    ==================== 
    Diluted                                                $               0.49    $              (0.51) 
                                                            ====================    ==================== 
 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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                                        ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                                  CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                                                    (Unaudited) 
                                              (Dollars in thousands) 
 
 
                                                                                   For the Nine Months Ended 
                                                                                          December 31, 
 
 
 
                                                                                  2002                    2001 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
    Net earnings (loss)                                                   $            45,528     $           (45,332) 
    Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided 
        by operations: 
            Depreciation and amortization                                              88,354                  91,991 
            Loss (gain) on disposal or impairment of assets, net                          (39)                 45,617 
            Deferred income taxes                                                      23,923                 (26,242) 
            Income tax benefit of stock options exercised                                 157                       - 
            Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
                Accounts receivable                                                    (4,041)                 11,911 
                Other assets                                                           53,803                  25,691 
                Accounts payable and other liabilities                                (15,232)                 (2,348) 
                Restructuring and impairment costs                                     (1,772)                (10,775) 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
                    Net cash provided by operating activities                         190,681                  90,513 



                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
    Proceeds received from the disposition of operations                                  451                   7,486 
    Proceeds received from the disposition of assets                                      200                     127 
    Capitalized software development costs                                            (26,336)                (17,231) 
    Capital expenditures                                                              (10,809)                (11,401) 
    Deferral of costs                                                                 (11,144)                (40,779) 
    Investments in joint ventures and other investments                                (1,052)                 (7,228) 
    Proceeds from sale and leaseback transaction                                        7,729                   5,999 
    Net cash paid in acquisitions                                                     (14,105)                      - 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
                    Net cash used by investing activities                             (55,066)                (63,027) 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
    Proceeds from debt                                                                 82,516                 149,986 
    Payments of debt                                                                 (168,483)               (175,400) 
    Sale of common stock                                                               14,353                   8,631 
    Acquisition of treasury stock                                                      (3,399)                      - 
    Payments on equity forward contracts                                                    -                 (23,547) 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
                    Net cash used by financing activities                             (75,013)                (40,330) 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash                                                   124                     (15) 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                   60,726                 (12,859) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                                        5,676                  14,176 
                                                                           -------------------     ------------------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                $            66,402     $             1,317 
                                                                           ===================     =================== 
Supplemental cash flow information: 
    Cash paid (received) during the period for: 
        Interest                                                          $            17,428     $            20,711 
        Income taxes                                                                  (40,420)                 12,659 
    Noncash investing and financing activities: 
        Notes payable, common stock and warrants issued for acquisitions               28,486                       - 
        Notes receivable received in exchange for sale of operations                    1,326                   8,151 
        Issuance of warrants                                                            1,317                       - 
        Equity forward contracts settled through term note                                  -                  64,169 
        Enterprise software licenses acquired under software obligation                 2,828                   3,491 
        Acquisition of property and equipment under capital lease                       9,645                       - 
                                                                           ===================     =================== 
 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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                                            ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                                   NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                                                       (Unaudited) 
 
1.   BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
 
     These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Acxiom Corporation ("Registrant", "Acxiom" 
     or "the Company"), without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
     ("SEC" or "the Commission").  In the opinion of the Registrant's management all adjustments necessary for a fair 
     presentation of the results for the periods included have been made and the disclosures are adequate to make the 
     information presented not misleading.  All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.  Certain note 
     information has been omitted because it has not changed significantly from that reflected in notes 1 through 21 of 
     the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements filed as a part of Item 14 of the Registrant's annual report on Form 
     10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002 ("2002 Annual Report"), as filed with the Commission on May 15, 2002. 
     This report and the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in connection with the 
     2002 Annual Report.  The financial information contained in this report is not necessarily indicative of the 
     results to be expected for any other period or for the full fiscal year ending March 31, 2003. 
 
     Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and 
     liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these condensed consolidated 
     financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  Actual 
     results could differ from those estimates.  Certain of the accounting policies used in the preparation of these 
     condensed consolidated financial statements are complex and require management to make judgments and/or significant 
     estimates regarding amounts reported or disclosed in these financial statements.  Additionally, the application of 
     certain of these accounting policies is governed by complex accounting principles and interpretations thereof.  A 
     discussion of the Company's significant accounting principles and the application thereof is included in note 1 and 
     in Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, to the Company's 
     2002 Annual Report. 
 
     Effective January 1, 2001, the Company changed its method of accounting for certain transactions, retroactive to 
     April 1, 2000, in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 101 ("SAB 101"), "Revenue Recognition in Financial 
     Statements."  For the quarters ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, and for the nine months ended December 31, 2002 
     and 2001, the Company recognized approximately $2.9 million and $4.7 million, respectively, and approximately $11.0 
     million and $14.8 million, respectively, in revenue that was included in the SAB 101 cumulative effect adjustment. 
 
     Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  These 
     reclassifications had no impact on net earnings (loss) as previously reported. 
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2.   RESTRUCTURING, IMPAIRMENT AND OTHER CHARGES 
 
     Restructuring and Impairment Charges 
     On June 25, 2001, the Company announced a restructuring plan ("Restructuring Plan") for significant cost-reduction 
     efforts, including workforce reductions, the sale and leaseback of a significant amount of its computer equipment, 
     and certain other restructuring activities, asset impairments and other adjustments and accruals totaling $45.3 
     million.  The charges recorded by the Company include a loss on the sale-leaseback transaction of $31.2 million; 
     $8.3 million in associate-related reserves; $3.6 million for lease and contract termination costs and $2.2 million 
     for abandoned or impaired assets and transaction costs.  Additionally, the Company recorded accelerated 
     depreciation and amortization of approximately $25.8 million during the quarter ended June 30, 2001, on certain 
     software and long-lived assets that are no longer in service or have otherwise been deemed impaired. 
 
     Sale Leaseback Transaction 



     On June 29, 2001, in connection with the Restructuring Plan, the Company entered into an agreement whereby it sold 
     equipment with a net book value of $50.7 million to Technology Investment Partners, LLC ("TIP") and recorded a loss 
     on this sale of $31.2 million.  Simultaneous with the sale of this equipment, the Company agreed to lease the 
     equipment under a capital lease from TIP for a period of thirty-six months.  The Company received $2.0 million of 
     the sale proceeds from TIP during July 2001 and received an additional $4.0 million of the sales proceeds during 
     December 2001.  On August 30, 2002, the Company amended its agreement with TIP whereby it reacquired from TIP 
     certain equipment under the original sale and leaseback arrangement that had not previously been funded by TIP. 
     Simultaneous with this transaction, the Company entered into an agreement with Merrill Lynch Capital ("MLC") 
     whereby a portion of the repurchased equipment under the amended TIP agreement was sold to MLC for net sales 
     proceeds of $7.7 million.  The agreement with MLC also provides a leaseback provision, accounted for as a capital 
     lease by the Company, whereby the Company is obligated to lease the equipment from MLC for a period of thirty-six 
     months.  The Company did not record any gain or loss on the sale and leaseback transaction with MLC. 
 
     Included in property and equipment at December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, is equipment of $7.4 million and $14.7 
     million, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, related to the assets under these 
     leaseback arrangements.  Included in long-term debt at December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, are capital lease 
     obligations under these leaseback arrangements in the amount of $10.9 million and $5.6 million, respectively. 
 
     Montgomery Wards Bankruptcy 
     During the fourth quarter of the year ended March 31, 2001, the Company recorded a charge totaling $34.6 million 
     relating to the bankruptcy filing of Montgomery Ward ("Wards"), a significant customer of the Information 
     Technology ("IT") Management segment, for the write-down of impaired assets and for certain ongoing obligations 
     that have no future benefit to the Company.  As of June 30, 2001, the Company was no longer obligated to provide 
     services to Wards.  During the quarter ended December 31, 2002, the Company received a payment from the Wards 
     bankruptcy trustee in the amount of $0.5 million.  This payment was recorded through gains, losses and nonrecurring 
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     items where the expense was originally recorded.  Any future recovery from the bankruptcy will also be recorded in 
     gains, losses and nonrecurring items. 
 
     The following table shows the balances related to the Restructuring Plan and to Wards that were included in the 
     restructuring and impairment accruals as of March 31, 2002 and the changes in those balances during the nine months 
     ended December 31, 2002 (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                   March 31,                          December 31, 2002 
                                                      2002            Payments 
                                                  -------------    ---------------    ------------------- 
                                                  -------------    ---------------    ------------------- 
 
                    Associate-related reserves     $    600             $ (600)       $          - 
                    Contract termination costs        2,025             (1,037)                988 
                    Transaction costs and other 
                         accruals                       397               (136)                261 
                                                  -------------    ---------------    ------------------- 
                                                  -------------    ---------------    ------------------- 
 
                                                    $ 3,022            $(1,773)            $ 1,249 
                                                  =============    ===============    =================== 
 
     The remaining accruals will be paid out over periods ranging up to three years. 
 
     Other 
     During the quarter ended June 30, 2000, the compensation committee ("the Committee") of the Company committed to 
     pay in cash $6.3 million of over-attainment incentive ("Incentive") that was attributable to results of operations 
     in prior years.  This Incentive was to be paid in excess of the Company's normal at-risk incentive pay.  In 
     accordance with the Company's Incentive plan, the amount accrued was to be paid over a three-year period, assuming 
     continued performance of the Company.  During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company paid, and recorded 
     as a reduction of the accrual, $2.2 million of the Incentive.  During the quarter ended September 30, 2002, the 
     Committee discontinued the Incentive and determined that the remaining accrual would not be paid under the 
     Incentive plan based on recent operating results.  Accordingly, the remaining accrual of $4.1 million was reversed 
     through gains, losses and nonrecurring items during the quarter ended September 30, 2002, which is where the 
     expense was originally recorded. 
 
3.   ACQUISITIONS 
 
     Effective November 26, 2002, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Toplander 
     Corporation ("Toplander"), a data compiler for online marketing efforts.  Management believes this acquisition will 
     enable Acxiom to significantly increase the number of database records used for online marketing efforts and will 
     provide additional sources of data collection.  The acquisition price consisted of cash paid to the sellers of $5.6 
     million and contingent consideration that includes up to $2.4 million of additional cash currently in escrow, 
     shares of the Company's common stock with a fair value of up to $2.0 million, and warrants to purchase shares of 
     the Company's common stock with a fair value of up to $2.0 million for a total aggregate purchase price, including 
     contingent consideration, of up to $12.0 million.  At December 31, 2002, the $2.4 million escrowed cash is included 
     in cash and cash equivalents on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.  The amount of contingent consideration, 
     if any, payable by the Company to the sellers should be determined during the first two quarters of the Company's 
     2004 fiscal year.  The results of operations of Toplander are included in the Company's consolidated results from 
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     the date of acquisition.  The pro forma effect of this acquisition is not material to the Company's consolidated 
     results for any of the periods presented. 
 
     Effective August 12, 2002, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of an employment 
     screening business owned by Trans Union, LLC ("Trans Union"), a related party.  This employment screening business 
     was incorporated as Acxiom Information Security Systems, Inc. ("AISS") and offers a range of services including 
     criminal and civil records search, education and reference verification, and other verification services for its 
     customers.  Management believes AISS will provide the Company with additional products and services and will 
     support the Company's initiatives in the screening, identification and security areas.  The aggregate purchase 
     price of $34.8 million consisted of cash of $7.5 million paid at closing, a note of $2.5 million paid in October 
     2002, additional cash of $0.2 million paid in October 2002 as a result of purchase price adjustments, 664,562 
     shares of common stock valued at $10.5 million and warrants to purchase 1,272,024 shares of common stock, at an 
     exercise price of $16.32, valued at $14.1 million.  If the value of the 664,562 shares of common stock on August 
     12, 2003 (twelve months after the closing date) is less than $10.0 million, the Company will be required to pay 
     additional cash consideration in the amount of the deficit, but not more than $5.0 million.  If the value of those 
     shares on August 12, 2003 is greater than $13.0 million, Trans Union will be required to return shares of common 
     stock in the amount of the excess, but not more than $5.0 million worth of common stock.  The results of operations 
     of AISS are included in the Company's consolidated results from the date of acquisition.  The pro forma effect of 
     this acquisition is not material to the Company's consolidated results for any of the periods presented. 



 
     Effective June 1, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with Publishing & Broadcasting Limited ("PBL") 
     whereby Acxiom purchased PBL's 50% ownership interest in an Australian joint venture ("Australian JV") for cash of 
     $0.8 million (net of cash acquired) and a note payable of $1.4 million, such that Acxiom now owns 100% of the 
     Australian operation.  Additionally, the purchase agreement provides that Acxiom may pay PBL additional 
     consideration, based on a percentage of the Australian operation's results through March 31, 2007, and also 
     provides PBL the option to repurchase between 25% and 49% of the Australian JV subsequent to March 31, 2007, at an 
     option price specified in the purchase agreement.  The results of operations of the Australian business are 
     included in the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements beginning June 1, 2002.  Prior to that time, 
     the Company accounted for the Australian JV as an equity method investment.  The pro forma effect of this 
     acquisition is not material to the Company's consolidated results for any of the periods presented.  Management 
     believes the Australian market is an important component of the Company's long-term global strategy.  Sole 
     ownership of the Australian operation will enable the Company to more quickly and effectively capitalize on that 
     opportunity. 
 
     The following table shows the allocation of the Australian JV and the AISS purchase prices and the initial 
     allocation of the Toplander purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed (dollars in thousands): 
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                                                 Australian JV              AISS                Toplander 
                                              -------------------    -----------------    --------------------- 
 
        Assets acquired: 
            Cash                                 $     592             $         -          $         - 
            Goodwill                                 6,995                  32,438                4,618 
            Other current and noncurrent 
                assets                               2,575                   3,513                1,392 
                                              -------------------    -----------------    --------------------- 
                                                    10,162                  35,951                6,010 
        Accounts payable and accrued 
            expenses assumed                         1,077                   1,096                  410 
                                              -------------------    -----------------    --------------------- 
        Net assets acquired                          9,085                  34,855                5,600 
            Less: 
                Cash acquired                          592                       -                    - 
                Common stock issued                      -                  10,525                    - 
                Warrants issued for the 
                     purchase of common 
                     stock                               -                  14,097                    - 
                Previous investment in 
                     Australian JV                   6,357                       -                    - 
                Note payable                         1,364                   2,500                    - 
                                              -------------------    -----------------    --------------------- 
        Net cash paid                            $     772               $   7,733            $   5,600 
                                              ===================    =================    ===================== 
 
     The initial purchase price allocation for Toplander does not include the $2.4 million of cash placed in escrow 
     pursuant to the purchase agreement, nor does it include the other contingent consideration of warrants or common 
     stock.  The initial purchase price allocation is subject to adjustment based on the Company's final determination 
     of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as the ultimate payment of the 
     contingent consideration, if any. 
 
4.   DIVESTITURES 
 
     During the year ended March 31, 2002, the Company sold three of its business operations, including a minor portion 
     of its United Kingdom operations located in Spain and Portugal. During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, the Company 
     sold the remaining portion of its assets located in Spain, which primarily consisted of tax loss carryforwards. 
     Effective July 31, 2002, the Company sold its print shop business located in Chatsworth, California.  Gross 
     proceeds from the sales of these operations were $16.6 million, consisting of cash of $6.8 million and notes 
     receivable of $9.8 million.  At December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, notes receivable relating to these 
     transactions of $5.6 million and $5.2 million, respectively, are included in the accompanying condensed 
     consolidated financial statements.  The Company recorded a gain associated with the disposition in Spain of $0.5 
     million during the quarter ended June 30, 2002, including the write-off of $0.1 million of goodwill (see note 6). 
     The gain on the sale of the print shop business, which includes the write-off of $0.1 million of goodwill (see note 
     6), was not material. 
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5.   OTHER CURRENT AND NONCURRENT ASSETS 
 
     Unbilled and notes receivable are from the sales of software, data licenses, equipment sales and from the sale of 
     divested operations (see note 4), net of the current portions of such receivables.  Other current assets include 
     the current portion of the unbilled and notes receivable of $34.5 million and $38.4 million at December 31, 2002 
     and March 31, 2002, respectively.  Other current assets also include prepaid expenses, non-trade receivables and 
     other miscellaneous assets of $36.0 million and $40.2 million at December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, respectively. 
 
     Other noncurrent assets consist of the following (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                                                 December 31,          March 31, 
                                                                                     2002                 2002 
                                                                             ------------------     --------------- 
     Investments in joint ventures and other investments, net of 
        unrealized loss on available-for-sale marketable securities                 $ 20,034             $ 27,394 
     Other, net                                                                       10,028               15,293 
                                                                             ------------------     --------------- 
                                                                                    $ 30,062             $ 42,687 
                                                                             ==================     =============== 
 
6.   GOODWILL 
 
     The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by business segment, for the nine months ended December 31, 2002, 
     are as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                              Data and 
                                                              Software           IT Management 
                                           Services           Products                                    Total 
                                         -------------    -----------------    ------------------    ---------------- 
                                         -------------    -----------------    ------------------    ---------------- 



 
Balances at March 31, 2002                 $  97,833              $1,533             $  75,289          $  174,655 
Acquisitions (note 3)                         39,433               4,618                     -              44,051 
Divestitures (note 4)                            (84)                  -                  (131)               (215) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 
                                               2,320                   -                     -               2,320 
                                         -------------    -----------------    ------------------    ---------------- 
                                         -------------    -----------------    ------------------    ---------------- 
 
Balances at December 31, 2002              $ 139,502              $6,151             $  75,158          $  220,811 
                                         =============    =================    ==================    ================ 
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7.   LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
     Long-term debt consists of the following (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                                       December 31, 2002       March 31, 2002 
                                                                       --------------------   ---------------- 
 
  Convertible subordinated notes due 2009; interest at 3.75%                 $ 175,000             $ 175,000 
 
  Software license liabilities payable over terms up to seven years; 
      effective interest rates at approximately 6%                              76,702                88,444 
 
  Term note, due 2005                                                           64,169                64,169 
 
  Convertible subordinated notes, repaid April 2002                                  -                62,589 
 
   Capital leases on land, buildings and equipment payable in monthly 
      payments of principal plus interest at approximately 8%; 
      remaining terms up to fifteen years                                       32,357                18,878 
 
  Other debt and long-term liabilities                                          10,326                11,044 
                                                                       --------------------   ---------------- 
         Total long-term debt                                                  358,554               420,124 
 
  Less current installments                                                     32,021                23,274 
                                                                       --------------------   ---------------- 
 
         Long-term debt, excluding current installments                      $ 326,533             $ 396,850 
                                                                       ====================   ================ 
 
     The Company maintains a revolving credit facility that provides for aggregate borrowings and letters of credit of 
     up to $175 million.  Any future borrowings under this facility will bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.50%, or at an 
     alternative base rate or at the Federal funds rate plus 2.00%, depending upon the type of borrowing, are secured by 
     substantially all of the Company's assets and are due January 2005.  There were no borrowings outstanding under 
     this facility at either December 31, 2002 or March 31, 2002.  Outstanding letters of credit at December 31, 2002 
     and March 31, 2002, were $10.8 million and $10.7 million, respectively.  See note 13 for subsequent event 
     information. 
 
     On September 21, 2001, the Company executed an agreement for the settlement of certain equity forward contracts 
     through borrowings of $64.2 million from a bank under a term loan facility.  The borrowings under this term loan 
     bear interest, payable semiannually, at LIBOR plus 3.75% or an alternative base rate.  At December 31, 2002, the 
     interest rate under this facility was 5.19%.  The borrowings under this facility are secured by substantially all 
     of the Company's assets.  See note 13 for subsequent event information. 
 
     Under the terms of some of the above borrowings, the Company is required to maintain certain tangible net worth 
     levels, debt-to-cash flow and debt service coverage ratios, among other restrictions.  At December 31, 2002, the 
     Company was in compliance with these covenants and restrictions.  Accordingly, the Company has classified all 
     portions of its debt obligations due after December 31, 2003 as long-term in the accompanying condensed 
     consolidated financial statements. 
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8.   STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
     Below is the calculation and reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted earnings (loss) 
     per share (in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 
                                                 For the quarter ended              For the nine months ended 
                                                     December 31,                           December, 
                                                2002               2001              2002                2001 
                                           ----------------   ---------------  -----------------   ----------------- 
    Basic earnings (loss) per share: 
         Numerator - net earnings (loss) 
                                                $ 19,537           $11,278           $ 45,528           $ (45,332) 
         Denominator - weighted-average 
             shares outstanding                   89,195            86,950             88,486              88,912 
                                           ----------------   ---------------  -----------------   ----------------- 
                 Basic earnings (loss) 
                      per share                   $ 0.22           $  0.13             $ 0.51            $  (0.51) 
                                           ================   ===============  =================   ================= 
    Diluted earnings (loss) per share: 
         Numerator: 
             Net earnings (loss)                $ 19,537           $11,278           $ 45,528            $(45,332) 
             Interest expense on 
                 convertible debt (net of 
                 tax benefit)                      1,050                --              3,150                  -- 
                                           ----------------   ---------------  -----------------   ----------------- 
                                                $ 20,587           $11,278           $ 48,678            $(45,332) 
                                           ----------------   ---------------  -----------------   ----------------- 
         Denominator: 
             Weighted-average shares 
                 outstanding                      89,195            86,950             88,486              88,912 
             Dilutive effect of common 



                 stock options and 
                 warrants, as computed 
                 under the treasury stock 
                 method                            1,740             1,707              2,187                  -- 
             Dilutive effect of 
                 convertible debt, as 
                 computed under the 
                 if-converted method               9,589                --              9,589                  -- 
                                           ----------------   ---------------  -----------------   ----------------- 
                                                 100,524            88,657            100,262              88,912 
                                           ----------------   ---------------  -----------------   ----------------- 
                 Diluted earnings (loss) 
                      per share                   $ 0.20            $ 0.13            $  0.49            $  (0.51) 
                                           ================   ===============  =================   ================= 
 
     The equivalent share effect of the convertible debt was excluded from the above calculations for the quarter ended 
     December 31, 2001, and the equivalent share effect of all stock options, stock warrants, equity forward contracts 
     and convertible debt were excluded from the above calculations for the nine months ended December 31, 2001, because 
     such items were antidilutive.  The equivalent share effect of convertible debt excluded for the quarter ended 
     December 31, 2001 was 5.8 million, and the equivalent share effect of the convertible debt and the equivalent share 
     effect of the common stock options and warrants excluded for the nine months ended December 31, 2001, were 5.8 
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     million and 1.7 million, respectively.  Interest expense on convertible debt (net of income tax effect) excluded in 
     computing diluted earnings (loss) per share for the quarter and for the nine months ended December 31, 2001, was 
     $0.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively. 
 
     At December 31, 2002, the Company had options and warrants outstanding providing for the purchase of approximately 
     22.7 million shares of its common stock.  Options and warrants to purchase shares of common stock that were 
     outstanding during the periods reported, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per 
     share because the exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common shares are shown below (in 
     thousands, except per share amounts): 
 
                                    For the quarter ended                         For the nine months ended 
                                         December 31,                                   December 31, 
                                  2002                   2001                    2002                    2001 
                           ------------------     ------------------     --------------------    -------------------- 
   Excluded number of 
       shares under 
       options and 
       warrants                  13,835                 11,176                  11,608                  11,670 
 
   Range of exercise 
       prices                $15.38 - 62.06         $13.41 - 62.06          $15.38 - 62.06          $11.50 - 62.06 
                           ==================     ==================     ====================    ==================== 
 
     The Company applies the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in 
     accounting for its stock-based compensation plans.  Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized by the 
     Company in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations for any of the fixed stock options 
     granted.  Had compensation cost for options granted been determined on the basis of the fair value of the awards at 
     the date of grant, consistent with the methodology prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
     ("SFAS") No. 123, the Company's net earnings (loss) would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts for 
     the periods indicated (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 
                                               For the quarter ended              For the nine months ended 
                                                   December 31,                          December 31, 
                                              2002              2001              2002                2001 
                                          -------------    ---------------    --------------     ---------------- 
Net earnings (loss), as reported            $ 19,537         $ 11,278           $ 45,528           $ (45,332) 
Less: stock-based employee 
     compensation expense under 
     fair value based method, net 
     of income tax benefit                     2,765            8,865              8,074               22,829 
                                          -------------    ---------------    --------------     ---------------- 
Pro forma net earnings (loss)               $ 16,772        $   2,413           $ 37,454           $ (68,161) 
                                          =============    ===============    ==============     ================ 
Earnings (loss) per share: 
      Basic - as reported                   $   0.22         $   0.13           $   0.51          $   (0.51) 
                                          =============    ===============    ==============     ================ 
      Basic - pro forma                     $   0.19         $   0.03           $   0.42          $   (0.77) 
                                          =============    ===============    ==============     ================ 
      Diluted - as reported                 $   0.20         $   0.13           $   0.49          $   (0.51) 
                                          =============    ===============    ==============     ================ 
      Diluted - pro forma                   $   0.18         $   0.03           $   0.40          $   (0.77) 
                                          =============    ===============    ==============     ================ 
 
                                                                14 
 
     Pro forma net earnings (loss) reflect only options granted after fiscal 1995.  Therefore, the full impact of 
     calculating compensation cost for stock options under SFAS No. 123 is not reflected in the pro forma net earnings 
     (loss) amounts presented above because compensation cost is reflected over the options' vesting period of up to 
     nine years and compensation cost for options granted prior to April 1, 1995 is not considered. 
 
9.   ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS 
 
     Trade accounts receivable are presented net of allowances for doubtful accounts, returns, and credits of $6.6 
     million and $6.3 million, respectively, at December 31, 2002 and at March 31, 2002. 
 
10.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
     The following tables present information by business segment (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                 For the quarter ended              For the nine months ended 
                                                     December 31,                          December 31, 
                                               2002               2001             2002                2001 
                                           ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ------------------- 
      Revenue: 
           Services                             $192,510          $162,766          $540,772          $476,780 



           Data and Software Products             46,085            44,241           129,429           116,724 
           IT Management                          65,985            57,777           179,332           164,004 
           Intercompany eliminations             (46,619)          (44,241)         (130,770)          (116,723) 
                                           ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ------------------- 
                                                $257,961          $220,543          $718,763          $640,785 
                                           ================  ================  ================  =================== 
      Income (loss) from operations: 
           Services                             $ 27,966          $20,378           $ 73,971         $  24,749 
           Data and Software Products              9,242            8,946             20,548             8,837 
           IT Management                           3,976            5,711              7,433             7,191 
           Intercompany eliminations              (9,447)          (8,946)           (20,899)            (8,045) 
           Corporate and other                        --              609                  9            (78,848) 
                                           ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ------------------- 
                                                $ 31,737          $26,698           $ 81,062          $ (46,116) 
                                           ================  ================  ================  =================== 
 
     Substantially all of the nonrecurring charges incurred with the Restructuring Plan discussed in note 2 have been 
     recorded in Corporate and other, since the Company does not hold individual segments responsible for these 
     charges.  During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, the Company revised certain of its internal cost allocations to 
     distribute substantially all recurring costs to the business segments.  Accordingly, the prior year's segment 
     information has been restated to conform to the current year presentation. 
 
11.  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
 
     The balance of accumulated other comprehensive loss, which consists of foreign currency translation adjustments and 
     unrealized depreciation, net of reclassification adjustments and income tax benefit, on marketable securities 
     classified as available-for-sale, was $5.3 million and $8.6 million at December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, 
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     respectively.   Total comprehensive income (loss) was $21.0 million and $10.1 million, respectively, for the 
     quarters ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, and $48.8 million and $(46.3) million, respectively, for the nine-month 
     periods ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. 
 
12.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
     Refer to Part II, Item 1 for a description of legal proceedings. 
 
     The Company has entered into synthetic operating leases for computer equipment, furniture and an aircraft ("Leased 
     Assets"), which provide the Company with a more cost-effective way to acquire equipment than alternative financing 
     arrangements.  Lease terms under the computer equipment and furniture facility range from two to six years, with 
     the Company having the option at expiration of the initial lease to return the equipment, purchase the equipment at 
     a fixed price, or extend the term of the lease.  The lease term of the aircraft expires in January 2010, with the 
     Company having the option to purchase the aircraft, renew the lease for an additional twelve months, or return the 
     aircraft to the lessor.  In the event the Company elects to return the Leased Assets, the Company has guaranteed a 
     portion of the residual value to the lessors.  Assuming the Company elects to return the Leased Assets to the 
     lessors at its earliest opportunity under the synthetic lease arrangements and assuming the Leased Assets have no 
     significant residual value to the lessors, the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be 
     required to make under these residual value guarantees was $40.2 million at December 31, 2002. 
 
     The Company has also entered into a real estate synthetic lease arrangement with respect to a facility under 
     construction and a parcel of land.  This synthetic lease arrangement provides the Company with more desirable terms 
     than other alternative construction financing options.  Under the arrangement, the Company has agreed to lease each 
     property for an initial term of five years with an option to renew for an additional two years, subject to certain 
     conditions.  The lessors have committed to fund up to a maximum of $45.8 million for the construction of the Little 
     Rock building and acquisition of the land.  At December 31, 2002, the remaining amount of the commitment available 
     from the lessors was approximately $1.6 million.  At any time during the term of the lease, Acxiom may, at its 
     option, purchase the land and building for a price approximately equal to the amount expended by the lessors.  The 
     Company has guaranteed a residual value at the end of the lease term of 87% of the total land and construction 
     costs, or approximately $40 million.  See note 13 for subsequent event information. 
 
     The Company also has an airplane leased through 2010 from a business partially owned by an officer of the Company. 
     Should the Company elect early termination rights under the lease or not extend the lease beyond the initial term 
     and the lessor sells the aircraft, the Company has guaranteed a residual value of 70% of the then outstanding 
     indebtedness of the lessor, or $4.3 million at December 31, 2002. 
 
     Additionally, the Company has guaranteed all or portions of indebtedness of various third parties, primarily to 
     facilitate favorable financing terms for those third parties.  Should the third parties default on this 
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     indebtedness, the Company would be required to perform under its guarantee.  Substantially all of the third party 
     indebtedness is collateralized by various pieces of real property.  At December 31, 2002, the Company's maximum 
     potential of future payments under these guarantees of third party indebtedness was $5.7 million. 
 
     At both December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, the Company had accrued $0.3 million related to the potential 
     obligations under all of its various guarantees. 
 
13.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
     Effective February 10, 2003, the Company amended and restated its revolving credit facility to allow for revolving 
     borrowings and letters of credit of up to $150 million through July 2006.  The new credit facility has 
     substantially the same pricing, terms and conditions as the previous arrangement.  In conjunction with amending and 
     restating its credit facility, the Company, using available cash and borrowings under the revolving credit 
     facility, repaid the $64.2 million term note due in 2005 (note 7) and paid $45.8 million to terminate the real 
     estate synthetic lease arrangement (note 12).  As a result of terminating this synthetic lease arrangement, the 
     underlying real estate assets of approximately $45.8 million and the related depreciation expense will be recorded 
     in the Company's consolidated financial statements beginning February 2003. 
 
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
Introduction 
 
Acxiom Corporation ("Acxiom", "Registrant" or "the Company") integrates data, services and technology to create and 
deliver customer and information management solutions for many of the largest, most respected companies in the world. 
The core components of Acxiom's innovative solutions are customer data integration ("CDI") technology, data content, 
database services, information technology ("IT") outsourcing, consulting and analytics, and privacy leadership.  Founded 
in 1969, Acxiom is headquartered in Little Rock, Arkansas, with locations throughout the United States, and in the 
United Kingdom ("U.K."), France, Australia and Japan. 



 
Results of Operations 
 
For the quarter ended December 31, 2002, consolidated revenue was $258.0 million, reflecting an increase of $37.4 
million, or 17%, from the previous year.  Adjusting the prior year for divested operations (see note 4 to the condensed 
consolidated financial statements) revenue of $6.0 million, and excluding revenue from current-year acquisitions (see 
note 3 to the condensed consolidated financial statements) of $5.5 million, the increase was $37.9 million or 18%.  The 
increase in revenue for the quarter reflects increases in customer demand for Acxiom products and services and the 
layering effect of recognition of subscription revenue from contracts signed in current and prior quarters as the 
Company provides services or data.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2002, consolidated revenue was $718.8 
million, up $78.0 million, or 12%, from the same period a year ago.  Again, adjusting 2001 for divested operations 
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revenue of $21.9 million, and excluding revenue from current-year acquisitions of $9.0 million, the increase is $90.8 
million or 15%. 
 
The table below shows the Company's revenue by business segment for the quarters and for the nine months ended December 
31, 2002 and 2001 (dollars in millions). 
 
                                     For the quarter ended                         For the nine months ended 
                                          December 31,                                   December 31, 
 
                               2002          2001         % Change            2002           2001          % Change 
                           -----------    -----------    -----------      ------------    -----------     ---------- 
 
Services                    $  192.5        $  162.8        +18%            $  540.8       $  476.8         +13% 
Data and Software 
  Products                      46.1            44.2        +  4               129.4          116.7         +11 
IT Management                   66.0            57.8        +14                179.3          164.0         +  9 
Intercompany eliminations 
                               (46.6)          (44.3)       +  5              (130.7)        (116.7)        +12 
                           -----------    -----------    -----------      ------------    -----------     ---------- 
                             $ 258.0        $  220.5        +17%            $  718.8       $  640.8         +12% 
                           ===========    ===========    ===========      ============    ===========     ========== 
 
The Services segment, the Company's largest segment, provides data warehousing, list processing and consulting services 
to large corporations in a number of vertical industries.  Segment revenue of $192.5 million in the current quarter 
increased $29.7 million (18%) over the prior year.  Excluding divested operations revenues of $6.0 million from the 
prior year's quarter and excluding revenue from current-year acquisitions of $5.0 million, this segment grew $30.7 
million, or 20%, as compared to the same quarter a year ago.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2002, the Services 
segment revenue increased $64.0 million (13%) over the same period a year ago.  Excluding the divested operations 
revenues of $20.9 million from the prior nine-month period and the current-year acquisitions revenue of $8.6 million 
from the current nine-month period, the revenue increase was $76.3 million (17%).  The increase in Services segment 
revenues year over year is generally due to increases in the financial services, retail, automotive, governmental and 
travel and hospitality industries, which reflects increases in customer demand for Acxiom products and services and the 
layering effect of recognition of subscription revenue for contracts signed in current and prior quarters. 
Additionally, the Company continues to see moderate recovery of project-related revenue. 
 
The Data and Software Products segment provides data content and software primarily in support of the Services segment 
customers' activities.  Segment revenue of $46.1 million during the quarter ended December 31, 2002 increased 4% as 
compared to revenues of $44.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2001.  For the nine-month period, Data and 
Software Products segment revenue was $129.4 million, an increase of $12.7 million (11%) over the prior year.  Excluding 
current-year acquisition revenue of $0.5 million from both the quarter and the nine months ended December 31, 2002, the 
increase in segment revenue was 3% for the quarter and 10% for the nine-month period.  The increase in segment revenue 
as compared to the prior year is 
primarily attributable to growth in software products (which includes AbiliTec-enabled services) and new data products 
including reference and analytics products (including Personicx), offset by declines in list products and enhancement 
data. 
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The IT Management segment consists of outsourcing services primarily in the areas of data center, client server and 
network management.  IT Management segment revenue of $66.0 million in the December 31, 2002 quarter reflects an 
increase of $8.2 million, or 14%, over the prior year's December quarter.  IT Management revenue was up $15.3 million, 
or 9%, for the nine-month period to $179.3 million.  IT Management in the prior year-to-date period included $1.0 
million of revenue from Montgomery Wards, which is no longer a customer as discussed in note 2 to the condensed 
consolidated financial statements.  This increase for both the quarter and the nine-month period is primarily 
attributable to extensions of existing contracts and several new outsourcing contracts signed over the last several 
quarters. 
 
Certain revenues, including certain data and software product revenue, are reported both as revenue in the segment which 
owns the customer relationship (generally the Services segment) as well as the Data and Software Products segment which 
owns the product development, maintenance, sales support, etc.   These duplicate revenues are eliminated in 
consolidation.  The intercompany elimination increased 5% for the quarter and 12% for the nine-month period, reflecting 
the increase in data and software product revenue recorded through the Services segment. 
 
The following table presents operating expenses for the quarters and for the nine months ended December 31, 2002 and 
2001 (dollars in millions): 
 
                                         For the quarter ended                       For the nine months ended 
                                              December 31,                                  December 31, 
 
                                  2002           2001          % Change        2002             2001         % Change 
                               -----------    -----------     ----------    -----------    ------------    ----------- 
 
Salaries and benefits          $    80.5      $    74.1        +  9%         $  230.3        $  245.3         -   6% 
Computer, communications and 
    other equipment 
                                    69.1           53.6        +29              195.9           186.9         +   5 
Data costs                          28.7           27.8        +  3              87.5            88.5         -   1 
Other operating costs and 
    expenses                        48.4           39.4        +23              129.1           121.9         +   6 
Gains, losses and 
    non-recurring items, net        (0.5)          (1.1)       - 51              (5.1)           44.3         - 111 
                               -----------    -----------     ----------    -----------    -------------    ----------- 
                                $  226.2       $  193.8        +17%          $  637.7        $  686.9         -   7% 
                               ===========    ===========     ==========    ===========    =============    =========== 
 



Salaries and benefits for the quarter increased 9% from the prior year.  For the nine months, salaries and benefits 
decreased 6%.  Adjusting the nine-month period ended December 31, 2001 for expenses incurred of $12.0 million for 
divested operations and $5.2 million of certain expenses not expected to recur as a result of the restructuring plan 
("Restructuring Plan") discussed in note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements and adjusting the 
nine-month period ended December 31, 2002 by $4.3 million for the current-year acquisitions, salaries and benefits 
decreased $2.0 million (1%).  Adjustments related to divested and acquired operations had no impact on the percentage 
change for the current quarter.  In connection with the Restructuring Plan, certain mandatory and voluntary salary 
reductions were put into place effective April 2001.  The voluntary portion of the salary reduction was reinstated on 
April 1, 2002, one-half of the involuntary portion of the salary reduction was reinstated August 1, 2002, and the 
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remaining portion of the involuntary salary reduction was reinstated on November 1, 2002.  The increase in salaries and 
benefits for the current quarter over the prior year's quarter is primarily attributable to these salary reduction 
reinstatements.  The net impact of reinstatement of the voluntary and involuntary salary reductions is expected to be 
approximately $16 million during fiscal 2003, of which approximately $10 million had been incurred during the nine 
months ended December 31, 2002.  The Company is also continuing to control incremental headcount.  Headcount at December 
31, 2002 of 5,077 compares to 5,242 at December 31, 2001. 
 
Computer, communications and other equipment costs for the quarter ended December 31, 2002 increased $15.5 million or 
29% over the same quarter in the prior year.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2002, computer, communications and 
other equipment costs increased $9.0 million or 5% over the prior year.  The prior year-to-date period included $2.2 
million related to operations that have since been divested and $33.8 million of accelerated depreciation and 
amortization taken during the prior year on other assets that are no longer in service or were otherwise deemed impaired 
and for certain other expenses not expected to recur as a result of the Restructuring Plan.  Excluding these items and 
also excluding $1.1 million expense included in the current year related to current year acquisitions, these costs 
increased $43.8 million (29%) for the year-to-date period.  Adjusting the current and prior-year quarter for divested 
operations and current year acquisitions had no material impact on the current quarter vs. the prior quarter 
fluctuations.  The increase in these costs for the quarter and year-to-date is primarily due to increases in computer 
equipment and software expense related to new revenue including increased amortization of $2.5 million for the quarter 
and $5.2 million year to date for internally developed software (primarily AbiliTec). 
 
Capitalized software, including purchased and internally developed, is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis, or 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset might not be recoverable.  At December 
31, 2002, the Company's most recent impairment analysis of its software indicates that no impairment exists.  However, 
no assurance can be given that future analysis of the Company's capitalized software will not result in an impairment 
charge. 
 
Data costs for the quarter increased 3% as compared to the prior year.  For the nine months, these costs decreased 1%. 
The increase in data costs for the quarter is due to higher Allstate-related data costs.  Allstate data costs are down 
10% for the year-to date period due to lower Allstate volumes, offset by increases in other data costs. 
 
Other operating costs and expenses for the quarter increased $9.1 million or 23% compared to the same quarter a year 
ago.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2002, other operating costs increased 6% as compared to the prior year. 
Adjusting the nine-month period ended December 31, 2001 for $6.4 million of expenses incurred by divested operations and 
$4.0 million of additional depreciation, amortization and other nonrecurring items and adjusting the nine-month period 
ended December 31, 2002 for $4.8 million of expenses incurred for the current-year acquisitions, these costs increased 
$12.8 million (11%) for the current year-to-date period.  These costs increased year over year primarily as a result of 
increased postage and other mailing costs related to project revenues, along with higher costs related to operating 
supplies and travel expenses. 
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Gains, losses and nonrecurring items, net was a gain of $0.5 million for the quarter and a gain of $5.1 million for the 
current nine-month period as a result of the payment received from the Montgomery Wards bankruptcy trustee of $0.5 
million during the current quarter (see note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements), the disposal in the 
first quarter of the remaining assets located in Spain, which consisted primarily of tax loss carryforwards (see note 4 
to the condensed consolidated financial statements), and the reversal in the second quarter of a $4.1 million accrual 
for "over-attainment" incentives that will not be paid by the Company (see note 2 to the condensed consolidated 
financial statements).  Gains, losses and nonrecurring items, net for the nine months ended December 31, 2001 included a 
loss of $45.3 million as a result of the restructuring plan announced on June 25, 2001 ("Restructuring Plan") (see note 
2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements), offset by a gain in the quarter ended December 31, 2001 of $1.1 
million related to divestitures (see note 4 to the condensed consolidated financial statements). 
 
Income from operations for the current quarter was $31.7 million or 12.3% of revenue, compared to $26.7 million or 12.1% 
of revenue a year ago.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2002, income from operations of $81.1 million or 11.3% of 
revenue increased $127.2 million from the loss from operations of $46.1 million or 7.2% of revenue in the prior year. 
 
Interest expense for the quarter of $5.1 million ($15.5 million for the nine-month period) decreased from $7.8 million 
during the same quarter last year ($21.7 million for the prior-year nine-month period), reflecting a combination of 
significantly lower average debt levels this year and lower weighted-average interest rates.  Other, net changed from 
$1.0 million expense in last year's third quarter to $1.1 million income in this year's third quarter.  The prior year 
included $1.1 million of "other than temporary" impairment charges on available-for-sale investments, $2.0 million of 
losses on joint ventures and $1.7 million of interest income on notes receivable.  The current-year income primarily 
includes interest income on notes receivable.  Other, net for the nine months ended December 31, 2002 was income of $2.6 
million, consisting of $3.3 million of interest income on notes receivable, partially offset by equity in losses on 
joint ventures and other items.  The prior year-to-date expense of $3.4 million included $5.6 million of interest 
income, offset by $5.7 million of losses on joint ventures and $1.1 million of "other than temporary" impairment charges. 
 
Earnings before income taxes of $27.7 million for the current quarter increased from $17.9 million the same quarter a 
year ago.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2002, earnings before income taxes of $68.2 million increased $139.4 
million over the prior-period loss of $71.3 million. 
 
The Company's effective tax rate was 29.5% in the current quarter and 33.2% for the current nine-month period, compared 
to 37% for the prior-year quarter and 36.4% in the nine-month period ended December 31, 2001.  The decrease in the tax 
rate for the current quarter and nine-month period primarily reflects an adjustment of $1.8 million, net of Federal tax 
impact, for the utilization of state income tax loss carryforwards in excess of amounts previously considered in the 
Company's estimate of its income tax liabilities.  This was primarily the result of changes in state income 
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apportionment factors.  The Company currently expects its effective tax rate for the remainder of fiscal 2003 to be 
approximately 36% to 38%.  This estimate is based on current tax law and current estimates of earnings. 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share for the current quarter was $0.22 compared to $0.13 a year ago, and $0.51 for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $(0.51) for the same period a year ago.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share 
for the current quarter was $0.20 compared to $0.13 a year ago, and $0.49 for the current nine-month period compared to 
$(0.51) a year ago. 
 



Capital Resources and Liquidity 
 
Working capital at December 31, 2002 totaled $210.3 million compared to $182.6 million at March 31, 2002.  At December 
31, 2002, the Company had credit lines under its revolving credit facility of $175 million.  The Company's 
debt-to-capital ratio, as calculated below, was 35% at December 31, 2002, compared to 44% at March 31, 2002 and 36% at 
September 30, 2002 (dollars in thousands). 
 
                                                  December 31, 2002       September 30, 2002       March 31, 2002 
                                                  ------------------      -------------------    ------------------- 
Numerator - long-term debt                            $ 326,533                 $ 328,647              $ 396,850 
                                                  ------------------      -------------------    ------------------- 
Denominator: 
     Long-term debt                                     326,533                   328,647                396,850 
     Stockholders' equity                               594,890                   576,853                510,931 
                                                  ------------------      -------------------    ------------------- 
                                                      $ 921,423                 $ 905,500              $ 907,781 
                                                  ------------------      -------------------    ------------------- 
Debt-to-capital ratio                                      35%                     36%                    44% 
                                                  ==================      ===================    =================== 
 
The decrease largely relates to the use of cash flow during the current year to pay down debt.  Included in long-term 
debt, for all the dates referenced above, are the Company's 3.75% convertible notes in the amount of $175 million 
("3.75% Notes").  The conversion price for the 3.75% Notes is $18.25 per share.  If the price of the Company's common 
stock increases above the conversion price, the 3.75% Notes may be converted to equity.  Total stockholders' equity has 
increased to $594.9 million at December 31, 2002 from $510.9 million at March 31, 2002, primarily due to the net income 
of $45.5 million reported during the current nine-month period, proceeds of $14.4 million from the sale of common stock, 
and $24.6 million for shares of common stock and warrants issued in connection with an acquisition discussed below. 
These increases were partially offset by the Company's purchase of treasury stock, as discussed below, during the 
quarter ended December 31, 2002. 
 
Cash provided by operating activities was $190.7 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2002, compared to $90.5 
million for the same period in the prior year.   The largest single component in the year-to-year change was net income 
of $45.5 million in the current year as compared to a loss of $45.3 million in the prior year.  Operating cash flow in 
the current period includes a refund of Federal income taxes received in June 2002 in the amount of approximately $40 
million as a result of the utilization of Federal tax loss carrybacks.  This refund of Federal income tax is included in 
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the change in other assets on the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the year-to-date 
period ended December 31, 2002.  The Company has not paid, and does not expect to pay, any significant amount of Federal 
or state income taxes for the year ending March 31, 2003.  The Company expects to be in a position requiring the payment 
of income taxes during fiscal 2004.  Accounts receivable days sales outstanding were 64 days at December 31, 2002 
compared with 63 days at March 31, 2002 and 66 days at December 31, 2001. 
 
Investing activities used $55.1 million for the fiscal year-to-date period ended December 31, 2002, compared to $63.0 
million a year previously.  Investing activities in the current year include capitalized software development costs of 
$26.3 million ($17.2 million in the prior year), capital expenditures of $10.8 million ($11.4 million in the prior year) 
and $11.1 million of cost deferrals ($40.8 million in the prior year).  Capitalized software costs in the current year 
include capitalization of the Company's recently announced new data products, new security products and enhancements to 
Acxiom's customer data integration technology.  Capital expenditures decreased compared to the previous year due to 
measures the Company initiated to control costs, as well as the Company's decision to generally lease equipment which is 
required to support customers to match cash inflows from customer contracts and cash outflows.  Deferral of costs, which 
are primarily salaries and benefits and other direct and incremental third party costs, were higher in the prior year 
due to capitalization of equipment acquired in connection with customer solutions for which the customer has paid at 
inception of the contract.  The Company also defers revenue related to these transactions and amortizes both the 
deferred cost and deferred revenue over the life of the contract.  Investing activities during the current year also 
include advances made to fund certain investments and joint ventures operations of $1.1 million ($7.2 million in the 
prior year), $14.1 million of cash paid (net of cash acquired) for acquisitions in the current year as discussed below, 
and $7.7 million ($6.0 million in the prior year) of cash proceeds during the current year from a sale leaseback 
transaction discussed in note 2 to the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. 
 
Effective November 26, 2002, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Toplander 
Corporation ("Toplander"), a data compiler for online marketing efforts.  Management believes this acquisition will 
enable Acxiom to significantly increase the number of database records used for online marketing efforts and will 
provide additional sources of data collection.  The acquisition price consisted of cash paid to the sellers of $5.6 
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million and contingent consideration that includes up to $2.4 million of additional cash currently in escrow, shares of 
the Company's common stock valued at up to $2.0 million, and warrants to purchase shares of the Company's common stock 
having a value of up to $2.0 million for a total aggregate purchase price, including contingent consideration, of up to 
$12.0 million.  The amount of contingent consideration, if any, payable by the Company to the sellers should be 
determined during the first two quarters of the Company's 2004 fiscal year. 
 
Effective August 12, 2002, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of an employment 
screening business owned by Trans Union, LLC ("Trans Union"), a related party.  This employment screening business was 
incorporated as Acxiom Information Security Systems, Inc. ("AISS") and offers a range of services including criminal and 
civil records search, education and reference verification, and other verification services for its customers. 
Management believes AISS will provide the Company with additional products and services and will support the Company's 
initiatives in the screening, identification and security areas.  The aggregate purchase price of $34.8 million 
consisted of cash of $7.5 million paid at closing, a note of $2.5 million paid in October 2002, additional cash of $0.2 
million paid in October 2002 as a result of purchase price adjustments, 664,562 shares of common stock valued at $10.5 
million and warrants to purchase 1,272,024 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $16.32, valued at $14.1 
million.  If the value of the 664,562 shares of common stock on August 12, 2003 (twelve months after the closing date) 
is less than $10.0 million, the Company will be required to pay additional cash consideration in the amount of the 
deficit, but not more than $5.0 million.  If the value of those shares on August 12, 2003 is greater than $13.0 million, 
Trans Union will be required to return shares of common stock in the amount of the excess, but not more than $5.0 
million worth of common stock (see note 3 to the condensed consolidated financial statements).  Based on the closing 
price of the Company's common stock of $14.85 per share on January 31, 2003, the value of the 664,562 shares of common 
stock was $9.9 million.  Accordingly, had this adjustment to the purchase price been determined as of January 31, 2003, 
the Company would be required to pay Trans Union $0.1 million of additional cash consideration, which would be charged 
to additional paid-in capital. 
 
Effective June 1, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with Publishing & Broadcasting Limited ("PBL") whereby 
Acxiom purchased PBL's 50% ownership interest in an Australian joint venture ("Australian JV") for cash of $0.8 million 
(net of cash acquired) and a note payable of $1.4 million, such that Acxiom now owns 100% of the Australian operation. 
Additionally, the purchase agreement provides that Acxiom may pay PBL additional consideration, based on a percentage of 
the Australian operation's results through March 31, 2007, and also provides PBL the option to repurchase between 25% 



and 49% of the Australian JV subsequent to March 31, 2007, at an option price specified in the purchase agreement.  The 
Australian JV purchase price, together with Acxiom's previously recorded investment in the Australian JV, resulted in an 
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired of $7.0 million (see note 3 to the condensed 
consolidated financial statements). 
 
With respect to certain of its investments, Acxiom has provided cash advances to fund losses and cash flow deficits of 
$1.1 million during the nine months ended December 31, 2002.  Although Acxiom has no commitment to continue to do so, 
the Company may continue to fund such losses and deficits until such time as certain of these investments become 
profitable.  Additionally, Acxiom may, at its discretion, discontinue providing financing to these investments during 
future periods.  In the event that Acxiom ceases to provide funding and these investments have not achieved profitable 
operations, the Company may be required to record an impairment charge up to the amount of the carrying value of its 
investments ($23.7 million at December 31, 2002, before considering the valuation allowance of $3.7 million for 
temporary impairment).  At December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded unrealized losses on certain of its investments 
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the amount of $2.4 million, net of related income tax 
effect.  In the event that declines in the value of its investments continue or do not recover, the Company may be 
required to record "other than temporary" impairments as a charge to earnings. 
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Financing activities in the current year used $75.0 million, a large portion of which relates to net repayments of the 
Company's revolving credit facility and certain other of the Company's credit facilities.  Financing activities in the 
prior year used $40.3 million primarily due to repayments of various credit facilities.  Proceeds from the sale of 
common stock, primarily through stock options and the employee stock purchase plan, were $14.4 million in the current 
year and $8.6 million during the prior year.  Additionally, during the prior year, the Company paid $23.5 million on 
certain equity forward contracts.  During the current quarter, the Company repurchased 357,500 shares of common stock 
for an aggregate purchase price of $5.3 million, of which $3.4 million was paid during the current quarter and $1.9 
million was accrued at December 31, 2002. 
 
The Company has entered into certain synthetic operating lease facilities for computer equipment, furniture and an 
aircraft.  These synthetic operating lease facilities are accounted for as operating leases under generally accepted 
accounting principles and are treated as capital leases for income tax reporting purposes.  These synthetic lease 
arrangements provide the Company with a more cost-effective way to acquire equipment than alternative financing 
arrangements and better match inflows of cash from customer contracts to outflows related to lease payments.  Lease 
terms under the computer equipment and furniture facility range from two to six years, with the Company having the 
option at expiration of the initial term to return, or purchase at a fixed price, or extend or renew the term of the 
leased equipment. 
 
As of December 31, 2002, the total amount drawn under these synthetic operating lease facilities was $183.1 million and 
the remaining capacity for additional funding (for computer equipment and furniture only) was $70.4 million.  The 
Company has made aggregate payments of $109.8 million related to these operating lease facilities through December 31, 
2002. 
 
The Company has also entered into a real estate synthetic lease arrangement with respect to a facility under 
construction in Little Rock, Arkansas and land in Phoenix, Arizona.  This synthetic lease arrangement provided the 
Company with more desirable terms than other alternative construction financing options.  Under the arrangement, the 
Company agreed to lease each property for an initial term of five years with an option to renew for an additional two 
years, subject to certain conditions.  The lessors committed to fund up to a maximum of $45.8 million for the 
construction of the Little Rock building and acquisition of the land at both sites.  At December 31, 2002, the remaining 
amount of the commitment available from the lessors was approximately $1.6 million, which was funded after December 31, 
2002.  The cost of the Little Rock building was approximately $36 million, including interest during construction, and 
the building was completed in December 2002.  Effective February 10, 2003, the Company terminated the synthetic lease 
arrangement by purchasing the land and building from the lessors for approximately $45.8 million.  As a result, the 
underlying real estate assets and the related depreciation expense will be recorded in the Company's consolidated 
financial statements beginning February 2003.  Annual depreciation expense of approximately $1.1 million is expected to 
be more than offset by interest and rent savings resulting from the repayment of the $64.2 million term note due in 
2005, as discussed below, and the termination of the real estate synthetic lease arrangement. 
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The following table presents Acxiom's contractual cash obligations and purchase commitments at December 31, 2002, 
excluding obligations and commitments relating to the real estate synthetic lease arrangement, which was terminated 
after December 31, 2002, as discussed above (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                     For the periods ending March 31, (1) 
                       ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                         2003          2004          2005          2006          2007         Thereafter       Total 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Long-term debt         $  12,061     $  26,939      $ 22,344     $  77,134      $ 13,281       $ 206,795      $ 358,554 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Synthetic airplane 
  lease (2)                 344          1,378         1,378         1,378         1,378           5,167         11,023 
Synthetic equipment 
  and furniture 
  leases (2)              8,961         25,949         8,221         1,529           607             304         45,571 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Total synthetic 
     leases               9,305         27,327         9,599         2,907         1,985           5,471         56,594 
 
Equipment operating 
  leases                  6,089         22,117        16,177         7,406         1,604               -         53,393 
Building operating 
  leases                  2,201          8,500         7,236         5,674         5,503          42,690         71,804 
Partnerships 
  building leases           593          2,386         2,315         2,094         2,094           4,692         14,174 
Related party 
  airplane lease            226            902           902           902           902           2,707          6,541 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Total operating 
  lease payments         18,414         61,232        36,229        18,983        12,088          55,560        202,506 
 
Operating software 
  license obligations     3,230          8,608         8,608         4,305            --              --         24,751 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Total operating 
  lease and software 
  license obligations    21,644         69,840        44,837        23,288        12,088          55,560        227,257 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Total contractual 



  cash obligations     $ 33,705      $  96,779      $ 67,181      $100,422      $ 25,369       $ 262,355      $ 585,811 
                       =========     =========     ==========    ==========    ==========     ===========    =========== 
Purchase commitment 
  on synthetic 
  airplane lease             --             --            --            --            --           4,398          4,398 
Purchase commitments 
  on synthetic 
  equipment and 
  furniture leases        2,991         23,351         5,464         2,637         1,626              --         36,069 
                       ---------     ---------     ----------    ----------    ----------     -----------    ----------- 
Total purchase 
  commitments          $  2,991      $  23,351     $   5,464       $ 2,637     $   1,626      $      4,398     $ 40,467 
                       =========     =========     ==========    ==========    ==========     ===========    =========== 
 
(1)  Contractual cash obligations and purchase commitments for fiscal 2003 represent amounts for the period from 
     January 1, 2003 through March 31, 2003.  All other years represent contractual cash obligations and purchase 
     commitments for the twelve months ending March 31. 
 
(2)  Assumes each synthetic lease is extended to its maximum term. 
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The synthetic lease term for the aircraft expires in January 2010, with the Company having the option at expiration to 
either purchase the aircraft at a fixed price, renew the lease for an additional twelve month period (with a nominal 
purchase price paid at the expiration of the renewal period), or return the aircraft in the condition and manner 
required by the lease.  The purchase commitment on the synthetic airplane lease assumes the lease terminates upon its 
expiration and is not renewed, and the Company elects to purchase the aircraft.  The purchase commitments on the 
synthetic equipment and furniture leases assume the leases are extended to their maximum term, and the Company then 
elects to purchase the assets. 
 
The following table shows certain other contingencies or guarantees under which the Company could be required, in 
certain circumstances, to make cash payments as of December 31, 2002, excluding guarantees relating to the real estate 
synthetic lease arrangement, which was terminated after December 31, 2002, as discussed above (dollars in thousands): 
 
             Residual value guarantee on related party 
                 airplane lease                                               $  4,279 
             Residual value guarantee on the synthetic 
                 computer equipment and furniture lease                         40,198 
             Contingent cash payment on AISS acquisition                         5,000 
             Contingent escrow cash payment on Toplander 
                 acquisition                                                     2,400 
             Guarantees on certain partnerships' 
                 indebtedness and other loans                                    5,671 
             Outstanding letters of credit                                      10,754 
                                                                           =============== 
 
The total of the partnerships' indebtedness and other loans, of which the Company guarantees the portion noted above, is 
$14.1 million. 
 
The related party airplane lease relates to an aircraft leased from a business partially owned by an officer of the 
Company.  The Company has agreed to pay the difference, if any, between the sales price of the aircraft and 70% of the 
related loan balance should the Company elect to exercise its early termination rights or not extend the lease beyond 
its initial term and the lessor sells the equipment as a result. 
 
While the Company does not have any other material contractual commitments for capital expenditures, minimum levels of 
investments in facilities and computer equipment continue to be necessary to support the growth of the business.  It 
should be noted, however, that the Company has spent considerable capital over recent years building the AbiliTec 
infrastructure.  It is the Company's current intention generally to lease any new computer equipment to better match 
cash outflows with customer cash inflows.  In some cases, the Company also licenses software and sells hardware to 
customers. In addition, new outsourcing or facilities management contracts frequently require substantial up-front 
capital expenditures in order to acquire or replace existing assets.  Management believes that the Company's existing 
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available debt and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet its working capital and capital expenditure 
requirements for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Company also evaluates acquisitions from time to time, which may require up-front payments of cash.  Depending on 
the size of the acquisition it may be necessary to raise additional capital.  If additional capital becomes necessary as 
a result of any material variance of operating results from the Company's projections or from potential future 
acquisitions, the Company could use available borrowing capacity under its revolving credit agreement, and/or the 
issuance of other debt or equity securities.  However, no assurance can be given that the Company would be able to 
obtain funding through the issuance of other debt or equity securities at terms favorable to the Company, or that such 
funding would be available. 
 
The Company has never paid cash dividends on its common stock.  It is possible that dividends may be declared in the 
future if the board of directors determines that conditions warrant the payment of dividends.  For the present, however, 
the Company intends to retain its earnings to provide funds for its current operations and for the continued expansion 
of its business.  The Company currently intends to use available cash primarily to pay down debt and repurchase common 
stock.  As discussed in note 13 to the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements, subsequent to December 
31, 2002 the Company amended and restated its revolving credit agreement and, using available cash and borrowings under 
the revolving credit facility, paid off the $64.2 million term note due in 2005 and paid $45.8 million to terminate the 
real estate synthetic lease arrangement.  On November 14, 2002, the Company announced a common stock repurchase 
program.  As of January 31, 2003, the Company had repurchased 1.3 million shares of its common stock for an aggregate 
purchase price of $19.8 million. 
 
Other Information 
 
In accordance with a data center management agreement dated July 27, 1992 between Acxiom and Trans Union, Acxiom 
(through its subsidiary, Acxiom CDC, Inc.) acquired all of Trans Union's interest in its Chicago data center and agreed 
to provide Trans Union with various data center management services.  The current term of the agreement expires in 
August 2005.  In a 1992 letter agreement, Acxiom agreed to use its best efforts to cause one person designated by Trans 
Union to be elected to Acxiom's board of directors.  Trans Union designated its CEO and President, Harry C. Gambill, who 
was appointed to fill a vacancy on the board in November 1992 and was elected at the 1993 annual meeting of stockholders 
to serve a three-year term.  He was elected to serve additional three-year terms at the 1996, 1999 and 2002 annual 
stockholders meetings.  Under a second letter agreement, executed in 1994 in connection with an amendment to the 1992 
agreement, Acxiom agreed to use its best efforts to cause two people designated by Trans Union to be elected to Acxiom's 
board of directors.  While these undertakings by Acxiom are in effect until the end of the current term of the 
agreement, Acxiom has been notified that Trans Union does not presently intend to designate another individual to serve 



as director.  Acxiom and Trans Union amended the data center management agreement on October 1, 2002, expanding its 
scope to encompass Trans Union's client server, network and communication infrastructure.  This amendment runs 
concurrent with the current term of the data center management agreement, which expires in August 2005.  Acxiom recorded 
revenue from Trans Union of approximately $21.5 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2002 and approximately $47.3 
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million for the nine months ended December 31, 2002.  All revenues received from Trans Union have been in accordance 
with the pricing terms established under the agreements. 
 
Effective April 1, 2002, Acxiom and Trans Union entered into a marketing joint venture that will serve as a sales agent 
for both parties for certain existing mutual clients.   The purpose of the joint venture is to provide these joint 
clients with leading-edge solutions that leverage the strengths of both parties.  Expected to serve a small number of 
financial service clients, the joint venture will market substantially all of the products and services currently 
offered by Acxiom and Trans Union, as well as any new products and services that may be agreed upon.  The parties have 
agreed to share equally the aggregate incremental increase (or decrease) in revenue and direct expenses generated from 
any client supported by the joint venture.   If either party determines that its participation in the joint venture is 
economically disadvantageous, it may terminate the arrangement after certain negotiation procedures specified in the 
agreement have occurred.  The results of operations from this joint venture were not material for the quarter or the 
nine months ended December 31, 2002. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In May 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
("SFAS") No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical 
Corrections."  Under the provisions of SFAS No. 145, gains and losses from the early extinguishment of debt are no 
longer classified as an extraordinary item, net of income taxes, but are included in the determination of pretax 
earnings.  The effective date for SFAS No. 145 is for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, with early application 
encouraged.  Upon adoption, the Company will reclassify all gains and losses from the extinguishment of debt previously 
reported as an extraordinary item to earnings (loss) before income taxes. 
 
In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities."  SFAS 
No. 146 addresses accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities by requiring that a 
liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized and measured at fair value only when the 
liability is incurred.  SFAS No. 146 also nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 94-3, "Liability Recognition for 
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a 
Restructuring)."  The provisions of SFAS No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after 
December 31, 2002. 
 
In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure - an 
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123."  SFAS No. 148 provides for alternative methods of transition for a voluntary 
change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.  In addition, it requires more 
prominent disclosures about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method 
used on reported results in both annual and interim financial statements.  The provisions of SFAS No. 148 are effective 
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002, with early application permitted, and for financial reports containing 
condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002. 
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In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 ("FIN 45") "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements 
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others - an Interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 
57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34."  Under the provisions of FIN 45, a guarantor is required to 
recognize, at the inception of the guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the 
guarantee.  A guarantor is also required to make additional disclosures in its financial statements about obligations 
under certain guarantees issued.  FIN 45 will require the Company to recognize a liability in its consolidated financial 
statements equal to the fair value of its guarantees, including any guarantees issued in connection with its synthetic 
equipment arrangements.  However, the provisions of FIN 45 shall be applied only on a prospective basis to guarantees 
issued or modified after December 31, 2002, with the disclosure requirements effective for financial statements of 
interim and annual periods ended after December 15, 2002.  The impact to the Company's consolidated financial statements 
of recording liabilities for the fair value of recurring synthetic equipment and furniture lease guarantee transactions 
is not expected to be material.  The Company will evaluate the impact of any other future guarantee transactions on a 
case-by-case basis. 
 
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 ("FIN 46"), "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities."  Under 
the provisions of FIN 46, the underlying assets, liabilities and results of activities of a large number of variable 
interest entities ("VIE's") would be required to be consolidated into the financial statements of a primary 
beneficiary.  All enterprises with variable interests in VIE's created after January 31, 2003, shall apply the 
provisions of FIN 46 immediately.  Entities with a variable interest in VIE's created before February 1, 2003, shall 
apply the provisions of FIN 46 no later than the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period beginning 
after June 15, 2003.  The Company will be required to apply the provisions of FIN 46 to its consolidated financial 
statements no later than July 1, 2003.  Since the Company has terminated its real estate synthetic lease arrangement, as 
discussed above, management expects no material impact from applying the provisions of FIN 46. 
 
On November 21, 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") reached a final consensus on Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue 
Arrangements with Multiple Elements."   EITF 00-21 provides guidance on (a) how arrangement consideration should be 
measured, (b) whether the arrangement should be divided into separate units of accounting, and (c) how the arrangement 
consideration should be allocated among the separate units of accounting.  EITF 00-21 also requires disclosure of the 
accounting policy for recognition of revenue from multiple-deliverable arrangements and the description and nature of 
such arrangements.  The guidance of EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods 
beginning after June 15, 2003.  Alternatively, EITF 00-21's guidance may be accounted for and reported as a 
cumulative-effect adjustment.  Management has not yet determined the impact on its consolidated financial statements of 
applying the guidance of EITF 00-21 to its multiple element arrangements. 
 
The FASB currently has outstanding in exposure draft format, a proposed SFAS, "Accounting for Financial Instruments with 
Characteristics of Liabilities, Equity or Both."  This exposure draft, in its current form, could have a significant 
impact on the Company's accounting for its convertible debt obligations by requiring some amount of those convertible 
 
                                                                30 
 
debt obligations to be classified as equity.  The issuance of a final SFAS is expected during 2003.  The Company will 
continue to monitor the progress of this exposure draft and its potential impact on the Company's financial position 
and/or results of operations. 
 
Forward-looking Statements 
 
This document and other written reports and oral statements made from time to time by us and our representatives contain 
forward-looking statements.  These statements, which are not statements of historical fact, may contain estimates, 
assumptions, projections and/or expectations regarding our financial position, results of operations, market position, 
product development, growth opportunities, economic conditions, and other similar forecasts and statements of 



expectation.  We generally indicate these statements by words or phrases such as "anticipate," "estimate," "plan," 
"expect," "believe," "intend," "foresee," and similar words or phrases.  These forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance and are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties that could cause our actual 
results and experiences to differ materially from the anticipated results and expectations expressed in such 
forward-looking statements. 
 
The factors and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied 
by, the forward-looking statements include but are not limited to the following: 
 
o        the complexity and uncertainty regarding the development of new high technologies; 
 
o        the possible loss of market share through competition or the acceptance of our technological offerings on a 
         less rapid basis than expected; 
 
o        the possibility that certain contracts may not be closed or close within the anticipated time frames; 
 
o        the possibility that certain contracts may not generate the anticipated revenue or profitability; 
 
o        the possibility that economic or other conditions might lead to a reduction in demand for our products and 
         services; 
 
o        the possibility that the current economic slowdown may worsen and/or persist for an unpredictable period of 
         time; 
 
o        the possibility that economic conditions will not improve as rapidly as expected; 
 
o        the possibility that significant customers may experience extreme, severe economic difficulty; 
 
o        the possibility that the fair value of certain investments of the Company may not be equal to the carrying 
         value of those assets now or in future periods; 
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o        the possibility that sales cycles may lengthen; 
 
o        the continued ability to attract and retain qualified technical and leadership associates and the possible loss 
         of associates to other organizations; 
 
o        the ability to properly motivate our sales force and other associates of the Company; 
 
o        the ability to achieve cost reductions and avoid unanticipated costs; 
 
o        the continued availability of credit upon satisfactory terms and conditions; 
 
o        the introduction of competent, competitive products, technologies or services by other companies; 
 
o        changes in consumer or business information industries and markets; 
 
o        the Company's ability to protect proprietary information and technology or to obtain necessary licenses on 
         commercially reasonable terms; 
 
o        the difficulties encountered when entering new markets or industries; 
 
o        changes in the legislative, accounting, regulatory and consumer environments affecting our business, including 
         but not limited to litigation, legislation, regulations and customs relating to our ability to collect, manage, 
         aggregate and use data; 
 
o        the possibility that data suppliers might withdraw data from us, leading to our inability to provide certain 
         products and services; 
 
o        the effect of short-term contracts on the predictability of the Company's revenues; 
 
o        Customers may cancel or modify their agreements with the Company; 
 
o        the possibility that the amount of ad hoc project work will not be as expected; 
 
o        the potential loss of data center capacity or interruption of telecommunication links or power sources; 
 
o        postal rate increases that could lead to reduced volumes of business; 
 
o        the potential disruption of the services of the United States Postal Service, their global counterparts and 
         other delivery systems; 
 
o        the successful integration of acquired businesses and strategic alliances; 
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o        with respect to the providing of products or services outside our primary base of operations in the United 
         States, all of the above factors and the difficulty of doing business in numerous sovereign jurisdictions due 
         to differences in culture, laws and regulations; and 
 
o        other competitive factors. 
 
In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, we caution readers not to place undue reliance on any 
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements based 
on the occurrence of future events, the receipt of new information or otherwise. 
 
Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
 
Acxiom's earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates primarily as a result of its revolving credit 
agreement and term note, which bear interest at a floating rate.  Acxiom does not use derivative or other financial 
instruments to mitigate the interest rate risk.  Risk can be estimated by measuring the impact of a near-term adverse 
movement of 10% in short-term market interest rates.  If short-term market interest rates average 10% more during the 
next four quarters than during the previous four quarters, there would be no material adverse impact on Acxiom's results 
of operations.  Acxiom has no material future earnings or cash flow expenses from changes in interest rates related to 
its other long-term debt obligations as substantially all of Acxiom's remaining long-term debt instruments have fixed 
rates.  At both December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, the fair value of Acxiom's fixed rate long-term obligations 
approximated carrying value. 
 



Although Acxiom conducts business in foreign countries, principally the United Kingdom, foreign currency translation 
gains and losses are not material to Acxiom's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
Accordingly, Acxiom is not currently subject to material foreign exchange rate risks from the effects that exchange rate 
movements of foreign currencies would have on Acxiom's future costs or on future cash flows it would receive from its 
foreign investment.  To date, Acxiom has not entered into any foreign currency forward exchange contracts or other 
derivative instruments to hedge the effects of adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. 
 
Item 4.  Controls and Procedures 
 
(a)      Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 
 
         As required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, within the 90 days prior to the date of this report, the 
         Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's 
         management, including the Registrant's Company Leader (Chief Executive Officer) and its Company Financial 
         Operations Leader (Chief Financial Officer), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's 
         "disclosure controls and procedures," which are defined under SEC rules as controls and other procedures of a 
         company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that 
         it files under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within required time periods. 
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         Based upon that evaluation, the Registrant's Company Leader and its Company Financial Operations Leader 
         concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective. 
 
(b)      Changes in Internal Controls 
 
         There were no significant changes in the Company's internal controls or other factors that could significantly 
         affect the controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation. 
 
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 1.    Legal Proceedings 
           The Company is involved in various claims and litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of 
           business.  None of these, however, are believed to be material in their nature or scope. 
 
Item 6.    Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
           (a)    The following exhibits are filed with this Report: 
 
                  10(a)  Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 5, 2003 
 
                  99.1   Certification of Company Leader (principal executive officer) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
                         1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
 
                  99.2   Certification of Company Financial Operations Leader (principal financial officer) pursuant to 
                         18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
 
           (b)    Reports on Form 8-K 
 
                  Not applicable 
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                                           ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                                                        SIGNATURE 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 
                                                     Acxiom Corporation 
 
 
 
 
Dated:  February 11, 2003 
                                                     By:      /s/ Jefferson D. Stalnaker 
                                                        ------------------------------------------------ 
                                                              (Signature) 
                                                              Jefferson D. Stalnaker 
                                                              Company Financial Operations Leader 
                                                              (principal financial and accounting officer) 
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                                           ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                                                      CERTIFICATION 
 
I, Charles D. Morgan, certify that: 
 
1.   I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Acxiom Corporation; 
 
2.   Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
     state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
     statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report; 
 
3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, 
     fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
     registrant as of and for the periods presented in this quarterly report; 
 
4.   The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
     controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have: 
 
     a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the 



         registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
         particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
     b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days 
         prior to the filing date of this quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
 
     c)  presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and 
         procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 
 
5.   The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the 
     registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors: 
 
     a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the 
         registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the 
         registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and 
 
     b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
         the registrant's internal controls; and 
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6.   The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether or not there were 
     significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls 
     subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant 
     deficiencies and material weaknesses. 
 
 
Dated:  February 11, 2003 
                                                     By:      /s/ Charles D. Morgan 
                                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                                              (Signature) 
                                                              Charles D. Morgan 
                                                              Company Leader 
                                                              (principal executive officer) 
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                                           ACXIOM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                                                      CERTIFICATION 
 
I, Jefferson D. Stalnaker, certify that: 
 
1.   I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Acxiom Corporation; 
 
2.   Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
     state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
     statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report; 
 
3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, 
     fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
     registrant as of and for the periods presented in this quarterly report; 
 
4.   The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
     controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have: 
 
     a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the 
         registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
         particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
     b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days 
         prior to the filing date of this quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
 
     c)  presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and 
         procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 
 
5.   The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the 
     registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors: 
 
     a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the 
         registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the 
         registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and 
 
     b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
         the registrant's internal controls; and 
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6.   The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this quarterly report whether or not there were 
     significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls 
     subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant 
     deficiencies and material weaknesses. 
 
 
Dated:  February 11, 2003 
                                                     By:      /s/ Jefferson D. Stalnaker 
                                                        -------------------------------------------- 
                                                              (Signature) 
                                                              Jefferson D. Stalnaker 
                                                              Company Financial Operations Leader 
                                                              (principal financial and accounting officer) 
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                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
         This SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") dated as of February 5, 2003, is among ACXIOM 
CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation, the LENDERS party hereto, JPMORGAN CHASE BANK (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank who was 
successor in interest by merger to Chase Bank of Texas, National Association), as the agent (the "Agent"), U.S. Bank National 
Association (formerly Firstar Bank, N.A., who was formerly Mercantile Bank, N.A.), as documentation agent, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as 
syndication agent and the other entities party hereto. 
 
                                                               RECITALS: 
 
         A.       The Borrower, the lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as the administrative agent, U.S. Bank National 
Association, as documentation agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as syndication agent, entered into that certain Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement dated as of January 28, 2002, (as such agreement was amended and otherwise modified from time to time, the "Prior 
Agreement"). The Prior Agreement amended and restated that certain Credit Agreement dated as of December 29, 1999 among the 



Borrower, the lenders party thereto, Chase Bank of Texas, National Association (now JPMorgan Chase Bank), as the agent and as a 
co-administrative agent and Mercantile Bank, N.A. (now U.S. Bank National Association), as a co-administrative agent, and Bank of 
America, N.A., as syndication agent (as such agreement was amended and otherwise modified from time to time, the "Original 
Agreement"). 
 
         B.       On March 25, 2002, two of the Borrower's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Acxiom NJA, Inc. and Acxiom RTC, Inc., merged 
into the Borrower with the Borrower being the surviving entity.  In July 2002, the Borrower formed a new wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Acxiom Employment Screening Services, Inc. (now Acxiom Information Security Services, Inc.), who joined the Subsidiary Guaranty on 
July 31, 2002.  Acxiom SDC, Inc. has notified the Agent that it will change its name to Acxiom e-Products, Inc. 
 
         C.       The parties hereto now desire to amend and restate the Prior Agreement to, among other things:  (i) reduce the 
commitments of the lenders under the Prior Agreement; (ii) terminate the commitment of The Bank of Nova Scotia under the Prior 
Agreement and remove it as a lender; (iii) extend the maturity of the credit facility, and (iv) modify the negative and financial 
covenants of the Prior Agreement as herein set forth. 
 
         Now therefore, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as 
follows: 
 
                                                                ARTICLE I. 
 
                                                              Definitions 
 
SECTION 1.01.     Defined Terms.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below: 
 
         "ABR", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such 
Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate. 
 
         "Accumulated Asset Value" has the meaning specified in Section 6.05. 
 
         "Acquiring Company" has the meaning specified in Section 6.04. 
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         "Adjusted EBITDAR" has the meaning specified in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Adjusted LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum 
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the 
Statutory Reserve Rate. 
 
         "Administrative Questionnaire" means an administrative questionnaire in a form supplied by the Agent. 
 
         "Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified. 
 
         "Agent" means JPMorgan as agent for the Lenders hereunder. 
 
         "Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such 
day, (b) the Base CD Rate in effect on such day plus 1% and (c) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2 of 
1%.  Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the Base CD Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate 
shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate, the Base CD Rate or the Federal Funds 
Effective Rate, respectively. 
 
         "Applicable Percentage" means, at any time and with respect to any Lender, the percentage of the total Revolving 
Commitments represented by such Lender's Revolving Commitment at such time.  If the Revolving Commitments have terminated or 
expired, the Applicable Percentages shall be determined based upon the Revolving Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect 
to any assignments. 
 
         "Applicable Rate" means, for any day (a) with respect to any ABR Loan or Eurodollar Loan or with respect to the commitment 
fees payable hereunder, as the case may be, the applicable rate per annum set forth below under the caption "ABR Spread", 
"Eurodollar Spread" or "Commitment Fee Rate", as the case may be, opposite the category in the table below which corresponds with 
the actual Leverage Ratio as of the most recent determination date; provided that from and including the Effective Date until the 
first date that the Applicable Rate is determined as set forth below in this definition, the "Applicable Rate" shall be the 
applicable rate per annum set forth below in Category 2: 
 
         ================================================================================================= 
                                                                                    Commitment 
                Leverage Ratio         ABR Spread     Eurodollar Spread              Fee Rate 
         ================================================================================================= 
                  Category 1              0.00%             1.25%                     0.300% 
                <1.50 to 1.00 
         ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                  Category 2              0.00%             1.50%                     0.300% 
                > 1.50 to 1.00 
                     but 
                < 2.00 to 1.00 
         ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                  Category 3 
                > 2.00 to 1.00 
                     but 
                < 2.50 to 1.00            0.25%             1.75%                     0.375% 
         ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                  Category 4              0.50%             2.00%                     0.500% 
                > 2.50 to 1.00 
         ================================================================================================= 
 
         For purposes of the foregoing, (i) the Leverage Ratio shall be determined as of the end of each fiscal quarter of the 
Borrower's fiscal year based upon the Borrower's consolidated financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b), 
beginning with the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2003 and (ii) each change in the Applicable Rate resulting from a change in the 
Leverage Ratio shall be effective during the period commencing on and including the date of delivery to the Agent of such 
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consolidated financial statements indicating such change and ending on the date immediately preceding the effective date of the next 
such change; provided that the Leverage Ratio shall be deemed to be in Category 4 (A) at any time that an Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing or (B) at the option of the Agent or at the request of the Required Lenders, if the Borrower fails to 
deliver the consolidated financial statements required to be delivered by it pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b), during the period 
from the expiration of the time for delivery thereof until such consolidated financial statements are delivered. 
 
         "Approved Fund" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 10.04. 



 
         "Assessment Rate" means, for any day, the annual assessment rate in effect on such day that is payable by a member of the 
Bank Insurance Fund classified as "well-capitalized" and within supervisory subgroup "B" (or a comparable successor risk 
classification) within the meaning of 12 C.F.R. Part 327 (or any successor provision) to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
for insurance by such Corporation of time deposits made in dollars at the offices of such member in the United States; provided that 
if, as a result of any change in any law, rule or regulation, it is no longer possible to determine the Assessment Rate as 
aforesaid, then the Assessment Rate shall be such annual rate as shall be determined by the Agent to be representative of the cost 
of such insurance to the Lenders. 
 
         "Asset Value" has the meaning specified in Section 7.04. 
 
         "Assignment and Assumption" means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent 
of any party whose consent is required by Section 10.04), and accepted by the Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form 
approved by the Agent. 
 
         "Base CD Rate" means the sum of (a) the Three-Month Secondary CD Rate multiplied by the Statutory Reserve Rate plus (b) the 
Assessment Rate. 
 
         "Board" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America. 
 
         "Borrower" means Acxiom Corporation, a Delaware corporation. 
 
         "Borrowing" means Loans of the same Class and Type, made, converted or continued on the same date and, in the case of 
Eurodollar Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect. 
 
         "Borrowing Request" means a request by the Borrower for a Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.03. 
 
         "Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York, New York, 
Houston, Texas, or Dallas, Texas are authorized or required by law to remain closed; provided that, when used in connection with a 
Eurodollar Loan, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in 
the London interbank market. 
 
         "Capital Expenditures" means, for any period: (a) the software development costs, (b) the capitalization of deferred 
expenses and (c) the capital expenditures of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, in each case of clause (a), (b) and (c),
as set forth (or as should be set forth) in the investing activities section of the consolidated statement of cash flow of the 
Borrower for such period prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
 
         "Capital Lease Obligations" of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease 
of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are 
required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of such 
obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP. 
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         "Change in Control" means (a) the acquisition of ownership, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, by any 
Person or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission thereunder as in effect on the date hereof) of Equity Interests representing more than 30% of either the 
aggregate ordinary voting power or the aggregate equity value represented by the issued and outstanding Equity Interests in 
Borrower; or (b) the acquisition of direct or indirect Control of the Borrower by any Person or group; or (c) any "Change of 
Control" as defined in the Subordinated Debt Documents. 
 
         "Change in Law" means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in 
any law, rule or regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this 
Agreement or (c) compliance by any Lender or the Issuing Bank (or, for purposes of Section 2.14(b), by any lending office of such 
Lender or by such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not 
having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement. 
 
         "Class", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such 
Borrowing, are Revolving Loans or Swingline Loans. 
 
         "Creditors" has the meaning set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement. 
 
         "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. 
 
         "Collateral" means the Mortgaged Property, the "Collateral" as defined in the Security Agreement and any and all property 
in which Liens have been granted to the Collateral Agent to secure the indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of the Borrower and 
the Guarantors under the Loan Documents. 
 
         "Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan, as collateral agent under the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, its successors and 
assigns. 
 
         "Consolidated Net Income" has the meaning specified in Section 7.01. 
 
         "Consolidated Tangible Net Worth " has the meaning specified in Section 7.01. 
 
         "Consolidated Total Assets" means, with respect to any Person and at any time, all amounts which in conformity with GAAP 
would be included as assets on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person. 
 
         "Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or 
policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise.  "Controlling" and "Controlled"
have meanings correlative thereto. 
 
         "Conway Facility" means the Borrower's real property, improvements and fixtures located at the Borrower's facility at 301 
Industrial Boulevard, Conway, Arkansas  72032, which includes the Mortgaged Property described in item 2 on Schedule 1.01 and the 
office buildings OB 4 and ASB 1 excluded from such Mortgaged Property. 
 
         "Covenant Change Notice" means a notice in substantially the form of Exhibit E hereto, duly completed and executed by one of
the Borrower's Financial Officers. 
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         "Current Maturity Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.08(b). 
 
         "Default" means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice, lapse of time or both 
would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default. 
 
         "Disclosed Matters" means all the matters disclosed in the Borrower's reports to the securities and Exchange Commission on 
form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002 and on form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002. 
 



         "Dispositions" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05. 
 
         "Dollar Amount" means, as of any date of determination, (a) in the case of any amount denominated in dollars, such amount, 
and (b) in the case of any amount denominated in other currency, the amount of dollars which is equivalent to such amount of other 
currency as of such date, determined by using the Spot Rate on the date two (2) Business Days prior to such date. 
 
         "dollars" or "$" refers to lawful money of the United States of America. 
 
         "Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of the United States of America, any state 
thereof or the District of Columbia. 
 
         "EBITDAR" has the meaning specified in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Effective Date" means the date on which the conditions specified in Section 4.01(a) through (i) are satisfied (or waived 
in accordance with Section 10.02). 
 
         "Environmental Laws" means all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments, injunctions, 
notices or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into by any Governmental Authority, relating in any way to the 
environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the management, release or threatened release of any Hazardous 
Material or to health and safety matters. 
 
         "Environmental Liability" means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of 
environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of the Borrower or any Subsidiary directly or indirectly resulting from 
or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or 
disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous 
Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed 
or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing. 
 
         "Equity Interests" means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability 
company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in a Person and any option, warrant or other right 
relating thereto.  The term "Equity Interest" shall not include any Indebtedness convertible into shares of capital stock, 
partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity 
ownership interests in a Person (including the Subordinated Debt) but shall include the shares of capital stock, partnership 
interests, membership interests in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests 
issued upon the actual conversion of such Indebtedness. 
 
         "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time. 
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         "ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with the Borrower, is treated as 
a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the 
Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code. 
 
         "ERISA Event" means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder 
with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) the existence with respect to any 
Plan of an "accumulated funding deficiency" (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; 
(c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(d) of the Code or Section 303(d) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum 
funding standard with respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under 
Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC 
or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer 
any Plan; (f) the incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or 
partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (g) the receipt by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or 
the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of 
Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent or in reorganization, within 
the meaning of Title IV of ERISA. 
 
         "Eurodollar", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such 
Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate. 
 
         "Event of Default" has the meaning specified in Article VIII. 
 
         "Excluded Subsidiary" means any Foreign Subsidiary and any other Subsidiary who is not a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty. 
 
         "Excluded Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Amount" has the meaning specified in Section 6.01(a)(iii). 
 
         "Excluded Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Limit" has the meaning specified in Section 6.01(a)(iii). 
 
         "Excluded Taxes" means, with respect to the Agent, any Lender, the Issuing Bank or any other recipient of any payment to be 
made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, (a) income or franchise taxes imposed on (or measured by) its net 
income  by the United States of America, or by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its 
principal office is located or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located, (b) any branch profits 
taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located 
and (c) in the case of a Foreign Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under Section 2.18(b)), any 
withholding tax that is imposed on amounts payable to such Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party to this 
Agreement (or designates a new lending office) or is attributable to such Foreign Lender's failure to comply with Section 2.16(e), 
except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending 
office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to such withholding tax pursuant to 
Section 2.16(a). 
 
         "Exiting Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.20. 
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         "Extension Request" has the meaning specified in Section 2.08(b). 
 
         "Federal Funds Effective Rate" means (i) for the first day of an ABR Borrowing or Swingline Loan, the rate per annum which 
is the average of the rates on the offered side of the Federal funds market quoted by three interbank Federal funds brokers, 
selected by the Agent, at approximately the time the Borrower requests such Borrowing or Swingline Loan, for dollar deposits in 
immediately available funds, for a period and in an amount, comparable to the principal amount of such ABR Borrowing or Swingline 
Loan, as the case may be, and (ii) for each day of such ABR Borrowing or Swingline Loan thereafter, or for any other amount 
hereunder which bears interest at the Alternative Base Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate, the rate per annum which is the 
average of the rates on the offered side of the Federal funds market quoted by three interbank Federal funds brokers, selected by 
the Agent, at approximately 2:00 p.m. New York City time on such day for dollar deposits in immediately available funds, for a 
period and in an amount, comparable to the principal amount of such ABR Borrowing, Swingline Loan or other amount, as the case may 
be; in the case of both clauses (i) and (ii), as determined by the Agent and rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100 of 
1%. 
 
         "Financial Officer" means the chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller of the 



Borrower or another authorized officer or employee of the Borrower approved by the Agent and having similar functions. 
 
         "Fixed Charges" has the meaning specified in Section 7.03. 
 
         "Foreign Lender" means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower 
is located.  For purposes of this definition, the United States of America, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be 
deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction. 
 
         "Foreign Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States 
of America, any State thereof or the District of Columbia. 
 
         "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. 
 
         "Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States of America, any other nation or any political 
subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or 
other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining 
to government. 
 
         "Guarantee" of or by any Person (the "guarantor") means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor 
guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness, or other obligation (including any obligations under an 
operating lease) of such Person or any other Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and 
including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase 
or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security 
for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such 
Indebtedness or other obligation (including the lessor under an operating lease) of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working 
capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary 
obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of 
guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or obligation; provided, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for 
collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business. 
 
         "Guarantor" means Acxiom Asia, Ltd., Acxiom CDC, Inc., Acxiom / Direct Media, Inc., Acxiom / May & Speh, Inc., Acxiom 
Property Development, Inc., Acxiom / Pyramid Information Systems, Inc., Acxiom RM-Tools, Inc., Acxiom SDC, Inc. (who will change its 
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name to Acxiom e-Products, Inc. after the Effective Date), Acxiom Transportation Services, Inc., GIS Information System, Inc., 
Acxiom UWS, Ltd., Acxiom Information Security Services, Inc., Acxiom Interim Holdings, Inc. and each other Domestic Subsidiary who 
becomes a guarantor under the Subsidiary Guaranty in accordance with Section 5.11. 
 
         "Hazardous Materials" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes 
or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated 
biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any 
Environmental Law. 
 
         "Hedging Agreement" means any interest rate protection agreement, foreign currency exchange agreement, commodity price 
protection agreement, security hedging agreement, other interest, currency or security exchange rate or commodity price hedging 
arrangement, any Synthetic Purchase Agreement or any other derivative instrument. 
 
         "Increased Commitment Supplement" has the meaning specified in Section 2.19. 
 
         "Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money or with 
respect to deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar 
instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person upon which interest charges are customarily paid, (d) all obligations of such Person 
under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person, (e) all obligations of such 
Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts payable incurred in the 
ordinary course of business), (f) all obligations of others secured by (or for which the holder of such obligations has an existing 
right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the 
obligations secured thereby have been assumed (provided that for purposes of this clause (f) the amount of any such Indebtedness 
shall be deemed not to exceed the higher of the market value or the book value of such assets), (g) all Guarantees by such Person of 
obligations of others (including Guarantees of operating leases), (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (i) all 
obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, 
(j) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances, (k) indebtedness in respect of 
mandatory redemption or mandatory dividend rights on Equity Interests but excluding dividends payable solely in additional Equity 
Interests, (l) all obligations of such Person, contingent or otherwise, for the payment of money under any noncompete, consulting or 
similar agreement entered into with the seller of a Target or any other similar arrangements providing for the deferred payment of 
the purchase price for an acquisition permitted hereby or an acquisition consummated prior to the date hereof, (m) all obligations 
of such Person under any Hedging Agreement, (n) all obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any Synthetic 
Lease, and (o) all other amounts (other than accruals, deferred revenue and deferred taxes) which are required by GAAP to be 
included as liabilities on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person.  The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the 
Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person is 
liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the 
terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.  The amount of the obligations of the Borrower or any 
Subsidiary in respect of any Hedging Agreement shall, at any time of determination and for all purposes under this Agreement, be the 
maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that the Borrower or such Subsidiary would be required to pay if 
such Hedging Agreement were terminated at such time giving effect to current market conditions notwithstanding any contrary 
treatment in accordance with GAAP.  The deferred purchase price of property or services to be paid through earnings of the purchaser 
to the extent such amount is not characterized as liabilities in accordance with GAAP shall not be Indebtedness. 
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         "Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes. 
 
         "Intercreditor Agreement" means that certain Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement dated as of February 5, 2003 
among the Borrower, the Guarantors, the Collateral Agent, and the Agent, in substantially the same form as Exhibit D hereto. 
 
         "Interest Election Request" means a request by the Borrower to convert or continue a Borrowing in accordance with 
Section 2.07. 
 
         "Interest Payment Date" means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, the last day of each March, June, September and December 
commencing the first such date after the Effective Date, (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, the last day of the Interest 
Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing with an Interest Period 
of more than three months' duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three 
months' duration after the first day of such Interest Period, and (c) with respect to any Swingline Loan, the day that such Loan is 
required to be repaid. 
 
         "Interest Period" means with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and 
ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is one, two, three or six months thereafter, as the Borrower 
may elect; provided, that (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be 
extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in 



which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day and (ii) any Interest Period that commences on the last 
Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such 
Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period.  For purposes hereof, the 
date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the effective date of the 
most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing. 
 
         "Issuing Bank" means JPMorgan, in its capacity as the issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, and its successors in such 
capacity as provided in Section 2.05(i).  The Issuing Bank may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more Letters of Credit to be 
issued by Affiliates of the Issuing Bank, in which case the term "Issuing Bank" shall include any such Affiliate with respect to 
Letters of Credit issued by such Affiliate. 
 
         "JPMorgan" means JPMorgan Chase Bank who was formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank who was the successor in interest by merger 
to Chase Bank of Texas, National Association. 
 
         "LC Disbursement" means a payment made by the Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit. 
 
         "LC Exposure" means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit at such 
time plus (b) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the Borrower at such 
time.  The LC Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be its Applicable Percentage of the total LC Exposure at such time. 
 
         "Lenders" means the Persons listed on Schedule 2.01 and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to 
an Assignment and Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption. 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "Lenders" includes the Swingline Lender. 
 
         "Letter of Credit" means any letter of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement or issued pursuant to the Prior Agreement 
and outstanding on the Effective Date. 
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         "Leverage Ratio" means, on any date, the ratio of Total Indebtedness to Adjusted EBITDAR then most recently calculated in 
accordance with Section 7.02. 
 
         "LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, the rate appearing on Page 3750 of the 
Telerate Service (or on any successor or substitute page of such Service, or any successor to or substitute for such Service, 
providing rate quotations comparable to those currently provided on such page of such Service, as determined by the Agent from time 
to time for purposes of providing quotations of interest rates applicable to dollar deposits in the London interbank market) at 
approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, as the rate for dollar 
deposits with a maturity comparable to such Interest Period.  In the event that such rate is not available at such time for any 
reason, then the "LIBO Rate" with respect to such Eurodollar Borrowing for such Interest Period shall be the rate at which dollar 
deposits of $5,000,000 and for a maturity comparable to such Interest Period are offered by the principal London office of JPMorgan 
(or its successor) in immediately available funds in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two 
Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period. 
 
         "Lien" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge 
or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital 
lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) 
relating to such asset and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect 
to such securities. 
 
         "Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Original Agreement, the Prior Agreement, the Subsidiary Guaranty, the Security 
Agreement, the Mortgages, the Intercreditor Agreement, the Original Intercreditor Agreement, and all other certificates, agreements 
and other documents or instruments now or hereafter executed and/or delivered pursuant to or in connection with the foregoing. 
 
         "Loans" means the loans made by the Lenders to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement and any loan made by the lenders 
under the Prior Agreement which are outstanding on the Effective Date. 
 
         "Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, operations or financial condition of 
the Borrower and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of the Borrower or any Guarantor to perform any of its 
obligations under any Loan Document or (c) the validity, enforceability or collectibility of the Loans or LC Disbursements or the 
ability of the Agent and the Lenders to enforce a material provision of any Loan Document. 
 
         "Material Indebtedness" means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and Letters of Credit) of any one or more of, the Borrower 
and the Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount exceeding a Dollar Amount equal to $5,000,000.  The term "Material 
Indebtedness" includes the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility and the Subordinated Debt. 
 
         "Maturity Date" means July 5, 2006, or such later date as may be requested by the Borrower and approved by the Lenders in 
accordance with Section 2.08(b). 
 
         "Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. 
 
         "Mortgage" means any mortgage, deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents, leasehold mortgage or other security document 
granting a Lien to the Collateral Agent on any Mortgaged Property to secure the obligations described in the Intercreditor 
Agreement.  Each Mortgage shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Agent. 
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         "Mortgaged Property" means, initially, each parcel of real property and the improvements thereto owned by Borrower and 
identified on Schedule 1.01, and includes each other parcel of real property and improvements thereto with respect to which a 
Mortgage is granted pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement. 
 
         "Multiemployer Plan" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA. 
 
         "Net Proceeds" means, with respect to any event (a) the cash proceeds received in respect of such event including any cash 
received in respect of any non-cash proceeds, but only as and when received, net of (b) the sum of (i) all reasonable fees and 
out-of-pocket expenses paid by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries to third parties (other than Affiliates) in connection with such 
event, including any sales commissions, investment banking fees, or underwriting discounts, (ii) in the case of a sale, transfer or 
other disposition of an asset (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback transaction or a casualty or a condemnation or similar 
proceeding), the amount of all payments required to be made by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as a result of such event to repay 
Indebtedness (other than Loans and other than the other Indebtedness entitled to the benefits of the Intercreditor Agreement) 
secured by such asset or otherwise subject to mandatory prepayment as a result of such event, and (iii) the amount of all taxes paid 
(or reasonably estimated to be payable) by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, and the amount of any reserves established by the 
Borrower and the Subsidiaries to fund contingent liabilities reasonably estimated to be payable, in the case of (A) taxes during the 
year that such event occurred or the next succeeding year and that are directly attributable to such event (as determined reasonably 
and in good faith by the chief financial officer of the Borrower) and (B) in the case of reserves for contingent liabilities, during 
the period of any contractual indemnification obligation or statute of limitation imposed upon the Borrower or any of its 
Subsidiaries. 
 
         "New Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.19. 
 



         "Original Agreement" has the meaning specified in the Recitals hereto. 
 
         "Original Intercreditor Agreement" means that certain Intercreditor Agreement dated as of September 21, 2001 among the 
Borrower, the Guarantors, the Collateral Agent, the Agent, Bank of America as agent for the Synthetic Lenders (as defined therein) 
and Holders (as defined therein), JPMorgan as the holder of the Term Loan (as defined therein), and JPMorgan as the issuer of a 
letter of credit securing the Senior Notes (as defined therein). 
 
         "Other Taxes" means any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges 
or similar levies arising from any payment made under any Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or 
otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document. 
 
         "Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.04. 
         "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor entity performing 
similar functions. 
 
         "Permitted Encumbrances" means: 
 
                  (a)      Liens imposed by law for taxes that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with 
         Section 5.04; 
 
                  (b)      carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's and other like Liens imposed by 
         law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than 120 days 
         and are not being enforced or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.04; 
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                  (c)      pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with workers' 
         compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security laws or regulations; 
 
                  (d)      deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety 
         and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of 
         business; 
 
                  (e)      judgment liens in respect of judgments that do not constitute an Event of Default under clause (k) 
         of Article VIII; 
 
                  (f)      easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way and similar encumbrances on real property imposed by 
         law or arising in the ordinary course of business that do not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially 
         detract from the value of the affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Borrower 
         or any Subsidiary; 
 
                  (g)      Liens arising from filing UCC financing statements regarding leases permitted by this Agreement; 
 
                  (h)      leases or subleases of equipment to customers in the ordinary course of business; 
 
                  (i)      leases or subleases entered into by Borrower or a Subsidiary in good faith with respect to its 
         property not used in its business and which do not materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary; and 
 
                  (j)      Liens incurred by Borrower with the consent of the Required Lenders; 
 
provided that the term "Permitted Encumbrances" shall not include any Lien described in clauses (a) through (h) above that secures 
Indebtedness for borrowed money. 
 
         "Permitted Investments" means: 
 
                  (a)      direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally 
         guaranteed by, the United States of America (or by any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by 
         the full faith and credit of the United States of America), in each case maturing within one year from the date of 
         acquisition thereof; 
 
                  (b)      investments in commercial paper maturing within 270 days from the date of acquisition thereof and 
         having, at such date of acquisition, a rating of A-2 or better by S&P or P-2 or better by Moody's; 
 
                  (c)      investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and time deposits maturing within 180 
         days from the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts 
         issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of 
         America or any State thereof which has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than 
         $500,000,000; 
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                  (d)      fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for securities 
         described in clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in 
         clause (c) above; 
 
                  (e)      investments in corporate debt securities maturing within 60 days from the date of acquisition 
         thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, a rating of BBB or better by S&P or Baa2 or better by Moody's; 
 
                  (f)      investments in municipal securities having, at the date of acquisition thereof, a rating of AA or 
         better by S&P or Aa or better by Moody's, provided that the Borrower has the right to put such securities back to 
         the issuer or seller thereof at least once every 60 days; and 
 
                  (g)      investments in money market funds that (i) comply with the criteria set forth in Securities and 
         Exchange Commission Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, (ii) are rated AA by S&P and Aaa by Moody's 
         and (iii) have portfolio assets of at least $5,000,000,000. 
 
         "Person" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, 
partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity. 
 
         "Plan" means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of 
ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if 
such plan were terminated, would under Section 4069 of ERISA be deemed to be) an "employer" as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA. 
 
         "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan (or its successor) as 
its prime rate in effect at its office in Houston, Texas; each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the 
date such change is publicly announced as being effective. 
 
         "Prior Agreement" has the meaning specified in the Recitals hereto. 



 
         "Prior Assets" has the meaning specified in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Prior Company" has the meaning specified in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Prior Target" has the meaning specified in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Purchase Price" means, as of any date of determination and with respect to a proposed acquisition, the purchase price to 
be paid for the Target or its assets, including all cash consideration paid (whether classified as purchase price, noncompete or 
consulting payments or otherwise), the value of all other assets to be transferred by the purchaser in connection with such 
acquisition to the seller (including any stock issued to the seller) all valued in accordance with the applicable purchase agreement 
and the outstanding principal amount of all Indebtedness of the Target or the seller assumed or acquired in connection with such 
acquisition. 
 
         "Register" has the meaning specified in Section 10.04. 
 
         "Rejecting Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.08(b). 
 
         "Related Parties" means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person's Affiliates and the respective directors, 
officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such Person's Affiliates. 
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         "Required Lenders" means, at any time, Lenders having Revolving Exposures and unused Revolving Commitments representing 51% 
of the sum of the total Revolving Exposures and unused Revolving Commitments at such time. 
 
         "Restricted Payment" means: (i) any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with 
respect to any Equity Interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), 
including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or 
termination of any Equity Interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary (including any dividend, other distribution or other payment 
in respect of Equity Interests under a Synthetic Purchase Agreement) and (ii) any payment or other distribution (whether in cash 
securities or other property) of or in respect of principal of or interest on any Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or 
any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on 
account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Indebtedness. 
 
         "Revolving Availability Period" means the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the earlier of the 
Maturity Date and the date of termination of the Revolving Commitments in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
         "Revolving Commitment" means, with respect to each Lender, the commitment, if any, of such Lender to make Revolving Loans 
and to acquire participations in Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans hereunder, expressed as an amount representing the maximum 
aggregate amount of such Lender's Revolving Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to 
Section 2.08, (b) increased from time to time pursuant to Section 2.19, and (c) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to 
assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 10.04.  As of the Effective Date, (i) the amount of each Lender's Revolving 
Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01 and (ii) the aggregate amount of the Lenders' Revolving Commitments is $150,000,000. 
 
         "Revolving Exposure" means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the sum of the outstanding principal amount of such 
Lender's Revolving Loans and its LC Exposure and Swingline Exposure at such time. 
 
         "Revolving Lender" means a Lender with a Revolving Commitment or, if the Revolving Commitments have terminated or expired, 
a Lender with Revolving Exposure. 
 
         "Revolving Loan" means advances made pursuant to Section 2.01 and advances made pursuant to Section 2.01 of the Prior 
Agreement which are outstanding on the Effective Date. 
 
         "S&P" means Standard & Poor's. 
 
         "Security Agreement" means the Security Agreement dated as of September 21, 2001 executed by Borrower, the Guarantors and 
the Collateral Agent pursuant to the terms of the Original Intercreditor Agreement. 
 
         "Senior Debt" has the meaning specified in Section 7.04. 
 
         "Significant Subsidiary" means, at any date of determination, any Subsidiary (i) whose Consolidated Total Assets equals or 
exceeds five percent (5%) of the Consolidated Total Assets of the Borrower, or (ii) whose Consolidated Net Income for the most 
recently completed four fiscal quarters equals or exceeds five percent (5%) of the Borrower's Consolidated Net Income for such 
period.  In calculating Consolidated Net Income under the foregoing clause for a four fiscal quarter period, if the Borrower or a 
Subsidiary acquires the assets of a Target either directly or through a merger, the Consolidated Net Income of the Target for such 
four fiscal quarter period attributable to the time prior to the acquisition shall be added to the Consolidated Net Income of the 
Borrower or such Subsidiary, as applicable. 
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         "Spot Rate" means, with respect to any day, the rate determined on such date on the basis of the offered exchange rates, as 
reflected in the foreign currency exchange rate display of Telerate System, Incorporated at or about 10:00 a.m. (Dallas, Texas 
time), to purchase dollars with the other applicable currency, provided that, if at least two such offered rates appear on such 
display, the rate shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered rates and, if no such offered rates are so displayed, the Spot Rate 
shall be determined by the Agent on the basis of the arithmetic mean of such offered rates as determined by the Agent in accordance 
with its normal practice. 
 
         "SPV Finance Documents" has the meaning specified in Section 4.01(i). 
 
         "Statutory Reserve Rate" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the 
denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, 
emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal established by the Board to which the Agent is subject (a) with respect 
to the Base CD Rate, for new negotiable nonpersonal time deposits in dollars of over $100,000 with maturities approximately equal to 
three months and (b) with respect to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, for eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency 
Liabilities" in Regulation D of the Board).  Such reserve percentages shall include those imposed pursuant to such Regulation D. 
Eurodollar Loans shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit 
of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under such Regulation D or 
any comparable regulation.  The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change 
in any reserve percentage. 
 
         "Subject Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Subordinated Debt" means the Borrower's 3.75% convertible subordinated notes due 2009 issued on February 6, 2002 in an 
aggregate principal amount equal to $175,000,000 and the Indebtedness represented by such notes. 
 
         "Subordinated Debt Documents" means that certain Indenture dated February 6, 2002 between the Borrower and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee, under which the Subordinated Debt is issued and all other instruments, agreements and other 
documents evidencing or governing the Subordinated Debt or providing for any Guarantee or other right in respect thereof. 



 
         "subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the "parent") at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, 
partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's 
consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any 
other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership 
interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, 
more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or (b) that is, as of such date, 
otherwise Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the 
parent. 
 
         "Subsidiary" means any subsidiary of the Borrower. 
 
         "Subsidiary Guaranty" means the Guaranty Agreement dated December 29, 1999 executed by certain Subsidiaries for the benefit 
of the Agent and the Lenders in substantially the form of Exhibit C to the Original Agreement. 
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         "Swingline Exposure" means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of all Swingline Loans outstanding at such time. 
The Swingline Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be its Applicable Percentage of the total Swingline Exposure at such time. 
 
         "Swingline Lender" means JPMorgan, in its capacity as lender of Swingline Loans hereunder. 
 
         "Swingline Loan" means a Loan made pursuant to Section 2.04 and the loans made pursuant to Section 2.04 of the Prior 
Agreement which are outstanding on the date hereof. 
 
         "Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility" means the synthetic lease arrangement under which a lessor has committed to purchase 
and lease to the Borrower a Dassault-Breguet, Model Falcon 20 Aircraft and related components under an aircraft lease agreement 
entered into by the Borrower on or about December 29, 2000. 
 
         "Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility" means the synthetic lease arrangement under which a lessor has committed to purchase 
and lease to the Borrower up to $230,000,000 of equipment under a master lease agreement entered into by the Borrower on 
September 30, 1999. 
 
         "Synthetic Lease" means any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a 
combination thereof, which lease or other arrangement is required or is permitted to be classified and accounted for as an operating 
lease under GAAP but which is intended by the parties thereto for tax, bankruptcy, regulatory, commercial law, real estate law and 
all other purposes as a financing arrangement. 
 
         "Synthetic Property" means the real property, improvements, equipment and fixtures which are: (i) located at: (A) 7th 
Street and Beardsley Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona 85027 and (B) at the Borrower's seven story, approximately 169,000 square foot office 
building located in the River Market Section of Little Rock, Arkansas at 601 East Third Street, Little Rock, Arkansas, 72201 
together with a five floor parking deck attached and integrated therein, and (ii) were specifically financed under the Synthetic 
Real Property Lease immediately prior to the Effective Date. 
 
         "Synthetic Purchase Agreement" means any agreement pursuant to which the Borrower or a Subsidiary is or may become 
obligated to make any payment (i) in connection with the purchase by any third party of any Equity Interest or subordinated 
Indebtedness or (ii) the amount of which is determined by reference to the price or value at any time of any Equity Interest or 
subordinated Indebtedness; provided that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only to current or former 
directors, officers or employees of the Borrower or the Subsidiaries (or to their heirs or estates) shall be deemed to be a 
Synthetic Purchase Agreement. 
 
         "Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary" has the meaning specified in Section 4.01(i). 
 
         "Synthetic Real Property Lease" means the synthetic lease arrangement set forth in that certain Participation Agreement 
dated October 24, 2000 among the Borrower, certain Guarantors, First Security Bank, National Association (now known as Wells Fargo 
Bank Nevada, National Association), as Owner Trustee, First Security Trust Company of Nevada (now known as Wells Fargo Bank Nevada, 
National Association), as Trustee, the various banks and other lending institutions party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as 
agent, and the other "Operative Agreements" defined therein. 
 
         "Target" means a Person who is to be acquired or whose assets are to be acquired in a transaction permitted by Section 
6.04. 
 
         "Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges or withholdings imposed by 
any Governmental Authority. 
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         "Three-Month Secondary CD Rate" means, for any day, the secondary market rate for three-month certificates of deposit 
reported as being in effect on such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day) by the Board 
through the public information telephone line of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (which rate will, under the current practices 
of the Board, be published in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) during the week following such day) or, if such rate is 
not so reported on such day or such next preceding Business Day, the average of the secondary market quotations for three-month 
certificates of deposit of major money center banks in New York City received at approximately 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on 
such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day) by the Agent from three negotiable certificate 
of deposit dealers of recognized standing selected by it. 
 
         "Total Indebtedness" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02. 
 
         "Transferring Subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.04. 
 
         "TROL Loan and Holder Advance Repayment" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(i). 
 
         "Type", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Loan, or on the 
Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate. 
 
         "Withdrawal Liability" means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such 
Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA. 
 
SECTION 1.02.     Classification of Loans and Borrowings.  For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be classified and referred to 
by Class (e.g., a "Revolving Loan") or by Type (e.g., a "Eurodollar Loan") or by Class and Type (e.g., a "Eurodollar Revolving 
Loan"). Borrowings also may be classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a "Revolving Borrowing") or by Type (e.g., a "Eurodollar 
Borrowing") or by Class and Type (e.g., a "Eurodollar Revolving Borrowing"). 
 
SECTION 1.03.     Terms Generally.  The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the 
terms defined.  Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. 
The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation".  The word "will" 
shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall".  Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any 
definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, 
instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such 



amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include 
such Person's successors and assigns, (c) the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be 
construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to 
Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, 
this Agreement and (e) the words "asset" and "property" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any 
and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights. 
 
SECTION 1.04.     Accounting Terms; GAAP.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial 
nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Agent 
that the Borrower requests an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date 
hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Agent notifies the Borrower that the 
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Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given 
before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as 
in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such 
provision amended in accordance herewith. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE II. 
 
                                                              The Credits 
 
SECTION 2.01.     Commitments.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Revolving Lender agrees to make advances 
to the Borrower from time to time during the Revolving Availability Period in an aggregate principal amount that will not result in 
such Revolving Lender's Revolving Exposure exceeding such Revolving Lender's Revolving Commitment.  Within the foregoing limits and 
subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrower may borrow, prepay and reborrow under this Section 2.01. 
 
SECTION 2.02.     Loans and Borrowings. 
 
(a)      Each Revolving Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowing consisting of Revolving Loans of the same Type made by the 
Revolving Lenders ratably in accordance with their respective Revolving Commitments except as may otherwise be required by Section 
2.19.  The failure of any Revolving Lender to make any Revolving Loan required to be made by it shall not relieve any other 
Revolving Lender of its obligations hereunder; provided that the Revolving Commitments of the Revolving Lenders are several and no 
Revolving Lender shall be responsible for any other Revolving Lender's failure to make Revolving Loans as required. 
 
(b)      Subject to Section 2.13, each Revolving Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans as the 
Borrower may request in accordance herewith; provided that all Borrowings made on the Effective Date must be made as ABR Borrowings. 
Each Revolving Lender at its option may make any Eurodollar Loan by causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such 
Revolving Lender to make such Loan; provided that any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation of the Borrower to 
repay such Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
(c)      At the commencement of each Interest Period for any Eurodollar Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount 
that is an integral multiple of $250,000 and not less than $2,000,000.  At the time that each ABR Revolving Borrowing is made, such 
Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of $100,000 and not less than $1,000,000; provided that an 
ABR Revolving Borrowing may be in an aggregate amount that is equal to the entire unused balance of the total Revolving Commitments 
or that is required to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Section 2.05(e).  Each Swingline Loan 
shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $25,000 and not less than $50,000.  Borrowings of more than one Type and Class 
may be outstanding at the same time; provided that there shall not at any time be more than a total of 10 Eurodollar Borrowings 
outstanding. 
 
(d)      Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall not be entitled to request, or to elect to 
convert or continue, any Borrowing if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date. 
 
SECTION 2.03.     Requests for Borrowings.  To request a Revolving Borrowing, the Borrower shall notify the Agent of such request by 
telephone (a) in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, three Business Days before the 
date of the proposed Borrowing or (b) in the case of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 10:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the day of 
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the proposed Borrowing.  Each such telephonic Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand 
delivery or telecopy to the Agent of a written Borrowing Request in a form approved by the Agent and signed by the Borrower.  Each 
such telephonic and written Borrowing Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02: 
 
(i)      the aggregate amount of such Borrowing; 
 
(ii)     the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day; 
 
(iii)    whether such Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; 
 
(iv)     in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, the initial Interest Period to be applicable thereto, which shall be a period 
contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period"; and 
 
(v)      the location and number of the Borrower's account to which funds are to be disbursed, which shall comply with the 
requirements of Section 2.06. 
 
         If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is specified, then the requested Borrowing shall be an ABR Borrowing.  If no 
Interest Period is specified with respect to any requested Eurodollar Borrowing, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected 
an Interest Period of one month's duration.  Promptly following receipt of a Borrowing Request in accordance with this Section, the 
Agent shall advise each Revolving Lender of the details thereof and of the amount of such Revolving Lender's Loan to be made as part 
of the requested Borrowing. 
 
SECTION 2.04.     Swingline Loans. 
 
(a)      Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Swingline Lender agrees to make advances to the Borrower from 
time to time during the Revolving Availability Period, in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding that will not result 
in (i) the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Swingline Loans exceeding $20,000,000 or (ii) the sum of the total Revolving 
Exposures exceeding the total Revolving Commitments; provided that the Swingline Lender shall not be required to make a Swingline 
Loan to refinance an outstanding Swingline Loan.  Within the foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth 
herein, the Borrower may borrow, prepay and reborrow Swingline Loans. 
 
(b)      To request a Swingline Loan, the Borrower shall notify the Swingline Lender of such request by telephone (confirmed by 
telecopy) not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, on the day of a proposed Swingline Loan.  Each such notice shall be 
irrevocable and shall specify the requested date (which shall be a Business Day) and amount of the requested Swingline Loan.  The 
Swingline Lender shall make each Swingline Loan available to the Borrower by means of a credit to the general deposit account of the 
Borrower with the Swingline Lender or by wire transfer, automated clearing house debit or interbank transfer to such other account, 
accounts or Persons as may be designated from time to time by the Borrower (or, in the case of a Swingline Loan made to finance the 
reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as provided in Section 2.05(e), by remittance to the Issuing Bank) by 3:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas 
time, on the requested date of such Swingline Loan. 



 
(c)      The Swingline Lender may by written notice given to the Agent not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, on any 
Business Day require the Revolving Lenders to acquire participations on such Business Day in all or a portion of the Swingline Loans 
outstanding.  Such notice shall specify the aggregate amount of Swingline Loans in which Revolving Lenders will participate. 
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Promptly upon receipt of such notice, the Agent will give notice thereof to each Revolving Lender, specifying in such notice such 
Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of such Swingline Loan or Loans.  Each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and 
unconditionally agrees, upon receipt of notice as provided above, to pay to the Agent, for the account of the Swingline Lender, such 
Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of such Swingline Loan or Loans.  Each Revolving Lender acknowledges and agrees that its 
obligation to acquire participations in Swingline Loans pursuant to this paragraph is absolute and unconditional and shall not be 
affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the 
Revolving Commitments, and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever. 
Each Revolving Lender shall comply with its obligation under this paragraph by wire transfer of immediately available funds, in the 
same manner as provided in Section 2.06 with respect to Loans made by such Revolving Lender (and Section 2.06 shall apply, mutatis 
mutandis, to the payment obligations of the Lenders), and the Agent shall promptly pay to the Swingline Lender the amounts so 
received by it from the Revolving Lenders.  The Agent shall notify the Borrower of any participations in any Swingline Loan acquired 
pursuant to this paragraph, and thereafter payments in respect of such Swingline Loan shall be made to the Agent and not to the 
Swingline Lender.  Any amounts received by the Swingline Lender from the Borrower (or other party on behalf of the Borrower) in 
respect of a Swingline Loan after receipt by the Swingline Lender of the proceeds of a sale of participations therein shall be 
promptly remitted to the Agent; any such amounts received by the Agent shall be promptly remitted by the Agent to the Revolving 
Lenders that shall have made their payments pursuant to this paragraph and to the Swingline Lender, as their interests may appear. 
The purchase of participations in a Swingline Loan pursuant to this paragraph shall not relieve the Borrower of any default in the 
payment thereof. 
 
SECTION 2.05.     Letters of Credit. 
 
(a)      General.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrower may request the issuance of Letters of Credit 
for its own account, in a form reasonably acceptable to the Issuing Bank, at any time and from time to time during the Revolving 
Availability Period.  In the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and 
conditions of any form of letter of credit application or other agreement submitted by the Borrower to, or entered into by the 
Borrower with, the Issuing Bank relating to any Letter of Credit, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. 
 
(b)      Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions.  To request the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or 
the amendment, renewal or extension of an outstanding Letter of Credit), the Borrower shall hand deliver or telecopy (or transmit by 
electronic communication, if arrangements for doing so have been approved by the Issuing Bank) to the Issuing Bank and the Agent 
(reasonably in advance of the requested date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension) a notice requesting the issuance of a 
Letter of Credit, or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended, renewed or extended, and specifying the date of issuance, 
amendment, renewal or extension (which shall be a Business Day), the date on which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall 
comply with paragraph (c) of this Section), the amount of such Letter of Credit, the name and address of the beneficiary thereof and 
such other information as shall be necessary to prepare, amend, renew or extend such Letter of Credit.  If requested by the Issuing 
Bank, the Borrower also shall submit a letter of credit application on the Issuing Bank's standard form in connection with any 
request for a Letter of Credit.  A Letter of Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended only if (and upon issuance, 
amendment, renewal or extension of each Letter of Credit the Borrower shall be deemed to represent and warrant that), after giving 
effect to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (i) the LC Exposure shall not exceed $40,000,000 and (ii) the total 
Revolving Exposures shall not exceed the total Revolving Commitments. 
 
                                                                20 
 
(c)      Expiration Date.  Each Letter of Credit shall expire at or prior to the close of business on the earlier of (i) the date 
one year after the date of the issuance of such Letter of Credit (or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year 
after such renewal or extension) (provided that any Letter of Credit with a one-year term may provide for the renewal thereof for 
additional one-year periods not to extend past the date in clause (ii) below) and (ii) the date that is five Business Days prior to 
the Maturity Date. 
 
(d)      Participations.  By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an amendment to a Letter of Credit increasing the amount 
thereof) and without any further action on the part of the Issuing Bank or the Revolving Lenders, the Issuing Bank hereby grants to 
each Revolving Lender, and each Revolving Lender hereby acquires from the Issuing Bank, a participation in such Letter of Credit 
equal to such Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of the aggregate amount available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit. In 
consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees to pay to the 
Agent, for the account of the Issuing Bank, such Revolving Lender's Applicable Percentage of each LC Disbursement made by the 
Issuing Bank and not reimbursed by the Borrower on the date due as provided in paragraph (e) of this Section, or of any 
reimbursement payment required to be refunded to the Borrower for any reason.  Each Revolving Lender acknowledges and agrees that 
its obligation to acquire participations pursuant to this paragraph in respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional 
and shall not be affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including any amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of Credit or 
the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the Revolving Commitments, and that each such payment 
shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever. 
 
(e)      Reimbursement.  If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement in respect of a Letter of Credit, the Borrower shall 
reimburse such LC Disbursement by paying to the Agent an amount equal to such LC Disbursement not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, 
Texas time, on the date that such LC Disbursement is made, if the Borrower shall have received notice of such LC Disbursement prior 
to 10:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, on such date, or, if such notice has not been received by the Borrower prior to such time on such 
date, then not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, on the Business Day immediately following the day that the Borrower 
receives such notice; provided that the Borrower may, subject to the conditions to borrowing set forth herein, request in accordance 
with Section 2.03 or 2.04 that such payment be financed with an ABR Borrowing or Swingline Loan in an equivalent amount and, to the 
extent so financed, the Borrower's obligation to make such payment shall be discharged and replaced by the resulting ABR Borrowing 
or Swingline Loan.  If the Borrower fails to make such payment when due, the Agent shall notify each Revolving Lender of the 
applicable LC Disbursement, the payment then due from the Borrower in respect thereof and such Revolving Lender's Applicable 
Percentage thereof.  Promptly following receipt of such notice, each Revolving Lender shall pay to the Agent its Applicable 
Percentage of the payment then due from the Borrower, in the same manner as provided in Section 2.06 with respect to Loans made by 
such Revolving Lender (and Section 2.06 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to the payment obligations of the Revolving Lenders), and the 
Agent shall promptly pay to the Issuing Bank the amounts so received by it from the Revolving Lenders.  Promptly following receipt 
by the Agent of any payment from the Borrower pursuant to this paragraph, the Agent shall distribute such payment to the Issuing 
Bank or, to the extent that Revolving Lenders have made payments pursuant to this paragraph to reimburse the Issuing Bank, then to 
such Revolving Lenders and the Issuing Bank as their interests may appear.  Any payment made by a Revolving Lender pursuant to this 
paragraph to reimburse the Issuing Bank for any LC Disbursement (other than the funding of ABR Revolving Loans or a Swingline Loan 
as contemplated above) shall not constitute a Loan and shall not relieve the Borrower of its obligation to reimburse such LC 
Disbursement. 
 
(f)      Obligations Absolute.  The Borrower's obligation to reimburse LC Disbursements as provided in paragraph (e) of this Section 
shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement 
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under any and all circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit or 
this Agreement, or any term or provision therein, (ii) any draft or other document presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be 
forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment by 
the Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with the terms of 



such Letter of Credit, or (iv) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, that 
might, but for the provisions of this Section, constitute a legal or equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff against, 
the Borrower's obligations hereunder.  The Agent, the Lenders, the Issuing Bank, or any of their Related Parties, shall not have any 
liability or responsibility by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any Letter of Credit or any payment or 
failure to make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances referred to in the preceding sentence), or any 
error, omission, interruption, loss or delay in transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication under or 
relating to any Letter of Credit (including any document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in interpretation of 
technical terms or any consequence arising from causes beyond the control of the Issuing Bank.  The foregoing provisions of this 
clause (f) shall not be construed to excuse the Issuing Bank from liability to the Borrower to the extent of any direct damages (as 
opposed to consequential damages, claims in respect of which are hereby waived by the Borrower to the extent permitted by applicable 
law) suffered by the Borrower that are caused by the Issuing Bank's failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and 
other documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof.  The parties hereto expressly agree that, in the 
absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Issuing Bank (as finally determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction), the Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have exercised care in each such determination.  In furtherance of the foregoing 
and without limiting the generality thereof, the parties agree that, with respect to documents presented which appear on their face 
to be in substantial compliance with the terms of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank may, in its sole discretion, either accept 
and make payment upon such documents without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to 
the contrary, or refuse to accept and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the terms 
of such Letter of Credit. 
 
(g)      Disbursement Procedures.  The Issuing Bank shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting 
to represent a demand for payment under a Letter of Credit.  The Issuing Bank shall promptly notify the Agent and the Borrower by 
telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of such demand for payment and whether the Issuing Bank has made or will make an LC Disbursement 
thereunder; provided that any failure to give or delay in giving such notice shall not relieve the Borrower of its obligation to 
reimburse the Issuing Bank and the Lenders with respect to any such LC Disbursement. 
 
(h)      Interim Interest.  If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement, then, unless the Borrower shall reimburse such 
LC Disbursement in full on the date such LC Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear interest, for each day from 
and including the date such LC Disbursement is made to but excluding the date that the Borrower reimburses such LC Disbursement, at 
the rate per annum then applicable to ABR Loans; provided that, if the Borrower fails to reimburse such LC Disbursement when due 
pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section, then Section 2.12(d) shall apply.  Interest accrued pursuant to this paragraph shall be 
for the account of the Issuing Bank, except that interest accrued on and after the date of payment by any Revolving Lender pursuant 
to paragraph (e) of this Section to reimburse the Issuing Bank shall be for the account of such Revolving Lender to the extent of 
such payment. 
 
(i)      Replacement of the Issuing Bank.  The Issuing Bank may be replaced at any time by written agreement among the Borrower, the 
Agent, the replaced Issuing Bank and the successor Issuing Bank.  The Agent shall notify the Lenders of any such replacement of the 
Issuing Bank.  At the time any such replacement shall become effective, the Borrower shall pay all unpaid fees accrued for the 
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account of the replaced Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.11(b).  From and after the effective date of any such replacement, (i) 
the successor Issuing Bank shall have all the rights and obligations of the Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to 
Letters of Credit to be issued thereafter and (ii) references herein to the term "Issuing Bank" shall be deemed to refer to such 
successor or to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such successor and all previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require.  After 
the replacement of an Issuing Bank hereunder, the replaced Issuing Bank shall remain a party hereto and shall continue to have all 
the rights and obligations of an Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit issued by it prior to such 
replacement, but shall not be required to issue additional Letters of Credit. 
 
(j)      Cash Collateralization.  If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, on the Business Day that the Borrower 
receives notice from the Agent or the Required Lenders demanding the deposit of cash collateral pursuant to this paragraph, the 
Borrower shall deposit in an account with the Agent, in the name of the Agent and for the benefit of the Lenders, an amount in cash 
equal to the LC Exposure as of such date plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon; provided that the obligation to deposit such 
cash collateral shall become effective immediately, and such deposit shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or 
other notice of any kind, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default with respect to the Borrower described in clause (h) or (i) of 
Article VIII.  Each such deposit shall be held by the Agent as collateral for the payment and performance of the obligations of the 
Borrower under this Agreement.  The Agent shall have exclusive dominion and control, including the exclusive right of withdrawal, 
over such account.  Other than any interest earned on the investment of such deposits, which investments shall be made at the option 
and sole discretion of the Agent and at the Borrower's risk and expense, such deposits shall not bear interest. Interest or profits, 
if any, on such investments shall accumulate in such account.  Moneys in such account shall be applied by the Agent to reimburse the 
Issuing Bank for LC Disbursements for which it has not been reimbursed and, to the extent not so applied, shall be held for the 
satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations of the Borrower for the LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has 
been accelerated (but subject to the consent of Required Lenders) be applied to satisfy other obligations of the Borrower under this 
Agreement.  If the Borrower is required to provide an amount of cash collateral hereunder as a result of the occurrence of an Event 
of Default, such amount (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to the Borrower within three Business Days after 
all Events of Default have been cured or waived. 
 
SECTION 2.06.     Funding of Borrowings. 
 
(a)      Each Revolving Lender shall make each Loan to be made by it hereunder on the proposed date thereof by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds by 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, to the account of the Agent most recently designated by it for such 
purpose by notice to the Revolving Lenders; provided that Swingline Loans shall be made as provided in Section 2.04.  The Agent will 
make such Loans available to the Borrower by promptly crediting the amounts so received, in like funds, to an account of the 
Borrower maintained with the Agent or by wire transfer, automated clearing house debit or interbank transfer to such other account, 
accounts or Persons designated by the Borrower in the applicable Borrowing Request; provided that ABR Revolving Loans made to 
finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as provided in Section 2.05(e) shall be remitted by the Agent to the Issuing Bank. 
 
(b)      Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed date of any Borrowing that such Lender will 
not make available to the Agent such Lender's share of such Borrowing, the Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share 
available on such date in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Section and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to 
the Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its share of the applicable Borrowing available 
to the Agent, then the applicable Lender and the Borrower severally agree to pay to the Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding 
 
                                                                23 
 
amount with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is made available to the Borrower to but 
excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at (i) in the case of such Lender, the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a 
rate determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation or (ii) in the case of the 
Borrower, the interest rate applicable to ABR Loans.  If such Lender pays such amount to the Agent, then such amount shall 
constitute such Lender's Loan included in such Borrowing. 
 
SECTION 2.07.     Interest Elections. 
 
(a)      Each Revolving Borrowing initially shall be of the Type specified in the applicable Borrowing Request and, in the case of a 
Eurodollar Borrowing, shall have an initial Interest Period as specified in such Borrowing Request.  Thereafter, the Borrower may 
elect to convert such Borrowing to a different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, may 
elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. The Borrower may elect different options with respect to different 
portions of the affected Borrowing, in which case each such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the Loans 
comprising such Borrowing, and the Loans comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing.  This Section shall 



not apply to Swingline Borrowings, which may not be converted or continued. 
 
(b)      To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall notify the Agent of such election by telephone by the time 
that a Borrowing Request would be required under Section 2.03 if the Borrower were requesting a Revolving Borrowing of the Type 
resulting from such election to be made on the effective date of such election. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall 
be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a 
form approved by the Agent and signed by the Borrower. 
 
(c)      Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information in compliance with 
Section 2.02 and paragraph (f) of this Section: 
 
(i)      the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to 
different portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be 
specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting Borrowing); 
 
(ii)     the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day; 
 
(iii)    whether the resulting Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; and 
 
(iv)     if the resulting Borrowing is a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to 
such election, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period". 
 
         If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurodollar Borrowing but does not specify an Interest Period, then the 
Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration. 
 
(d)      Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and 
of such Lender's portion of each resulting Borrowing. 
 
(e)      If the Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurodollar Borrowing prior to the end 
of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest 
Period such Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing.  Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default 
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has occurred and is continuing and the Agent, at the request of the Required Lenders, so notifies the Borrower, then, so long as an 
Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing and 
(ii) unless repaid, each Eurodollar Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable 
thereto. 
 
(f)      A Revolving Borrowing may not be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing if after giving effect thereto the 
Interest Period therefor would commence before and end after a date on which any principal of the Loans is scheduled to be repaid. 
 
SECTION 2.08.     Termination and Reduction of Revolving Commitments; Extension of Maturity Date. 
 
(a)      Unless previously terminated, the Revolving Commitments shall terminate on the Maturity Date. 
 
(b)      By written notice sent to the Agent (which the Agent shall promptly distribute to the Lenders), the Borrower may request 
that the then effective Maturity Date (the "Current Maturity Date") be extended to a date one year from the then Current Maturity 
Date (an "Extension Request").  An Extension Request may be delivered by the Borrower to the Agent at any time prior to the date 
which is 90 days prior to the then Current Maturity Date when no Default exists.  Within 45 days of the receipt by the Agent of an 
Extension Request, each Lender shall provide the Agent and the Borrower with a written consent to, or a rejection of, the Borrower's 
Extension Request. The decision whether to accept or reject an Extension Request shall be made by each Lender in its sole discretion 
based on such information as it may deem necessary and no Lender shall have any obligation to agree to any extension of the then 
Current Maturity Date.  The failure of a Lender to respond to any Extension Request within such 45-day period shall be deemed a 
rejection of such request. If all the Lenders consent to an Extension Request, the Maturity Date shall be the date one year from the 
then Current Maturity Date as specified in a notice from the Agent.  If Lenders holding 25% or less of the Revolving Exposures and 
unused Revolving Commitments reject an Extension Request (the "Rejecting Lenders"), then the Borrower may take one of the following 
actions:  (i) by written notice to each Rejecting Lender and the Agent, delivered prior to the then Current Maturity Date, terminate 
the Revolving Commitment of each Rejecting Lender if simultaneously with such termination the Borrower pays to each Rejecting Lender 
all amounts owed by the Borrower to such Rejecting Lender hereunder or (ii) cause each Rejecting Lender to assign its interest in 
the Agreement to a new Lender who will consent to the Extension Request under the terms of Section 2.18(b) on or before the then 
Current Maturity Date. If the Borrower consummates either of the foregoing actions on or before the then Current Maturity Date, then 
the Maturity Date shall be the date one year from the then Current Maturity Date as specified in a notice from the Agent. 
 
(c)      The Borrower may at any time terminate, or from time to time reduce, the Revolving Commitments; provided that (i) each 
reduction of the Revolving Commitments shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $1,000,000 and not less than 
$10,000,000 and (ii) the Borrower shall not terminate or reduce the Revolving Commitments if, after giving effect to any concurrent 
prepayment of the Loans in accordance with Section 2.10, the sum of the Revolving Exposures would exceed the total Revolving 
Commitments. 
 
(d)      The Borrower shall notify the Agent of any election to terminate or reduce the Revolving Commitments under paragraph (c) of 
this Section at least three Business Days prior to the effective date of such termination or reduction, specifying such election and 
the effective date thereof.  Promptly following receipt of any notice, the Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. 
Each notice delivered by the Borrower pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable; provided that a notice of termination of the 
Revolving Commitments delivered by the Borrower may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit 
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facilities, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent on or prior to the specified effective 
date) if such condition is not satisfied.  Any termination or reduction of the Revolving Commitments shall be permanent.  Each 
reduction of the Revolving Commitments shall be made ratably among the Lenders in accordance with their respective Revolving 
Commitments. 
 
SECTION 2.09.     Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt. 
 
(a)      The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay (i) to the Agent for the account of each Lender the then unpaid 
principal amount of each Revolving Loan of such Lender on the Maturity Date, and (ii) to the Swingline Lender the then unpaid 
principal amount of each Swingline Loan on the earlier of the Maturity Date and the first date after such Swingline Loan is made 
that is the 15th or last day of a calendar month and is at least two Business Days after such Swingline Loan is made; provided that 
on each date that a Revolving Borrowing is made, the Borrower shall repay all Swingline Loans then outstanding. 
 
(b)      Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the 
Borrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan made by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and 
paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder. 
 
(c)      The Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Class and Type 
thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due 
and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Agent hereunder for the 
account of the Lenders and each Lender's share thereof. 



 
(d)      The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of this Section shall be prima facie evidence 
of the existence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein; provided that the failure of any Lender or the Agent to maintain 
such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
(e)      Any Lender may request that Loans of any Class made by it be evidenced by a promissory note.  In such event, the Borrower 
shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by such 
Lender, to such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form approved by the Agent.  Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such 
promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 10.04) be represented by one 
or more promissory notes in such form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a registered 
note, to such payee and its registered assigns). 
 
SECTION 2.10.     Prepayment of Loans.(a)   The Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any 
Borrowing in whole or in part without premium or penalty except for amounts paid in accordance with Section 2.15, subject to the 
requirements of this Section. 
 
(b)      In the event and on such occasion that the sum of the Revolving Exposures exceeds the total Revolving Commitments, the 
Borrower shall prepay Revolving Borrowings or Swingline Borrowings (or, if no such Borrowings are outstanding, deposit cash 
collateral in an account with the Agent pursuant to Section 2.05(j)) in an aggregate amount equal to such excess. 
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(c)      Prior to any optional or mandatory prepayment of Borrowings hereunder, the Borrower shall select the Borrowing or 
Borrowings to be prepaid and shall specify such selection in the notice of such prepayment pursuant to paragraph (d) of this 
Section. 
 
(d)      The Borrower shall notify the Agent (and, in the case of prepayment of a Swingline Loan, the Swingline Lender) by telephone 
(confirmed by telecopy) of any prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of prepayment of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 
11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment, (ii) in the case of prepayment of an ABR 
Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the date of prepayment or (iii) in the case of prepayment of a 
Swingline Loan, not later than 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time, on the date of prepayment.  Each such notice shall be irrevocable and 
shall specify the prepayment date, the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid and, in the case of a 
mandatory prepayment, a reasonably detailed calculation of the amount of such prepayment; provided that, if a notice of optional 
prepayment is given in connection with a conditional notice of termination of the Revolving Commitments as contemplated by Section 
2.08, then such notice of prepayment may be revoked if such notice of termination is revoked in accordance with Section 2.08. 
Promptly following receipt of any such notice (other than a notice relating solely to Swingline Loans), the Agent shall advise the 
Lenders of the contents thereof.  Each partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case 
of an advance of a Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Section 2.02, except as necessary to apply fully the required amount of 
a mandatory prepayment.  Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the prepaid Borrowing. 
Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.12. 
 
SECTION 2.11.     Fees. 
 
(a)      The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for the account of each Lender a commitment fee, which shall accrue at the 
Applicable Rate on the average daily unused amount of the Revolving Commitment of such Lender during the period from and including 
the Effective Date to but excluding the date on which such Revolving Commitment terminates. Accrued commitment fees shall be payable 
in arrears on the last day of March, June, September and December of each year and on the date on which the Revolving Commitments 
terminate, commencing on the first such date to occur after the date hereof. All commitment fees shall be computed on the basis of a 
year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). 
For purposes of computing commitment fees, the Revolving Commitment of a Lender shall be deemed to be used to the extent of the 
outstanding Revolving Loans and LC Exposure of such Lender (and the Swingline Exposure of such Lender shall be disregarded for such 
purpose). 
 
(b)      The Borrower agrees to pay (i) to the Agent for the account of each Lender a participation fee with respect to its 
participations in Letters of Credit, which shall accrue at the same Applicable Rate as interest on Eurodollar Borrowings on the 
average daily amount of such Lender's LC Exposure (excluding any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) 
during the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the later of the date on which such Lender's Revolving 
Commitment terminates and the date on which such Lender ceases to have any LC Exposure, and (ii) to the Issuing Bank, for its own 
account, a fronting fee, which shall accrue at the rate of 1/8 % per annum on the average daily amount of the LC Exposure (excluding 
any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the period from and including the Effective Date to but 
excluding the later of the date of termination of the Revolving Commitments and the date on which there ceases to be any LC 
Exposure, as well as the Issuing Bank's standard fees with respect to the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of 
Credit or processing of drawings thereunder.  Participation fees and fronting fees accrued through and including the last day of 
March, June, September and December of each year shall be payable on the third Business Day following such last day, commencing on 
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the first such date to occur after the Effective Date; provided that all such fees shall be payable on the date on which the 
Revolving Commitments terminate and any such fees accruing after the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate shall be 
payable on demand.  Any other fees payable to the Issuing Bank pursuant to this paragraph shall be payable within 10 days after 
demand.  All participation fees and fronting fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the 
actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). 
 
(c)      If the average daily unused amount of the Revolving Commitments during any period of the calculation of the commitment fee 
under Section 2.11(a) equals or exceeds 70.0% of the aggregate amount of the Revolving Commitments in effect during such period, 
then the Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent for the account of each Lender a non-utilization fee, which shall accrue at a rate 
equal to 0.05% on the average daily unused amount of the Revolving Commitment of each Lender during such period.  Accrued 
non-utilization fees shall be payable in arrears on the last day of March, June, September and December of each year and on the date 
on which the Revolving Commitments terminate, commencing on the first such date to occur after the date hereof.  All non-utilization 
fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the 
first day but excluding the last day).  For purposes of computing non-utilization fees, the Revolving Commitment of a Lender shall 
be deemed to be used to the extent of the outstanding Revolving Loans and LC Exposure of such Lender (and the Swingline Exposure of 
such Lender shall be disregarded for such purpose). 
 
(d)      All fees payable hereunder shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Agent (or to the Issuing 
Bank, in the case of fees payable to it) for distribution, in the case of commitment fees and participation fees, to the Lenders 
entitled thereto.  Except in the case of errors in payment which have been confirmed by Agent, fees paid shall not be refundable 
under any circumstances. 
 
SECTION 2.12.     Interest. 
 
(a)      The Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Rate. 
 
(b)      The Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowing shall bear interest at the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in 
effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Rate. 
 
(c)      The Swingline Loans shall bear interest at the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect from day to day plus 2.00%. 
 



(d)      Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the 
Borrower hereunder is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount shall bear 
interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of any Loan, 2% plus 
the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section or (ii) in the case of any other 
amount, 2% plus the rate applicable to ABR Borrowings as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section. 
 
(e)      Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan and upon termination 
of the Revolving Commitments; provided that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Section shall be payable on 
demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan (other than a prepayment of an ABR Loan prior to the end of the 
Revolving Availability Period), accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such 
repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurodollar Loan prior to the end of the current Interest 
Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion. 
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(f)      All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference to 
the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 
365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first 
day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Agent, and such 
determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  The Agent shall, at the request of the Borrower, deliver to the Borrower a 
statement showing the quotations used by the Agent in determining any interest rates pursuant to this Section 2.12. 
 
SECTION 2.13.     Alternate Rate of Interest.  If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Borrowing: 
 
(a)      the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that through no fault of the Agent 
adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period; or 
 
(b)      the Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately and 
fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders (as certified by such Required Lenders in a written certificate delivered to Agent and 
Borrower setting forth in detail the reasons for such Required Lenders' position) of making or maintaining their Loans included in 
such Borrowing for such Interest Period; 
 
then the Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable 
thereafter and, until the Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer 
exist, (i) any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a 
Eurodollar Borrowing shall be ineffective and (ii) if any Borrowing Request requests a Eurodollar Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be 
made as an ABR Borrowing. 
 
SECTION 2.14.     Increased Costs. 
 
(a)      If any Change in Law shall: 
 
(i)      impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or 
for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate) or 
the Issuing Bank; or 
 
(ii)     impose on any Lender or the Issuing Bank or the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or 
Eurodollar Loans made by such Lender or any Letter of Credit or participation therein; 
 
and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Eurodollar Loan (or 
of maintaining its obligation to make any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender or the Issuing Bank of participating in, 
issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender or the Issuing 
Bank hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrower will pay to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the 
case may be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, for such 
additional costs incurred or reduction suffered. 
 
(b)      If any Lender or the Issuing Bank determines that any Change in Law regarding capital requirements has or would have the 
effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's capital or on the capital of such Lender's or the 
Issuing Bank's holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loans made by, or participations in Letters of 
Credit held by, such Lender, or the Letters of Credit issued by the Issuing Bank, to a level below that which such Lender or the 
Issuing Bank or such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into 
consideration such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's policies and the policies of such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's holding company 
with respect to capital adequacy), then from time to time the Borrower will pay to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may 
be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's 
holding company for any such reduction suffered. 
 
(c)      A certificate of a Lender or the Issuing Bank setting forth (i) the amount or amounts (including a description of the 
method of calculating such amount or amounts), necessary to compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or its holding company, as 
the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section and (ii) the applicable Change in Law and other facts that 
give rise to such amount or amounts shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower 
shall pay such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after 
receipt thereof. 
 
(d)      Failure or delay on the part of any Lender or the Issuing Bank to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not 
constitute a waiver of such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's right to demand such compensation; provided that the Borrower shall not 
be required to compensate a Lender or the Issuing Bank pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more 
than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law 
giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's intention to claim compensation 
therefor; provided further that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 
180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof. 
 
SECTION 2.15.     Break Funding Payments.  In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the 
last day of an Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default or as a result of the operation of 
Section 2.18), (b) the conversion of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, 
(c) the failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any Eurodollar Loan on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant 
hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be revoked under Section 2.10(d) and is revoked in accordance therewith), or (d) the 
assignment of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by 
the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.08 or Section 2.18, then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the 
loss, cost and expense attributable to such event.  In the case of a Eurodollar Loan, such loss, cost or expense to any Lender shall 
be deemed to include an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest which would have 
accrued on the principal amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the Adjusted LIBO Rate that would have been applicable 
to such Loan, for the period from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the 
case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest Period for such Loan), over 
(ii) the amount of interest which would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest rate which such Lender would 
bid were it to bid, at the commencement of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other banks in 
the eurodollar market.  A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive 
pursuant to this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower, shall set forth the method of calculating such amount or amounts and 
shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate 
within 10 days after receipt thereof. 
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SECTION 2.16.     Taxes. 
 
(a)      Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be 
made free and clear of and without deduction for any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes; provided that if the Borrower shall be 
required to deduct any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes from such payments, then (i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary 
so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) each 
recipient of each such payment receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the 
Borrower shall make such deductions and (iii) the Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant Governmental Authority 
in accordance with applicable law. 
 
(b)      In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable 
law. 
 
(c)      The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent, each Lender, the Issuing Bank, and any other party hereto within 10 days after 
written demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Agent, such Lender, the Issuing 
Bank or other party hereto, as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower 
hereunder or under any other Loan Document (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to 
amounts payable under this Section) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, 
whether or not such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental 
Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender or the Issuing Bank, or 
by the Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender or the Issuing Bank, shall set forth in reasonable detail the origin and 
amount of the payments to be due under this Section 2.16(c) and such certificate shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 
 
(d)      As soon as practicable after any payment of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrower to a Governmental Authority, 
the Borrower shall deliver to the Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority 
evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to 
the Agent. 
 
(e)      If a Lender, the Issuing Bank or Agent shall become aware that it is entitled to claim a refund from a Governmental 
Authority specifically in respect of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by a Borrower, or with 
respect to which a Borrower has paid additional amounts, pursuant to this Section 2.16, it shall promptly notify Borrower of the 
availability of such refund claim and shall, within 30 days after receipt of a request by Borrower, make a claim to such 
Governmental Authority for such refund at Borrower's expense.  If a Lender, the Issuing Bank or any Agent receives a refund 
(including pursuant to a claim for refund made pursuant to the preceding sentence) specifically in respect of any Indemnified Taxes 
or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by Borrower or with respect to which Borrower had paid additional amounts 
pursuant to this Section 2.16, it shall within 30 days from the date of such receipt pay over such refund to Borrower (but only to 
the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by Borrower under this Section 2.16 with respect to the 
Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of such Lender, Issuing Bank or 
Agent and without interest (other than interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund); provided, 
however, that Borrower, upon the request of such Lender, Issuing Bank or Agent, agrees to repay the amount paid over to Borrower 
(plus penalties, interest or other charges) to such Lender, Issuing Bank or Agent in the event such Lender, Issuing Bank or Agent is 
required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. 
 
                                                                32 
 
(f)      Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction 
in which the Borrower is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement 
shall deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed 
and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower as will permit such payments to be 
made without withholding or at a reduced rate. 
 
SECTION 2.17.     Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Set-Offs. 
 
(a)      The Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder or under any other Loan Document (whether of 
principal, interest, fees or reimbursement of LC Disbursements, or of amounts payable under Section 2.14, 2.15 or 2.16, or 
otherwise) prior to the time expressly required hereunder or under such other Loan Document for such payment (or, if no such time is 
expressly required, prior to 12:00 noon, Dallas, Texas time), on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without set-off 
or counterclaim.  Any amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Agent, be deemed to have been 
received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon.  All such payments shall be made to the 
Agent at its offices in New York, New York, except payments to be made directly to the Issuing Bank or Swingline Lender as expressly 
provided herein and except that payments pursuant to Sections 2.14, 2.15, 2.16 and 10.03 and the other clauses of this Section 2.17 
shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto and payments pursuant to other Loan Documents shall be made to the Persons 
specified therein.  The Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other Person to the 
appropriate recipient promptly following receipt thereof.  If any payment under any Loan Document shall be due on a day that is not 
a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing 
interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension.  All payments under each Loan Document shall be made 
in dollars. 
 
(b)      If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Agent to pay fully all amounts of principal, 
unreimbursed LC Disbursements, interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of 
interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of interest and fees 
then due to such parties, and (ii) second, towards payment of principal and unreimbursed LC Disbursements then due hereunder, 
ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of principal and unreimbursed LC Disbursements then due to 
such parties. 
 
(c)      If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any 
principal of or interest on any of its Revolving Loans or participations in LC Disbursements or Swingline Loans resulting in such 
Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Revolving Loans and participations in 
LC Disbursements and Swingline Loans and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender, then the Lender 
receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Revolving Loans and participations 
in LC Disbursements and Swingline Loans of other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be 
shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued interest on their respective 
Revolving Loans and participations in LC Disbursements and Swingline Loans; provided that (i) if any such participations are 
purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the 
purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be 
construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or any 
payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its Loans or participations 
in LC Disbursements to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which 
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the provisions of this paragraph shall apply).  The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively 
do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against 
the Borrower rights of set-off and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor 
of the Borrower in the amount of such participation. 
 



(d)      Unless the Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Agent 
for the account of the Lenders or the Issuing Bank hereunder that the Borrower will not make such payment, the Agent may assume that 
the Borrower has made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the 
Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount due.  In such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, 
then each of the Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, severally agrees to repay to the Agent forthwith on demand the 
amount so distributed to such Lender or Issuing Bank with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is 
distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate 
determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation. 
 
(e)      If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.04(c), 2.05(d) or (e), 
2.06(b), 2.17(d) or 10.03(c), then the Agent may, in its discretion (notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any 
amounts thereafter received by the Agent for the account of such Lender to satisfy such Lender's obligations under such Sections 
until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid. 
 
(f)      All proceeds received by the Agent from the sale or other liquidation of the Collateral when an Event of Default exists 
shall first be applied as payment of the accrued and unpaid fees of the Agent hereunder and then to all other unpaid or unreimbursed 
obligations (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) owing to the Agent in its capacity as Agent only and then any 
remaining amount of such proceeds shall be distributed: 
 
(i)      first, to an account at the Agent over which the Agent shall have control in an amount sufficient to fully collateralize 
all LC Exposure then outstanding; and 
 
(ii)     second, to the Lenders, pro rata in accordance with the such Lender's Revolving Exposure, until all the Revolving Loans 
have been paid and satisfied in full or cash collateralized. 
 
All amounts paid under the terms of the Subsidiary Guaranty shall be applied as provided in paragraph 5 of the Guaranty. 
 
(g)      After all Revolving Commitments are terminated and all other obligations of any Lender to Borrower or any Guarantor are 
otherwise satisfied, any proceeds of Collateral shall be delivered to the Person entitled thereto as determined by the Intercreditor 
Agreement, by applicable law or applicable court order. 
 
SECTION 2.18.     Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders. 
 
(a)      If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.14, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any 
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.16, then such Lender shall use reasonable 
efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations 
hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment 
(i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.14 or 2.16, as the case may be, in the future and (ii) would not 
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subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender.  The Borrower 
hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment. 
 
(b)      If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.14, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any 
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.16, or if any Lender defaults in its 
obligation to fund Loans hereunder or if a Lender fails to consent to an Extension Request, then the Borrower may, at its sole 
expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in 
accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 10.04), all its interests, rights and obligations under this 
Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such 
assignment); provided that (i) the Borrower shall have received the prior written consent of the Agent (and, if a Revolving 
Commitment is being assigned, the Issuing Bank and Swingline Lender), which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld, (ii) such 
Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans and participations in LC 
Disbursements and Swingline Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder (including 
any amounts due under Section 2.15 other than in connection with an assignment resulting from a Lender's default in its obligations 
to fund Loans), from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in 
the case of all other amounts), (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Section 2.16 
or payments required to be made pursuant to Section 2.16, such assignment will result in a reduction in such compensation or 
payments, and (iv) in the case of any such assignment under the terms of Section 2.08(b) resulting from the rejection of an 
Extension Request, such assignment will result in the consent by all Lenders to such Extension Request.  A Lender shall not be 
required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the 
circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply. 
 
SECTION 2.19.     Increase of Revolving Commitments.  By written notice sent to the Agent (which the Agent shall promptly distribute 
to the Lenders), the Borrower may request an increase of the aggregate amount of the Revolving Commitments:  (i) by an aggregate 
amount equal to any integral multiple of $5,000,000 and (ii) by an amount not to exceed $50,000,000; provided that (i) no Default 
shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the aggregate amount of the Revolving Commitments shall not previously have been 
increased more than two times pursuant to this Section 2.19.  Each Lender, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine 
whether it will increase its Revolving Commitment.  If one or more of the Lenders will not be increasing its Revolving Commitment 
pursuant to such request, then, with notice to the Agent and the other Lenders, another one or more financial institutions, each as 
approved by the Borrower and the Agent (a "New Lender"), may commit to provide an amount equal to the aggregate amount of the 
requested increase that will not be provided by the existing Lenders (the "Increase Amount"); provided, that the Revolving 
Commitment of each New Lender shall be at least $5,000,000 and the maximum number of New Lenders shall be five (5).  Upon receipt of 
notice from the Agent to the Lenders and the Borrower that the Lenders, or sufficient Lenders and New Lenders, have agreed to commit 
to an aggregate amount equal to the Increase Amount (or such lesser amount as the Borrower shall agree, which shall be at least 
$5,000,000 and an integral multiple of $5,000,000 in excess thereof), then: provided that no Default exists at such time or after 
giving effect to the requested increase, the Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders willing to increase their respective Revolving 
Commitments and the New Lenders (if any) shall execute and deliver an Increased Commitment Supplement (herein so called) in the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit C.  If all existing Lenders shall not have provided their pro rata portion of the requested increase, 
then after giving effect to the requested increase the outstanding Revolving Loans may not be held pro rata in accordance with the 
new Revolving Commitments. In order to remedy the forgoing, on the effective date of the Increased Commitment Supplement the 
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Borrower shall request a borrowing hereunder which shall be made only by the Lenders who have increased their Revolving Commitment 
and, if applicable, the New Lenders.  The proceeds of such borrowing shall be utilized by the Borrower to repay the outstanding 
Revolving Loans of Lenders who did not agree to increase their Revolving Commitments, such borrowing and repayments to be in amounts 
sufficient so that after giving effect thereto, the Revolving Loans shall be held by the Lenders pro rata according to their 
respective Revolving Commitments.  The Revolving Commitments of the Lenders who do not agree to increase their Revolving Commitments 
can not be reduced or otherwise changed pursuant to this Section 2.19. 
 
SECTION 2.20.     Exiting Lender; Adjustment of Outstandings.  The Bank of Nova Scotia (herein the "Exiting Lender") has requested 
that its Revolving Commitment under the Prior Agreement be terminated.  On the Effective Date, the Revolving Commitment of the 
Exiting Lender under the Prior Agreement shall terminate.  The Exiting Lender and the other parties hereto agree that after the 
Effective Date: (i) the Exiting Lender's rights hereunder and under the Prior Agreement will be extinguished (except for those 
rights under the Prior Agreement that survive the termination of the Prior Agreement) and the Exiting Lender will be released from 
its obligations under the Prior Agreement, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (ii)  the Exiting Lender shall no longer be 
deemed a "Lender" under this Agreement or the Prior Agreement (except in respect to the provisions of the Prior Agreement which 
survive its termination); and (iii) this Agreement may be amended or otherwise modified without the Exiting Lender's consent or 



agreement except the consent of the Exiting Lender shall be required for any amendment or other modification of this Section 2.20 
which affects the Exiting Lender).  Because of the termination of the Exiting Lender's Revolving Commitment in effect under the 
Prior Agreement and the changes in the other Revolving Commitments contemplated hereby, the outstanding Revolving Loans may not be 
held pro rata in accordance with the new Revolving Commitments as herein set forth.  In order to remedy the forgoing, on the 
Effective Date, the Borrower shall request a borrowing hereunder which shall be made only by the Lenders whose pro rata portions 
have increased as compared to the pro rata portions under the Prior Agreement.  The proceeds of such borrowing shall be utilized by 
the Borrower to repay the outstanding Revolving Loans and other obligations of the Exiting Lender and to reduce the outstanding 
amount of the Revolving Loans of the Lenders whose pro rata portions decreased (as compared to the pro rata portions under the Prior 
Agreement), such borrowing and repayments among the Lenders to be in amounts sufficient so that after giving effect thereto, the 
Revolving Loans shall be held by the Lenders pro rata according to their respective Revolving Commitments as established hereunder. 
The amounts funded under the foregoing sentence shall be deemed an ABR Loan (unless otherwise requested by the Borrower under the 
terms hereof) and a continuation and assignment of the Revolving Loans made by the Lenders receiving such funds. The Borrower agrees 
to pay each Lender receiving such funds under the foregoing sentence any amounts due under Section 2.15 of the Prior Agreement 
arising from the payment of any Eurodollar Loan in existence under the Prior Agreement prior to the end of the Interest Period 
applicable thereto resulting from such receipt of funds. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE III. 
 
                                                    Representations and Warranties 
 
         The Borrower represents and warrants to the Lenders that: 
 
SECTION 3.01.     Organization; Powers.  Each of the Borrower and each Subsidiary is duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as 
now conducted and is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing in, every jurisdiction where such qualification is 
required, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a 
Material Adverse Effect. 
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SECTION 3.02.     Authorization; Enforceability.  The Loan Documents to be entered into by the Borrower and each Guarantor are 
within their respective corporate powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate and, if required, stockholder 
action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower and constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which 
the Borrower or any of the Guarantors is to be a party, when executed and delivered, will constitute, a legal, valid and binding 
obligation of, the Borrower or such Guarantor (as the case may be), enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to 
general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. 
 
SECTION 3.03.     Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts.  The execution, performance and delivery of the Loan Documents by the 
Borrower and the Guarantors (a) do not require any consent or approval of, registration or filing with (other than the inclusion of 
this Agreement as an exhibit to routine filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), or any other action by, any Governmental 
Authority, (b) will not violate any applicable law or regulation or the charter, by-laws or other organizational documents of the 
Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries or any order of any Governmental Authority, (c) will not violate in any material respect or 
result in a material default under any indenture, agreement or other instrument (including the Subordinated Debt Documents, the 
Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility, and the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility) binding upon the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries 
or its assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries, and 
(d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries. 
 
SECTION 3.04.     Financial Condition; No Material Adverse Change. 
 
(a)      The Borrower has heretofore furnished to the Lenders its consolidated balance sheet and statements of income, stockholders 
equity and cash flows (i) as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002 reported on by independent public accountants, and 
(ii) as of and for the fiscal quarter and the portion of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002, certified by its chief financial 
officer.  Such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations and 
cash flows of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of such dates and for such periods in accordance with GAAP, subject to year-end 
audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes in the case of the statements referred to in clause (ii) above. 
 
(b)      Except: (i) as disclosed in the financial statements referred to above or the notes thereto and (ii) for the Disclosed 
Matters, none of the Borrower or the Subsidiaries has, as of the Effective Date, any contingent liabilities, unusual long-term 
commitments or unrealized losses which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
(c)      Except for the Disclosed Matters, since September 30, 2002 there has been no material adverse change in the business, 
assets, operations or financial condition of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. 
 
SECTION 3.05.     Properties. 
 
(a)      Each of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its real and personal 
property material to its business (including its Collateral), except for minor defects in title that do not interfere with its 
ability to conduct its business as currently conducted or to utilize such properties for their intended purposes free and clear of 
all Liens other than Permitted Encumbrances and Liens permitted by clauses (ii) through (v) of Section 6.02; 
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(b)      Each of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed to use, all trademarks, tradenames, copyrights, patents and 
other intellectual property material to its business, and the use thereof by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries does not infringe 
upon the rights of any other Person, except for any such infringements that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably 
be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
(c)      As of the Effective Date, neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiaries has received notice of, or has knowledge of, any 
pending or contemplated condemnation proceeding affecting any Mortgaged Property or any other real property owned by it or any sale 
or disposition thereof in lieu of condemnation.  Neither any such real property nor any interest therein is subject to any right of 
first refusal, option or other contractual right to purchase such real property or interest therein. 
 
SECTION 3.06.     Litigation and Environmental Matters. 
 
(a)      There are no actions, suits or proceedings by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority pending against or, to the 
knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries (i) as to which there is a 
reasonable possibility of an adverse determination and that, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected, individually or 
in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) that involve any of the Loan Documents, the Subordinated Debt 
Documents, the Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility, and the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility. 
 
(b)      Except for the Disclosed Matters and except with respect to any other matters that, individually or in the aggregate, could 
not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiaries (i) has failed 
to comply with any Environmental Law or to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any 
Environmental Law, (ii) has become subject to any Environmental Liability, (iii) has received notice of any claim with respect to 
any Environmental Liability or (iv) knows of any basis for any Environmental Liability. 
 
(c)      The Disclosed Matters, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 
Effect.  Since the date of this Agreement, there has been no change in the status of the Disclosed Matters that, individually or in 



the aggregate, has resulted in, or materially increased the likelihood of, a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
SECTION 3.07.     Compliance with Laws and Agreements.  Each of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries is in compliance with all laws, 
regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property and all indentures, agreements and other 
instruments binding upon it or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.  No Default has occurred and is continuing. 
 
SECTION 3.08.     Investment and Holding Company Status.  Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiaries is (a) an "investment 
company" as defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940 or (b) a "holding company" as defined in, 
or subject to regulation under, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. 
 
SECTION 3.09.     Taxes.  Each of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries has timely filed or caused to be filed all Tax returns and 
reports required to have been filed and has paid or caused to be paid all Taxes required to have been paid by it, except (a) Taxes 
that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as applicable, has 
set aside on its books adequate reserves or (b) to the extent that the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result 
in a Material Adverse Effect. 
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SECTION 3.10.     ERISA.  No ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that, when taken together with all other 
such ERISA Events for which liability is reasonably expected to occur, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 
Effect.  The present value of all accumulated benefit obligations under each Plan (based on the assumptions used for purposes of 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87) did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such 
amounts, exceed by more than $5,000,000 of the fair market value of the assets of such Plan, and the present value of all 
accumulated benefit obligations of all underfunded Plans (based on the assumptions used for purposes of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 87) did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, exceed by more 
than $5,000,000 of the fair market value of the assets of all such underfunded Plans. 
 
SECTION 3.11.     Disclosure.  The Borrower has disclosed to the Lenders all agreements, instruments and corporate or other 
restrictions to which the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries is subject, and all other matters known to any of them, that, 
individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.  No reports, financial 
statements, certificates or other information furnished by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Agent or any Lender in connection 
with the negotiation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or delivered hereunder or thereunder (as modified or supplemented 
by other information so furnished) contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make 
the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to 
projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon 
assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time. 
 
SECTION 3.12.     Subsidiaries.  As of February 5, 2003, Borrower has no Subsidiaries other than those listed on Schedule 3.12 
hereto.  As of February 5, 2003, Schedule 3.12 sets forth the jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of each such Subsidiary, 
the percentage of Borrower's ownership of the outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary directly owned by Borrower, the 
percentage of each Subsidiary's ownership of the outstanding Equity Interests of each other Subsidiary and the authorized, issued 
and outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary.  All of the outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary has been validly 
issued, are fully paid, and nonassessable.  Except as permitted to be issued or created pursuant to the terms hereof or as reflected 
on Schedule 3.12, there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, or rights (including preemptive rights) to 
acquire, and no outstanding securities or instruments convertible into any Equity Interests of the Borrower or any Subsidiary. 
 
SECTION 3.13.     Insurance.  Each of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries maintain with financially sound and reputable insurers, 
insurance with respect to its properties and business against such casualties and contingencies and in such amounts as are usually 
carried by businesses engaged in similar activities as the Borrower and the Subsidiaries and located in similar geographic areas in 
which the Borrower and the Subsidiaries operate. 
 
SECTION 3.14.     Labor Matters.  As of the Effective Date, there are no strikes, lockouts or slowdowns against the Borrower or any 
Subsidiary pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened.  The hours worked by and payments made to employees of the 
Borrower and the Subsidiaries have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other applicable Federal, state, 
local or foreign law dealing with such matters in any material respect.  All material amounts due from the Borrower or any 
Subsidiary, or for which any claim may be made against the Borrower or any Subsidiary, on account of wages and employee health and 
welfare insurance and other benefits, have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of the Borrower or such Subsidiary. 
 
SECTION 3.15.     Solvency. Immediately following the making of each Loan and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds 
of such Loans, (a) the fair value of the assets of Borrower and each Guarantor, at a fair valuation, will exceed its debts and 
 
                                                                38 
 
liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise; (b) the present fair saleable value of the property of Borrower and each 
Guarantor will be greater than the amount that will be required to pay the probable liability of its debts and other liabilities, 
subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities become absolute and matured; (c) Borrower and each 
Guarantor will be able to pay its debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and liabilities become 
absolute and matured; and (d) Borrower and each Guarantor will not have unreasonably small capital with which to conduct the 
business in which it is engaged as such business is now conducted and is proposed to be conducted following the Effective Date.  As 
used in this Section 3.15, the term "fair value" means the amount at which the applicable assets would change hands between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller within a reasonable time, each having reasonable knowledge of the relevant facts, neither being 
under any compulsion to act, with equity to both and "present fair saleable value" means the amount that may be realized if the 
applicable company's aggregate assets are sold with reasonable promptness in an arm's length transaction under present conditions 
for the sale of a comparable business enterprises. 
 
SECTION 3.16.     Margin Securities.  Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary is engaged principally, or as one of its important 
activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of 
Regulations U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), and, except for the repurchases of the Borrower's 
capital stock in accordance with the limitations in Section 6.08, no part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used to purchase or 
carry any margin stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock. 
 
SECTION 3.17.     Senior Indebtedness.  The Indebtedness under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitutes "Senior 
Indebtedness" and "Designated Senior Indebtedness" under and as defined in the Subordinated Debt Documents. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE IV. 
 
                                                              Conditions 
 
SECTION 4.01.     Effective Date. The obligations to consummate the amendment and restatement of the Prior Agreement as herein 
contemplated and the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans and of the Issuing Bank to issue Letters of Credit hereunder shall not 
become effective until the date on which each of the following conditions is satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 10.02) 
all of which must occur on or prior to February 28, 2003: 
 
(a)      The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received from each party hereto either (i) a counterpart of this Agreement signed on 
behalf of such party or (ii) written evidence satisfactory to the Agent (which may include telecopy transmission of a signed 
signature page of this Agreement) that such party has signed a counterpart of this Agreement. 
 
(b)      The Agent shall have received a favorable written opinion (addressed to the Agent and the Lenders and dated the Effective 



Date) of counsel for the Borrower, substantially in the form of Exhibit B, and covering such other matters relating to the Borrower, 
the Guarantor or the Loan Documents as the Agent shall reasonably request. The Borrower hereby requests such counsel to deliver such 
opinions. 
 
(c)      The Agent shall have received such documents and certificates as the Agent or its counsel may reasonably request relating 
to the organization, existence and good standing of the Borrower and each Guarantor, the power and authority of Borrower and each 
Guarantor to execute, deliver and perform the Loan Documents to which each is a party and any other legal matters relating to the 
Borrower, any Guarantor or the Loan Documents, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel. 
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(d)      The Agent, JP Morgan Securities Inc. and Banc America Securities LLC shall have received all fees and other amounts due and 
payable on or prior to the Effective Date, including with respect to the Agent and JP Morgan Securities Inc. only, to the extent 
invoiced, reimbursement or payment of all out-of-pocket expenses (including fees, charges and disbursements of counsel) required to 
be reimbursed or paid by the Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document. 
 
(e)      The Agent shall have received the Intercreditor Agreement executed by all parties thereto. 
 
(f)      The Agent shall have received payment of an amount equal to all unpaid interest and fees accrued under the Prior Agreement 
to the Effective Date, together with all other fees, expenses and other charges outstanding thereunder, including, without 
limitation, any charges due under Section 2.15 of the Prior Agreement arising as a result of the termination of the Interest Periods 
thereunder on the Effective Date. 
 
(g)      The Borrower shall have made a repayment of the Loan to the Agent and the Lenders to the extent necessary so that the total 
Revolving Exposure will not exceed the total Revolving Commitments under this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 
 
(h)      The Agent shall have received evidence that all Indebtedness outstanding under that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement 
dated September 21, 2001 between the Borrower and JPMorgan will be paid in full on the Effective Date. 
 
        (i)      The Agent shall have received: 
 
        (i) evidence that all "Loans" advanced by the "Lenders" and all "Holder Advances" advanced by the "Holders" (as such 
terms are defined in the documents executed in connection with the Synthetic Real Property Lease) will, on the Effective Date and 
with proceeds of Loans hereunder, either: (A) be repaid in full and/or (B) purchased in their entirety, in each case, either: 
 
        (x)     by a newly created or acquired Subsidiary of the Borrower whose purpose shall be (upon its creation and 
        at all times thereafter) solely to (A) hold the interest so acquired and/or hold, finance and develop the interest 
        in the Synthetic Property and other assets currently owned by the trusts established in connection with the 
        Synthetic Real Property Lease and (B) to acquire, hold, finance and develop a proposed data center facility 
        (including the real and personal property related thereto) within 100 miles of one of the Borrower's existing 
        customer service facilities (such subsidiary, herein the "Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary"); and/or 
 
        (y)      a Person unaffiliated with (but controlled by) the Borrower in which the Borrower or a Subsidiary has 
        made an advance or capital contribution for the purpose of consummating the transactions contemplated by this clause 
        (i) (the documentation evidencing the Borrower's or a Subsidiary's advance or capital contribution, herein the "SPV 
        Finance Documents"); 
 
        (ii)    evidence that, effective as of the Effective Date, the Synthetic Lenders (as defined by the Original Intercreditor 
        Agreement) shall not be entitled to the benefits of the Intercreditor Agreement (the transactions described in subclauses 
        (i) and (ii) of this clause (i) are herein the "TROL Loan and Holder Advance Repayment"); and 
 
                                                                40 
 
        (iii)   if a Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary is acquired or created: (1) a Subsidiary Joinder Agreement pursuant to which 
        such Subsidiary shall become a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty; (2) such executed documentation as the Agent may request to 
        cause the Equity Interest in such Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary to be pledged to the Collateral Agent under the terms of 
        the Security Agreement; and (3) such other documentation as the Agent may require to evidence the existence, goodstanding 
        and authority of the Borrower, the Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary and any other Persons to enter into the transactions 
        contemplated by this Section 4.01 (i). 
 
(j)     The Exiting Lender shall have received all amounts owed to it under the Prior Agreement. 
 
(k)     The representations and warranties of the Borrower and the Guarantors set forth in the Loan Documents shall be true and 
correct in all material respects. 
 
(l)     No Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
SECTION 4.02.   Each Credit Event. The obligations of each Lender to make a Loan on the occasion of any Borrowing, and of the 
Issuing Bank to issue, amend, renew or extend any Letter of Credit, is subject to receipt of the request therefor in accordance 
herewith and to the satisfaction of the following conditions: 
 
(a)      The representations and warranties of the Borrower and the Guarantors set forth in the Loan Documents shall be true and 
correct in all material respects on and as of the date of such Borrowing or the date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of 
such Letter of Credit, as applicable. 
 
(b)      At the time of and immediately after giving effect to such Borrowing or the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of 
such Letter of Credit, as applicable, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
Each Borrowing and each issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of a Letter of Credit shall be deemed to constitute a 
representation and warranty by the Borrower on the date thereof as to the matters specified in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this 
Section. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE V. 
 
                                                         Affirmative Covenants 
 
         Until the Revolving Commitments have expired or been terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees 
payable hereunder shall have been paid in full and all Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated and all LC Disbursements 
shall have been reimbursed, the Borrower covenants and agrees with the Lenders that: 
 
SECTION 5.01.     Financial Statements and Other Information.  The Borrower will furnish to the Agent and each Lender: 
 
(a)      within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, (i) its audited consolidated balance sheet and related 
statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in 
comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on by independent public accountants of recognized national 
standing (without a "going concern" or like qualification or exception and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of 
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such audit) to the effect that such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP 
consistently applied and (ii) the Borrower's unaudited consolidating balance sheet and related statement of operations as of the end 
of and for such year, both certified by one of its Financial Officers as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries on a consolidating basis in accordance with GAAP 
consistently applied; 
 
(b)      within 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, its unaudited 
consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such 
fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the 
corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year and its 
unaudited consolidating balance sheet and statement of operations for the same period, all certified by one of its Financial 
Officers as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and the 
Subsidiaries on a consolidated and consolidating basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to normal year-end 
audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes; 
 
(c)      concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a certificate of a Financial Officer 
of the Borrower (i) certifying as to whether a Default has occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof 
and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto, (ii) setting forth reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating 
compliance with Article VII, (iii) setting forth reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating the calculation of the Applicable 
Rate, and (iv) stating whether any change in GAAP or in the application thereof has occurred since the date of the Borrower's 
audited financial statements referred to in Section 3.04 and, if any such change has occurred, specifying the effect of such change 
on the financial statements accompanying such certificate; 
 
(d)      concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) above, a certificate of the accounting firm that 
reported on such financial statements stating whether they obtained knowledge during the course of their examination of such 
financial statements of any Default (which certificate may be limited to the extent required by accounting rules or guidelines); 
 
(e)      at least 45 days prior to the commencement of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a detailed consolidated budget for such 
fiscal year (including a projected consolidated balance sheet and related statements of projected operations and cash flow as of the 
end of and for such fiscal year and setting forth the assumptions used for purposes of preparing such budget) and, promptly when 
available, any significant revisions of such budget; 
 
(f)      promptly after the same become publicly available, copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements and other 
materials filed by the Borrower or any Subsidiary with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority 
succeeding to any or all of the functions of said Commission, or with any national securities exchange, or distributed by the 
Borrower to its shareholders generally, as the case may be; and 
 
(g)      promptly following any request therefor, such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial 
condition of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or compliance with the terms of any Loan Document, as the Agent or any Lender may 
reasonably request. 
 
SECTION 5.02.     Notices of Material Events.  The Borrower will furnish to the Agent and each Lender prompt written notice of the 
following: 
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(a)      the occurrence of any Default; 
 
(b)      the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority against 
or affecting, the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof that, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to result in a 
Material Adverse Effect; 
 
(c)      the occurrence of any ERISA Event that, alone or together with any other ERISA Events that have occurred, could reasonably 
be expected to result in liability of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount exceeding $5,000,000; and 
 
(d)      any other development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
Each notice delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a statement of a Financial Officer or other executive officer of 
the Borrower setting forth the details of the event or development requiring such notice and any action taken or proposed to be 
taken with respect thereto. 
 
SECTION 5.03.     Existence; Conduct of Business.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be 
done all things necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence; provided that the foregoing 
shall not prohibit any merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution permitted under Section 6.03.  The Borrower will, and will 
cause each of the Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect 
the rights, licenses, permits, privileges, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to the conduct of 
its business in such a manner so that no Material Adverse Effect will result. 
 
SECTION 5.04.     Payment of Obligations.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, pay its Indebtedness and 
other obligations, including Tax liabilities, before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where (a) the validity 
or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) the Borrower or such Subsidiary has set aside on 
its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP, (c) such contest effectively suspends collection of the 
contested obligation and the enforcement of any Lien securing such obligation and (d) the failure to make payment pending such 
contest could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
SECTION 5.05.     Maintenance of Properties.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, keep and maintain all 
property material to the conduct of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted. 
 
SECTION 5.06.     Insurance.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, maintain, with financially sound and 
reputable insurance companies, insurance with respect to its properties and business against such casualties and contingencies and 
in such amounts as shall be in accordance with the general practices of businesses engaged in similar activities as the Borrower and 
the Subsidiaries and in similar geographic areas in which the Borrower and the Subsidiaries operate, containing such terms, in such 
forms and for such periods as may be reasonable and prudent.  The Borrower will furnish to the Lenders, upon request of the Agent, 
information in reasonable detail as to the insurance so maintained. 
 
SECTION 5.07.     Casualty and Condemnation.  The Borrower will furnish to the Agent and the Lenders prompt written notice of any 
casualty or other insured damage to any portion of any property owned by the Borrower or any Subsidiary or the commencement of any 
action or proceeding for the taking of any such property or any part thereof or interest therein under power of eminent domain or by 
condemnation or similar proceeding that in any case could have a Material Adverse Effect. 
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SECTION 5.08.     Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, 
keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of all dealings and transactions in 
relation to its business and activities. The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, permit any representatives 
designated by the Agent or any Lender, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to examine and make 
extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with its officers and independent 
accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as reasonably requested. 



 
SECTION 5.09.     Compliance with Laws.  The Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, rules, 
regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property (including, without limitation, Environmental 
Laws), except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect. 
 
SECTION 5.10.     Use of Proceeds and Letters of Credit. The proceeds of the Loans and Swingline Loans will be used only for working 
capital, the repayment of Indebtedness to the extent permitted or otherwise not restricted hereunder (including, without limitation, 
prepayment of all Indebtedness under that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement dated September 21, 2001, between Borrower and 
JPMorgan, as amended and the financing of the TROL Loan and Holder Advance Repayment) and other general corporate needs of the 
Borrower. No part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that entails a violation 
of any of the Regulations of the Board, including Regulations U and X.  Letters of Credit will be issued only to support the general 
corporate needs of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries.  On the Effective Date, Borrower will (a) repay in full all Indebtedness 
outstanding under that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement dated September 21, 2001 between Borrower and JPMorgan and (b) consummate 
the TROL Loan and Holder Advance Repayment. 
 
SECTION 5.11.     Additional Subsidiaries; Additional Guarantors.  If any additional Subsidiary is formed or acquired after 
February 5, 2003 and if such Subsidiary is a Domestic Subsidiary, the Borrower will notify the Agent and the Lenders thereof and the 
Borrower will cause such Subsidiary to become a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty.  Borrower will and will cause the Subsidiaries 
(including any new Subsidiary formed or acquired and the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary), to comply with its obligations under 
the Intercreditor Agreement and Security Agreement arising in connection with any such formation or acquisition promptly after such 
Subsidiary is formed or acquired or, with respect to the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary, promptly when otherwise required under 
the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement. 
 
SECTION 5.12.     Further Assurances.  The Borrower will execute, and will cause each Guarantor to execute, any and all further 
documents, agreements and instruments, and take all such further actions, which may be required under any applicable law, or which 
either the Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably request, to effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents 
all at the expense of the Borrower. 
 
SECTION 5.13.     Compliance with Agreements.  The Borrower will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, comply with all agreements, 
contracts, and instruments binding on it or affecting its properties or business other than such noncompliance which is not 
reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE VI. 
 
                                                          Negative Covenants 
 
         Until the Revolving Commitments have expired or terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees 
payable hereunder have been paid in full and all Letters of Credit have expired or terminated and all LC Disbursements shall have 
been reimbursed, the Borrower covenants and agrees with the Lenders that: 
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SECTION 6.01.     Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities. 
 
(a)      The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness, 
except: 
 
(i)      Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents and the Subordinated Debt Documents; 
 
(ii)     Indebtedness existing on February 5, 2003 and set forth in Schedule 6.01 and extensions, renewals and replacements of any 
such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof or result in an earlier maturity date or decreased 
weighted average life thereof; 
 
(iii)    Indebtedness owed by a Subsidiary to Borrower or owed by a Subsidiary to its parent incurred in accordance with the 
restrictions set forth in Section 6.04; provided that (A) the obligations of each obligor of such Indebtedness must be subordinated 
in right of payment to any liability such obligor may have for the obligations arising hereunder from and after such time as any 
portion of the obligations arising hereunder or under any other Loan Documents shall become due and payable (whether at stated 
maturity, by acceleration or otherwise), (B) such Indebtedness must be incurred in the ordinary course of business or incurred to 
finance general corporate needs (or in the case of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary, incurred to finance the TROL Loan and 
Holder Advance Repayment), (C) such Indebtedness must be provided on terms customary for intercompany borrowings among the Borrower 
and the Subsidiaries or must be made on such other terms and provisions as the Agent may reasonably require; and (D) the sum of the 
aggregate outstanding amount of the obligations of Excluded Subsidiaries guaranteed pursuant to clause (iv) below plus the aggregate 
outstanding principal amount of the loans and advances made to Excluded Subsidiaries by Borrower and the Subsidiaries (such sum the 
"Excluded Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Amount") shall not at any time exceed the Dollar Amount equal to $20,000,000 (the "Excluded 
Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Limit"); 
 
(iv)     Guarantees by the Borrower or a Subsidiary of (A) Indebtedness of any of its wholly owned direct Subsidiaries; (B) trade 
accounts payable owed by any of its wholly owned direct Subsidiaries and arising in the ordinary course of business or (C) operating 
leases of any of its wholly owned direct Subsidiaries entered into in the ordinary course of business; provided that:  (1) the 
Indebtedness guaranteed is otherwise permitted hereunder; (2) no Default exists or would result from such Guarantee; and (3) the 
Excluded Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Amount shall not exceed the Excluded Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Limit; 
 
(v)      Guarantees incurred in the ordinary course of business with respect to surety and appeal bonds, performance and 
return-of-money bonds, and other similar obligations not exceeding at any time outstanding a Dollar Amount equal to $5,000,000 in 
aggregate liability; 
 
(vi)     Indebtedness constituting obligations to reimburse worker's compensation insurance companies for claims paid by such 
companies on Borrower's or a Subsidiaries' behalf in accordance with the policies issued to Borrower and the Subsidiaries; 
 
(vii)    Indebtedness arising in connection with Hedging Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business to enable 
Borrower or a Subsidiary (a) to limit the market risk of holding currency in either the cash or futures market or (b) to fix or 
limit Borrower's or any Subsidiaries' interest expense; 
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(viii)   The obligations arising under the Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility and the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility; 
 
(ix)     Indebtedness arising in connection with preferred Equity Interest permitted to be issued in accordance with Section 
6.01(b); 
 
(x)      Indebtedness for borrowed money not otherwise permitted under this Section 6.01 of any Excluded Subsidiary provided that 
the aggregate outstanding amount of all such Indebtedness shall not at any time exceed the Dollar Amount equal to $5,000,000; 
 
(xi)     Indebtedness arising as a result of the licensing of software by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries; and 
 
(xii)    The following Indebtedness which may only be created, incurred, assumed or permitted to exist if no Default exists or would 
result therefrom: 
 



(A)      Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any 
fixed or capital assets (but excluding the acquisition of assets which constitute a business unit of a Person), including Capital 
Lease Obligations and any Indebtedness assumed in connection with the acquisition of any such assets or secured by a Lien on any 
such assets prior to the acquisition thereof (including, without limitation, any assumption of a Capital Lease Obligation of a third 
party customer of Borrower or a Subsidiary in connection with (1) an outsourcing agreement entered into with such third party in the 
ordinary course of the Borrower's or such Subsidiary's business and (2) the transfer to Borrower or a Subsidiary of the assets 
financed by the Capital Lease Obligation assumed) and extensions, renewals and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not 
increase the outstanding principal amount thereof or result in an earlier maturity date or decreased weighted average life thereof; 
provided that (1) such Indebtedness (other than any Indebtedness incurred in connection with any sale and leaseback transactions 
permitted hereby) is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or 
improvement; (2) such Indebtedness does not exceed the amount of the purchase price or the costs of construction or improvement, as 
the case may be, of the applicable asset; and (3) after giving proforma effect to such Indebtedness, the Borrower shall be in 
compliance with Section 7.02 as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of Borrower; 
 
(B)      Indebtedness (including Capital Lease Obligations and obligations under Synthetic Leases) of the Borrower incurred to 
refinance the Conway Facility and extensions, renewals and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the 
outstanding principal amount thereof or result in an earlier maturity date or decreased weighted average life thereof; provided 
that: (1)  the aggregate principal amount thereof does not exceed $45,000,000; (2) such Indebtedness does not exceed the appraised 
value of the Conway Facility; (3) the maturity date of such Indebtedness does not occur prior to the Maturity Date; and (4) after 
giving proforma effect to such Indebtedness, the Borrower shall be in compliance with Section 7.02 as of the most recently ended 
fiscal quarter of Borrower prior to the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness; 
 
(C)      Indebtedness (including Capital Lease Obligations and obligations under Synthetic Leases) incurred to refinance the 
Synthetic Property and extensions, renewals and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal 
amount thereof or result in an earlier maturity date or decreased weighted average life thereof; provided that: (1)  the aggregate 
principal amount thereof does not exceed $45,800,000; (2) such Indebtedness does not exceed the appraised value of the Synthetic 
Property; (3) the maturity date of such Indebtedness does not occur prior to the Maturity Date; and (4) after giving proforma effect 
to such Indebtedness, the Borrower shall be in compliance with Section 7.02 as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of Borrower 
prior to the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness; 
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(D)      Indebtedness of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the date hereof or is merged with or into Borrower or a 
Subsidiary in accordance with the permissions herein set forth; provided that (1) such Indebtedness exists at the time such Person 
becomes a Subsidiary or was so merged and is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such Person becoming a Subsidiary 
or merger; (2) after giving proforma effect to such Indebtedness and the EBITDAR of the Person who became a Subsidiary, the Borrower 
shall be in compliance with Section 7.02 for the most recently ended fiscal quarter of Borrower prior to the date of the incurrence 
of such Indebtedness; 
 
(E)      Unsecured Indebtedness of Borrower and of the Guarantors of the type described in clauses (a), (b), (c), (e), and (l) of 
the definition thereof, in addition to the Indebtedness permitted by clauses (i) through (xi) of this Section 6.01(a) and the 
foregoing clauses (A) (B), (C) and (D); provided that after giving proforma effect to the Indebtedness incurred under the 
permissions of this clause (xii)(E), the Borrower shall be in compliance with Section 7.02 as of the most recently ended fiscal 
quarter of Borrower prior to the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness; 
 
(F)      Unsecured Indebtedness arising under Guarantees which are not permitted under clauses (ii), (iv) and (v) of this Section 
6.01(a) provided that, after giving proforma effect to the Indebtedness incurred under the permissions of this clause (xii)(F):  (i) 
the Borrower shall be in compliance with Section 7.02 as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of the Borrower prior to the date 
of the incurrence of such Indebtedness and (ii) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness incurred under the permissions of this clause 
(xii)(F) shall not exceed $4,000,000; and 
 
(G)      Indebtedness of Borrower and of the Guarantors of the type described in clauses (a), (b), (c), (e), (h) and (l) of the 
definition thereof, in addition to the Indebtedness permitted by clauses (i) through (xi) of this Section 6.01(a) and the foregoing 
clauses (A) through (F); provided that after giving proforma effect to the Indebtedness incurred under the permissions of this 
clause (xii)(G): (i) the Borrower's Leverage Ratio calculated on a proforma basis as of the most recent quarter end prior to the 
date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness shall not exceed 2.50 to 1.00, and (ii) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness incurred 
under the permission of this clause (xii)(G) shall not exceed $25,000,000. 
 
(b)      The Borrower will not, nor will they permit any Subsidiary to, issue any preferred stock or other preferred Equity 
Interests except for the preferred Equity Interest set forth in Schedule 6.01 and except for the issuance of preferred Equity 
Interests by the Subsidiaries as long as the aggregate amount to be paid in connection with the redemption of such preferred Equity 
Interests issued after the Effective Date does not exceed a Dollar Amount equal to $5,000,000 and no mandatory redemption of such 
preferred Equity Interest is due prior to the Maturity Date first established under the terms of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 6.02.     Liens.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any 
Lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired by it, or assign or sell any income or revenues (including accounts 
receivable) or rights in respect of any thereof, except: 
 
(i)      Permitted Encumbrances and Liens created by the Security Agreement, the Mortgages, the Intercreditor Agreement and the 
other Loan Documents; 
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(ii)     Any Lien on any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary existing on February 5, 2003 and set forth in 
Schedule 6.02; provided that (i) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary and 
(ii) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date hereof and extensions, renewals and replacements 
thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof; 
 
(iii)    Liens created in connection with the Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility and the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility on 
property leased pursuant to the applicable related leases as long as such Liens do not encumber any other property of the Borrower 
or any Subsidiary; 
 
(iv)     Liens encumbering the property of an Excluded Subsidiary securing Indebtedness of such Excluded Subsidiary incurred in 
accordance with the permissions of Section 6.01(a)(x); 
 
(v)      The following Liens which may only be created, incurred, assumed or permitted to exist if no Default exists or would result 
therefrom: 
 
(A)      Any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Borrower or any Subsidiary or existing 
on any property or asset of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the date hereof in accordance with Section 6.04 prior to the 
time such Person becomes a Subsidiary; provided that (1) such Lien is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such 
acquisition or such Person becoming a Subsidiary, as the case may be, (2) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or assets 
of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, (3) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date of such 
acquisition or the date such Person becomes a Subsidiary, as the case may be and extensions, renewals and replacements thereof that 
do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof; and (D) the Indebtedness secured thereby is otherwise permitted by Section 
6.01; 
 
(B)      Liens on fixed or capital assets (but excluding assets which constitute a business unit) acquired, constructed or improved 
by the Borrower or any Subsidiary; provided that (1) such security interests secure Indebtedness permitted by clause (xii)(A) of 



Section 6.01(a), (2) with respect to all transactions other than sale and leaseback transactions permitted hereby, such security 
interests and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of 
such construction or improvement, (3) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or 
improving such fixed or capital assets and (4) such security interests shall not apply to any other property or assets of the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary; 
 
(C)      Consensual Liens on the Conway Facility; provided that such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by clause (xii)(B) of 
Section 6.01(a); 
 
(D)      Consensual Liens on Synthetic Property, the other assets of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary, the SPV Finance 
Documents and the Equity Interest of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary; provided that such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted 
by clause (xii)(A) or (C) of Section 6.01(a); and 
 
(E)      Consensual Liens on assets which are not, or are not required to be, Collateral; provided, that such Liens secure 
Indebtedness permitted by clause (xii)(G) of Section 6.01(a). 
 
SECTION 6.03.     Fundamental Changes. 
 
(a)      The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any 
other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate or dissolve, except that, if at the time thereof and immediately 
after giving effect thereto no Default shall exist:  (i) any Subsidiary may merge into the Borrower in a transaction in which the 
Borrower is the surviving corporation, (ii) any Subsidiary may merge into or consolidate with any other Subsidiary if the surviving 
Person assumes the obligations of the applicable Subsidiary under the Loan Documents, if any, and is solvent as contemplated under 
Section 3.15 hereunder after giving effect to such merger or consolidation, except that a Significant Subsidiary that is a Domestic 
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Subsidiary may not be merged into or consolidated with a Foreign Subsidiary; (iii) any Excluded Subsidiary may liquidate or dissolve 
if its assets are transferred to Borrower or a Significant Subsidiary and the Borrower determines in good faith that such 
liquidation or dissolution is in the best interests of the Borrower and is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders; and (iv) 
Borrower or any Subsidiary may consolidate with or merge with any other Person in connection with an acquisition permitted by 
Section 6.04. 
 
(b)      The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of the Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any business other 
than businesses of the type conducted by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries on the date of execution of this Agreement and businesses 
reasonably related thereto. 
 
SECTION 6.04.     Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions.  The  Borrower will not, and will not permit any of the 
Subsidiaries to, purchase, hold or acquire any Equity Interests in or evidences of indebtedness or other securities (including any 
option, warrant or other right to acquire any of the foregoing) of, make or permit to exist any loans or advances to, Guarantee any 
obligations of, or make or permit to exist any investment or any other interest in, any other Person, or purchase or otherwise 
acquire (in one transaction or a series of transactions) any assets of any other Person constituting a business unit, except: 
 
(a)      Permitted Investments; 
 
(b)      Investments, loans and advances existing on February 5, 2003 and set forth on Schedule 6.04; 
 
(c)      Loans and advances to employees for business expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business; 
 
(d)      Loans and advances by Borrower or any Subsidiary to any of the Guarantors made in accordance with the restrictions set 
forth in Section 6.01; provided that, at the time any such loan or advance is made, no Default exists or would result therefrom; 
 
(e)      Loans and advances by Borrower or any Subsidiary to any of its directly owned Excluded Subsidiaries made in accordance with 
the restrictions set forth in Section 6.01; provided that, at the time of any such advance or loan, no Default exists or would 
result therefrom and at no time shall the Excluded Subsidiary Loan and Guaranty Amount exceed the Excluded Subsidiary Loan and 
Guaranty Limit; 
 
(f)      If no Default exists, Borrower and the Subsidiaries may make additional investments in or purchase Equity Interest of a 
wholly owned Subsidiary or a newly created Person organized by Borrower or a Subsidiary that, immediately after such investment or 
purchase, will be a wholly owned Subsidiary if the obligations under Section 5.11 shall be fulfilled and the aggregate amount of 
such contributions and investments made under the permissions of this clause (f) does not exceed a Dollar Amount equal to $100,000 
since the effective date of the Prior Agreement; 
 
(g)      Investments by Foreign Subsidiaries which are held or made outside the United States of the same or similar quality as the 
Permitted Investments; 
 
(h)      The Borrower or any Subsidiary (the "Acquiring Company") may acquire assets constituting a business unit of any Subsidiary 
(a "Transferring Subsidiary") if the Acquiring Company assumes all the Transferring Subsidiary's liabilities, including without 
limitation, all liabilities of the Transferring Subsidiary under the Loan Documents to which it is a party and if all of the capital 
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stock of the Transferring Subsidiary is owned directly or indirectly by the Acquiring Company (and, following such assignment and 
assumption, such Transferring Subsidiary may wind up, dissolve and liquidate) except that no Foreign Subsidiary may acquire assets 
of a Domestic Subsidiary in such a transaction; 
 
(i)      If no Default exists or would result therefrom, Borrower and any Subsidiary may acquire all the Equity Interest of any 
Person or the assets of a Person constituting a business unit if: 
 
(i)      The Target is involved in a similar type of business activities as the Borrower or the Subsidiary; 
 
(ii)     If the proposed acquisition is an acquisition of the stock of a Target, the acquisition will be structured so that the 
Target will become a Subsidiary wholly and directly owned by Borrower or will, simultaneously with the acquisition be merged into 
Borrower or a Subsidiary.  If the proposed acquisition is an acquisition of a business unit, the acquisition will be structured so 
that Borrower or a Subsidiary wholly and directly owned by Borrower will acquire the business unit; 
 
(iii)    The cash portion of the Purchase Price for the proposed acquisition in question together with the cash portion of the 
Purchase Prices paid for all acquisitions consummated in the same fiscal year does not exceed a Dollar Amount equal to the greater 
of (A) $75,000,000 or (B) twenty-five percent (25%) of the total of the following (i.e., ebitda), each calculated for Borrower 
without duplication on a consolidated basis for the most recently completed four fiscal quarter period prior to the date of 
determination: (a) Consolidated Net Income (as defined in Section 7.01); plus (b) any provision for (or less any benefit from) 
income or franchise taxes included in determining Consolidated Net Income; plus (c) interest expense (including the interest portion 
of Capital Lease Obligations) deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income; plus (d) amortization and depreciation expense 
deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income; 
 
(iv)     Borrower shall have provided to the Agent and each Lender prior to or on the date that the proposed acquisition is to be 
consummated the following:  (a) the name of the Target; (b) a description of the nature of the Target's business; and (c) a 
certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower (1) certifying that no Default exists or could reasonably be expected to occur as 
a result of the proposed acquisition, and (2) demonstrating compliance with the criteria set forth in clauses (iii) and (vi) of this 



Section 6.04(i) and that both as of the date of any such acquisition and immediately following such acquisition the Borrower is and 
on a pro forma basis projects that it will continue to be, in compliance with the financial covenants of this Agreement; 
 
(v)      Such acquisition has been:  (i) in the event a corporation or its assets is the Target, either (x) approved by the Board of 
Directors of the corporation which is the Target, or (y) recommended by such Board of Directors to the shareholders of such Target, 
(ii) in the event a partnership is the Target, approved by a majority (by percentage of voting power) of the partners of the Target, 
(iii) in the event an organization or entity other than a corporation or partnership is the Target, approved by a majority (by 
percentage of voting power) of the governing body, if any, or by a majority (by percentage of ownership interest) of the owners of 
the Target or (iv) in the event the corporation, partnership or other organization or entity which is the Target is in bankruptcy, 
approved by the bankruptcy court or another court of competent jurisdiction; and 
 
(vi)     After giving proforma effect to any Indebtedness and EBITDAR of the Person to be acquired or whose assets are to be 
acquired, Borrower shall have a Leverage Ratio of no more than 2.50 to 1.00 calculated for the most recently ended fiscal quarter of 
Borrower prior to the date of the proposed acquisition; 
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(j)      Guarantees constituting Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01; 
 
(k)      Investments received in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of, or settlement of delinquent accounts and 
disputes with, customers and suppliers, in each case in the ordinary course of business; 
 
(l)      Advances and capital contributions made in a Person under the terms of Section 4.01(i)(i)(y) in connection with the TROL 
Loan and Holder Advance Repayment; and 
 
(m)      In addition to the investments, loans and advances permitted by clauses (a) through (l) of this Section 6.04, any other 
investment, loan or advance by Borrower or Guarantor; provided that as of the date of any such proposed investment, advance or loan 
and after giving effect thereto:  (i) no Default exists, (ii) the sum of the aggregate original book value of all investments made 
under the permissions of this Section 6.04(m) plus the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all loans and advances made under 
the permissions of this Section 6.04(m) shall never exceed a Dollar Amount equal to the greater of (x) $45,000,000 or (y) twelve 
percent (12%) of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth (as defined in Section 7.01) calculated as of the date of determination, (iii) the 
Borrower's Leverage Ratio calculated for the most recently ended fiscal quarter of Borrower prior to such date as of the date of 
such investment, loan or advance shall not exceed 2.50 to 1.00, and (iv) the Borrower shall promptly comply with the terms of the 
Security Agreement to pledge to the Collateral Agent any assets acquired in connection with any such investment, loan or advance. 
 
SECTION 6.05.     Asset Sales; Equity Issuances.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of the Subsidiaries to, sell, 
transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, including any Equity Interest owned by it, nor will the Borrower permit any of 
the Subsidiaries to issue any additional Equity Interest in such Subsidiary, except: 
 
(a)      sales, transfers and dispositions of inventory, used or surplus equipment and Permitted Investments in the ordinary course 
of business and the sale, lease or sublease of equipment to customers in the ordinary course of business; 
 
(b)      sales, transfers and dispositions to the Borrower or a Subsidiary in accordance with Section 6.04; 
 
(c)      a Subsidiary may sell preferred Equity Interest issued by such Subsidiary in accordance with the limitations set forth in 
Section 6.01(b); 
 
(d)      sales, transfers and dispositions of the Equity Interests in the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary, the Synthetic Property 
or the other assets of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary in connection with, and to facilitate the financing of, the Synthetic 
Real Property or the other assets of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary in a transaction permitted by Section 6.01 (a)(xii)(C) 
or (A); and 
 
(e)      sales, transfers and other dispositions of assets that are not permitted by any other clause of this Section 6.05 (such 
other sales, transfers and other dispositions herein the "Dispositions"); if: (1) no Default exists or would result therefrom, (2) 
the Borrower's Leverage Ratio calculated both prior to and after giving effect to the proposed Disposition for the most recently 
ended fiscal quarter prior to such date shall not exceed 2.50 to 1.00, and (3) after giving effect to such Disposition, the 
aggregate book value of all such assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of since the Effective Date under the permissions of 
this clause (e) would not exceed a Dollar Amount equal to the greater of (i) $50,000,000 or (ii) twelve percent (12%) of the 
Accumulated Asset Value, calculated as of the date of the Disposition.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may make a 
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Disposition and the book value of the assets shall not be required to be included in the foregoing computation if no Default exists 
or would result from such Disposition and (1) such Disposition is pursuant to the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility or another sale 
and leaseback transaction permitted under Section 6.06 or (2) the Borrower shall, within 180 days after such Disposition invest the 
Net Proceeds thereof in Collateral for use in the business of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries; 
 
provided that all sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted hereby (other than those permitted by clause (b) above) 
shall be made for fair value.  For the purposes of this Section 6.05, "Accumulated Asset Value" means, as of the date of 
determination, the sum of the Asset Value (as defined in Section 7.04) as of December 31, 2001 plus (b) the increases (or minus the 
decreases) in the Asset Value since December 31, 2001 as reflected in the Borrower's consolidated balance sheet for each completed 
calendar year occurring subsequent to December 31, 2001 prior to the date of determination. 
 
SECTION 6.06.     Sale and Leaseback Transactions. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of the Subsidiaries to, enter into 
any arrangement, directly or indirectly, whereby it shall sell or transfer any property, real or personal, used or useful in its 
business, whether now owned or hereinafter acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it intends to 
use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property sold or transferred, except for any such sale of any fixed or 
capital assets that is made for cash consideration in an amount not less than the cost of such fixed or capital asset and the lease 
thereof pursuant to: 
 
(i)      the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility, the Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility or any lease of the Synthetic Property or the 
other assets of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary (including the proposed data center facility); or 
 
(ii)     any other lease otherwise permitted hereby of property which is located or delivered in Arkansas and was purchased under 
the Arkansas Enterprise Zone Program which allows the Borrower or a Subsidiary to obtain a refund of Arkansas state sales and use 
taxes with respect thereto; or 
 
(iii)    any other lease otherwise permitted hereby if, after giving effect to any sale in connection with a lease permitted under 
this clause (iii), the aggregate book value of all assets sold pursuant to the permissions of this Section 6.06(iii) in any fiscal 
year does not exceed a Dollar Amount equal to $50,000,000. 
 
SECTION 6.07.     Hedging Agreements.  The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of the Subsidiaries to, enter into any Hedging 
Agreement, other than Hedging Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business to hedge or mitigate risks to which the 
Borrower or any Subsidiary is exposed in the conduct of its business and the management of its liabilities. 
 
SECTION 6.08.     Restricted Payments; Synthetic Purchase Agreements. 
 
(a)      The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, declare or make, or agree to pay or make, directly or 
indirectly, any Restricted Payment, or incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to do so, except, that: 



 
(i)      Subsidiaries may declare and pay dividends ratably with respect to their capital stock; 
 
(ii)     Borrower and any Subsidiary may: (A) pay Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents; (B) prepay on the Effective Date 
all Indebtedness outstanding under that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement dated September 21, 2001 between Borrower and JPMorgan; 
and (C) prepay on the Effective Date all "Loans" advanced by the "Lenders" and all "Holder Advances" advanced by the "Holders" (as 
such terms are defined in the documents executed in connection with the Synthetic Real Property Lease); 
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(iii)    Borrower and any Subsidiary may make regularly scheduled interest and principal payments as and when due in respect of any 
Indebtedness, other than payments in respect of the Subordinated Debt prohibited by the subordination provisions thereof; 
 
(iv)     Borrower and any Subsidiary may refinance any Indebtedness to the extent permitted by Section 6.01; 
 
(v)      Borrower and any Subsidiary may pay secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of 
the property or assets securing such Indebtedness; 
 
(vi)     Subsidiaries may make payment in respect of preferred Equity Interest issued under the permissions of Section 6.01(b) when 
such payments become due; 
 
(vii)    If no Default exists or would result, Borrower and any Subsidiary may prepay: (A) Indebtedness which is senior in right of 
payment to the Subordinated Debt, (B) Capital Lease Obligations and (C) obligations under Synthetic Leases (including, without 
limitation, the obligations under the Synthetic Airplane Lease Facility and the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility); provided that 
the aggregate amount of the prepayments made under the permissions of this clause (vii) shall not exceed $15,000,000 each fiscal 
year; 
 
(viii)   In addition to the Restricted Payments permitted by clauses (i) through (vii) of this Section 6.08(a), the Borrower may 
declare and make any other Restricted Payment if: 
 
(A)      no Default exists or would result therefrom; 
 
(B)      after giving proforma effect to the proposed Restricted Payment, the Borrower's Leverage Ratio calculated on a proforma 
basis as of the most recent quarter end prior to the date of payment does not exceed 2.50 to 1.00; and 
 
(C)      the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments made under the permissions of this clause (viii) after the Effective Date and 
made under clause (a)(iii) of Section 6.08 of the Prior Agreement since November 12, 2002 shall not at any time exceed: 
 
(1)      either $50,000,000 or if after giving proforma effect to the proposed Restricted Payment, the Borrower's Leverage Ratio 
calculated on a proforma basis as of the most recent quarter end prior to the date of payment does not exceed 2.00 to 1.00, then 
$75,000,000; plus 
 
(2)      if the following conditions are satisfied as of the date of the payment, $15,000,000: 
 
(x)      Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a Covenant Change Notice; 
 
(y)      after giving proforma effect to the proposed payment, the Borrower's Leverage Ratio calculated on a proforma basis as of 
         the most recent quarter end prior to the date of payment does not exceed 1.50 to 1.00; 
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(z)      the total Revolving Exposures shall not exceed an amount equal to 40% of the total Revolving Commitments; and 
 
(ix)     In addition to the Restricted Payments permitted by clauses (i) through (viii) of this Section 6.08(a), the Borrower may 
prepay or repurchase all or any portion of the Subordinated Debt on or after January 15, 2005 if as of the date of any such 
prepayment or repurchase and after giving effect thereto: 
 
(A)      no Default exists or would result therefrom; 
 
(B)      Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a Covenant Change Notice; 
 
(C)      after giving proforma effect to the proposed prepayment or repurchase, the Borrower's Leverage Ratio calculated on a 
proforma basis as of the most recent quarter end prior to the date of prepayment or repurchase does not exceed 1.50 to 1.00; and 
 
(D)      the total Revolving Exposures shall not exceed an amount equal to 40% of the total Revolving Commitments. 
 
Any prepayment or repurchase of Subordinated Debt made on or after January 15, 2005 shall first be counted in determining the use of 
the $50,000,000 or $75,000,000, as applicable, basket set forth above in clause (viii)(C) of this Section 6.08(a) (if any of such 
basket is then available) and then shall be made only under the permissions of this clause (ix) and not counted as a use for 
purposes of determining compliance with clause (viii) of this Section 6.08(a). 
 
(b)      Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary shall enter into or be party to, or make any payment under, any Synthetic Purchase 
Agreement unless (i) in the case of any Synthetic Purchase Agreement related to any Equity Interest, (A) the payments required to be 
made thereunder are limited to the $1,000,000 and (B) the obligations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries thereunder are 
subordinated to the Indebtedness and other obligations arising hereunder and under the other Loan Documents on terms satisfactory to 
the Required Lenders and (ii) in the case of any Synthetic Purchase Agreement related to any subordinated Indebtedness, (A) the 
payments required to be made thereunder are limited to the amount permitted under Section 6.08(a) and (B) the obligations of the 
Borrower and the Subsidiaries thereunder are subordinated to the Indebtedness and other obligations arising hereunder and under the 
other Loan Documents to at least the same extent as the subordinated Indebtedness to which such Synthetic Purchase Agreement 
relates.  The Borrower shall promptly deliver to the Agent a copy of any Synthetic Purchase Agreement to which it becomes party. 
 
SECTION 6.09.     Transactions with Affiliates.  The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, sell, lease or 
otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise 
engage in any other transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except:  (a) transactions in the ordinary course of business that are 
at prices and on terms and conditions not less favorable to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's- 
length basis from unrelated third parties, and (b) any Restricted Payment permitted by Section 6.08. 
 
SECTION 6.10.     Restrictive Agreements.  The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any  Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, 
enter into, incur or permit to exist any agreement or other arrangement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) 
the ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon any of its property or assets, or 
(b) the ability of any Subsidiary to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to any shares of its capital stock or to make 
or repay loans or advances to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary or to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other 
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Subsidiary; provided that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law, by any Loan Document or 
by any Subordinated Debt Document, (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions existing on the Effective Date 
and identified on Schedule 6.10 (but shall apply to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification expanding the 
scope of, any such restriction or condition), (iii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary restrictions and conditions contained 



in agreements relating to the sale of a Subsidiary pending such sale, provided such restrictions and conditions apply only to the 
Subsidiary that is to be sold and such sale is permitted hereunder, (iv) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and 
conditions imposed by the documentation executed in connection with the financing permitted by Section 6.01(a)(xii)(C) as long as 
such restrictions and conditions are no more onerous to the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, and no more beneficial to the parties 
entitled to the protections thereof, than the restrictions and conditions hereunder, (v) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply 
to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement relating to secured Indebtedness permitted by this Agreement if such 
restrictions or conditions apply only to the property or assets securing such Indebtedness and (vi) clause (a) of the foregoing 
shall not apply to customary provisions in leases restricting the assignment thereof. 
 
SECTION 6.11.     Amendment of Organizational Documents.  The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, amend, modify 
or waive any of its rights under its certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents in a manner that would 
have a Material Adverse Affect. 
 
SECTION 6.12.     Subordinated Debt Documents.  Borrower will not and will not permit any Subsidiaries to change or amend the terms 
of the Subordinated Debt Documents, if the effect of such amendment is to:  (a) increase the interest rate on the Subordinated Debt; 
(b) shorten the time of payments of principal or interest due under the Subordinated Debt Documents; (c) change any event of default 
or any covenant to a materially more onerous or restrictive provision; (d) change the subordination provisions thereof (or the 
subordination terms of any guaranty thereof); (e) change or amend any other term if such change or amendment would materially 
increase the obligations of the obligor or confer additional material rights on the holders of the Subordinated Debt in a manner 
materially adverse to Agent or any Lender as senior creditors or the interests of the Lenders under this Agreement or any other Loan 
Document in any respect; or (f) in any manner amend any term of any Subordinated Debt Document relating to the prohibition of the 
creation or assumption of any Lien upon the properties or assets of Borrower or any Subsidiary or relating to the prohibition of 
creation, existence or effectiveness of any consensual encumbrance or restriction of any kind on the ability of any Subsidiary to 
(i) pay dividends or make any other distribution; (ii) subject to subordination provisions, pay any Indebtedness owed to Borrower or 
any Subsidiary; (iii) make loans or advances to Borrower or any Subsidiary; or (iv) transfer any of its property or assets to 
Borrower or any Subsidiary. 
 
SECTION 6.13.     Change in Fiscal Year.  Borrower will not change the manner in which either the last day of its fiscal year or the 
last days of the first three fiscal quarters of its fiscal year is calculated. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE VII. 
 
                                                          Financial Covenants 
 
SECTION 7.01.     Consolidated Net Worth. The Borrower will at all times maintain Consolidated Tangible Net Worth (as defined below) 
in an amount not less than (a) $285,000,000 plus (b) 50% of the Borrower's Consolidated Net Income for the period from January 1, 
2003 through the fiscal quarter to have completely elapsed as of the date of determination; plus (c) 100% of the net cash proceeds 
of any sale of Equity Interests or other contributions to the capital of the Borrower received by Borrower since January 1, 2003, 
calculated without duplication.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 
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                  "Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period and any Person (a "Subject Person"), such Subject Person's 
         consolidated net income (or loss) determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding any extraordinary, nonrecurring, 
         nonoperating or noncash gains or losses, including or in addition, the following: 
 
                           (i)      the income (or loss) of any Person (other than a subsidiary) in which the Subject Person 
         or a subsidiary has an ownership interest; provided, however, that (A) Consolidated Net Income shall include amounts 
         in respect of the income of such when actually received in cash by the Subject Person or such subsidiary in the form 
         of dividends or similar distributions and (B) Consolidated Net Income shall be reduced by the aggregate amount of 
         all investments, regardless of the form thereof, made by the Subject Person or any of its subsidiaries in such 
         Person for the purpose of funding any deficit or loss of such Person 
 
                           (ii)     the income of any subsidiary to the extent the payment of such income in the form of a 
         distribution or repayment of any Indebtedness to the Subject Person or a subsidiary is not permitted, whether on 
         account of any restriction in by-laws, articles of incorporation or similar governing document, any agreement or any 
         law, statute, judgment, decree or governmental order, rule or regulation applicable to such subsidiary; 
 
                           (iii)    any gains or losses accrued on foreign currency receivables or on foreign currency 
         payables of the Subject Person or a subsidiary organized under the laws of the United States which are not realized 
         in a cash transaction; 
 
                           (iv)     the income or loss of any foreign subsidiary or of any foreign Person (other than a 
         subsidiary) in which the Subject Person or subsidiary has an ownership interest to the extent that the equivalent 
         Dollar Amount of the income contains increases or decreases due to the fluctuation of a foreign currency exchange 
         rate after the Effective Date; 
 
                           (v)      the income or loss of any Person acquired by the Subject Person or a subsidiary for any 
         period prior to the date of such acquisition; and 
 
                           (vi)     the income from any sale of assets in which the accounting basis of such assets had been 
         the book value of any Person acquired by the Subject Person or a subsidiary prior to the date such Person became a 
         subsidiary or was merged into or consolidated with the Subject Person or a subsidiary. 
 
                           The gains or losses of the type described in clauses (i) through (vi) of this definition shall 
         only be excluded in determining consolidated net income if the aggregate amount of such gains or losses exceed, in 
         either case (i.e., gains or losses), $1,000,000 in the period of calculation.  If a gain or loss is to be excluded 
         from the calculation of consolidated net income pursuant to the foregoing $1,000,000 threshold, the whole gain or 
         loss shall be excluded, not just that amount in excess of the threshold. 
 
                  "Consolidated Tangible Net Worth" means, at any particular time, the sum of (i) all amounts which, in 
         conformity with GAAP, would be included as stockholders' equity on a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and 
         the Subsidiaries; minus (ii) the sum of the following:  (a) the amount by which stockholders' equity has been 
         increased by the write-up of any asset of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries after January 1, 2003, plus (b) the 
         amount of net deferred income tax assets (less adjustments included in Consolidated Net Income after January 1, 
         2003), plus (c) any cash held in a sinking fund or other analogous fund established for the purpose of redemption, 
         retirement or prepayment of capital stock or Indebtedness, plus (d) the cumulative foreign currency translation 
         adjustment (less adjustments included in Consolidated Net Income after January 1, 2003), plus (e) the amount at 
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         which shares of capital stock of the Borrower is contained among the assets on the consolidated balance sheet of the 
         Borrower and the Subsidiaries, plus (f) the amount of any preferred stock, plus (g) to the extent included in 
         clause (i) above of this definition, the amount properly attributable to the minority interests, if any, of other 
         Persons in the stock, additional paid-in capital, and retained earnings of the Subsidiaries, plus (h) the amount of 
         intangible assets carried on the balance sheet of the Borrower at such date determined in accordance with GAAP on a 
         consolidated basis, including goodwill, patents, trademarks, tradenames, organizational expenses, deferred financing 
         changes, debt acquisition costs, start up costs, preoperating costs, prepaid pension costs, or any other similar 
         deferred charges but not including deferred charges relating to data processing contracts and software development 



         costs. 
 
SECTION 7.02.     Leverage Ratio.  As of the last day of each fiscal quarter ending after September 30, 2002, the Borrower shall not 
permit the ratio of Total Indebtedness as of such date to Adjusted EBITDAR for the four (4) Fiscal Quarters then ended to exceed 
3.00 to 1.00; provided, that, if the Borrower shall have delivered a Covenant Change Notice to the Agent, then as of the last day of 
each fiscal quarter ending after such delivery, the Borrower shall not permit the ratio of Total Indebtedness as of such date to 
Adjusted EBITDAR for the four (4) Fiscal Quarters then ended to exceed 2.00 to 1.00.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms 
have the following meanings: 
 
                  "Adjusted EBITDAR" means, for any period (the "Subject Period"), the total of the following calculated 
         without duplication for such period:  (a) Borrower's EBITDAR; plus (b), on a pro forma basis, the pro forma EBITDAR 
         of each Prior Target or, as applicable, the EBITDAR of a Prior Target attributable to the assets acquired from such 
         Prior Target, for any portion of such Subject Period occurring prior to the date of the acquisition of such Prior 
         Target or the related assets but only to the extent such EBITDAR for such Prior Target can be established in a 
         manner satisfactory to the Agent based on financial statements of the Prior Target prepared in accordance with GAAP; 
         minus (c) the EBITDAR of each Prior Company and, as applicable but without duplication, the EBITDAR of Borrower and 
         each Subsidiary attributable to all Prior Assets, in each case for any portion of such Subject Period occurring 
         prior to the date of the disposal of such Prior Companies or Prior Assets. 
 
                  "EBITDAR" means, for any period and any Person, the total of the following each calculated without 
         duplication on a consolidated basis for such period:  (a) Consolidated Net Income (as defined in Section 7.01); plus 
         (b) any provision for (or less any benefit from) income or franchise taxes included in determining Consolidated Net 
         Income; plus (c) interest expense (including the interest portion of Capital Lease Obligations) deducted in 
         determining Consolidated Net Income; plus (d) amortization and depreciation expense deducted in determining 
         Consolidated Net Income; plus (e) all rentals paid or payable under Synthetic Leases and under any other operating 
         leases which, in each case, have been deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income. 
 
                  "Prior Assets" means assets that have been disposed of by a division or branch of Borrower or a Subsidiary 
         in a transaction with an unaffiliated third party approved in accordance with this Agreement which would not make 
         the seller a "Prior Company" but constitute all or substantially all of the assets of such division or branch. 
 
                                                                57 
 
                  "Prior Company" means any Subsidiary whose capital stock or other Equity Interests have been disposed of, 
         or all or substantially all of whose assets have been disposed of, in each case, in a transaction with an 
         unaffiliated third party approved in accordance with this Agreement. 
 
                  "Prior Target" means all Targets acquired or whose assets have been acquired in a transaction permitted by 
         Section 6.04. 
 
                  "Total Indebtedness" means, at the time of determination, the sum of the following determined for Borrower 
         and the Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (without duplication):  (a) the amount of outstanding Loans under this 
         Agreement as of the date of determination; plus (b) all obligations for borrowed money, other than the Loans, or 
         with respect to deposits or advances of any kind; plus (c) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, notes, 
         debentures, or other similar instruments, other than the Loans; plus (d) all obligations of such Person upon which 
         interest charges are customarily paid, other than the Loans; plus (e) all obligations of such Person under 
         conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person; plus (f) all 
         obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current 
         accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business); plus (g) all obligations of others secured by (or for 
         which the holder of such obligations has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on 
         property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed 
         (provided that for purposes of this clause (g) the amount of any such Indebtedness shall be deemed not to exceed the 
         higher of the market value or the book value of such assets); plus (h) all Capital Lease Obligations; plus (i) all 
         obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person: (i) as an account party in respect of letters of credit and 
         letters of guaranty; (ii) arising under all Guarantees of such Person incurred under the permissions of Section 
         6.01(a)(xii)(F); and (iii) arising under the Guarantees of such Person described under item C on Schedule 6.01; plus 
         (j) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances; plus (k) all 
         obligations, contingent or otherwise, for the payment of money under any non-compete, consulting or similar 
         agreement entered into with the seller of a Target or any other similar arrangements providing for the deferred 
         payment of the purchase price for an acquisition; plus (l) all Indebtedness arising in connection with Hedging 
         Agreements and preferred Equity Interests; plus (m) the net present value of all future payments to be made under 
         all Synthetic Leases and any other operating leases (calculated by discounting all payments from their respective 
         due dates to the date of determination in accordance with accepted financial practice, on the basis of a 360 day 
         year and at a discount factor equal to 8%); minus (n) to the extent included in clauses (a) through (m) of this 
         definition, the amount reflected on the Borrower's consolidated balance sheet as software license liabilities.  The 
         deferred purchase price of property or services to be paid through earnings of the purchaser to the extent such 
         amount is not characterized as liabilities in accordance with GAAP shall not be included in "Total Indebtedness". 
 
SECTION 7.03.     Fixed Charge Coverage.   As of the last day of each fiscal quarter ending after September 30, 2002, the Borrower 
shall not permit the ratio of (a) the sum of the following for Borrower and the Subsidiaries calculated on a consolidated basis in 
accordance with GAAP:  (i) EBITDAR; minus (ii) Capital Expenditures to (b) Fixed Charges, all calculated for four (4) consecutive 
fiscal quarters then ended, to be less than 1.25 to 1.00.  As used in this Section 7.03, "Fixed Charges" means for any period, the 
sum of the following for the Borrower and the Subsidiaries calculated on a consolidated basis without duplication for such period: 
(a) the aggregate amount of interest, including payments in the nature of interest under Capitalized Lease Obligations; (b) the 
scheduled amortization of Indebtedness paid or payable; (c) operating lease rentals (including, rentals from Synthetic Leases); 
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(d) all dividends and other distributions made by Borrower on account of Equity Interests (excluding any repurchases of the 
Borrower's capital stock which are held as treasury stock or cancelled after the purchase); (e) payments on leases or other 
obligations assumed from customers under service agreements to the extent such arrangements are not treated as operating leases, 
Capital Lease Obligations or long term debt; and (f) prepayments of Indebtedness made under the permissions set forth in Section 
6.08(a)(vii). 
 
SECTION 7.04.     Asset Coverage.  At all times after September 30, 2002, the Borrower shall not permit the ratio of the Asset Value 
to Senior Debt to be less than 2.00 to 1.00; provided, that, if the Borrower shall have delivered a Covenant Change Notice to the 
Agent, then at all times after such delivery, the Borrower shall not permit the ratio of the Asset Value to Senior Debt to be less 
than 3.00 to 1.00.  As used in this Section 7.04, (i) the term "Asset Value" means, as of the date of determination, the sum of the 
book values of the following for Borrower and the Subsidiaries calculated on a consolidated basis:  (a) accounts receivable of 
Borrower and all the Subsidiaries and (b) property, plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation and amortization and (ii) 
the term "Senior Debt" means, at the time of determination, the sum of the following determined for Borrower and the Subsidiaries on 
a consolidated basis (without duplication): (a) the amount of outstanding Loans under this Agreement as of the date of 
determination; plus (b) all obligations for borrowed money, other than the Loans, or with respect to deposits or advances of any 
kind; plus (c) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, or other similar instruments, other than the 
obligations of such Person upon which interest charges are customarily paid, other than the Loans; plus (e) all obligations of such 
Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person; plus (f) all 
obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts payable 
incurred in the ordinary course of business); plus (g) all obligations of others secured by (or for which the holder of such 
obligations has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, 



whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed (provided that for purposes of this clause (g) the amount of any 
such Indebtedness shall be deemed not to exceed the higher of the market value or the book value of such assets); plus (h) all 
Capital Lease Obligations; plus (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of 
letters of credit and letters of guaranty; plus (j) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' 
acceptances; plus (k) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, for the payment of money under any noncompete, consulting or similar 
agreement entered into with the seller of a Target or any other similar arrangements providing for the deferred payment of the 
purchase price for an acquisition; plus (l) all Indebtedness arising in connection with Hedging Agreements; minus (m), to the extent 
included in clauses (a) through (l) of this definition, the sum of (x) the amount reflected on the Borrower's consolidated balance 
sheet as software license liabilities, and (y) any Indebtedness which by its terms is subordinated in right of payment to the Loans. 
The deferred purchase price of property or services to be paid through earnings of the purchaser to the extent such amount is not 
characterized as liabilities in accordance with GAAP shall not be included in "Senior Debt". 
 
                                                                ARTICLE VIII. 
 
                                                           Events of Default 
 
         If any of the following events ("Events of Default") shall occur: 
 
(a)      the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Loan or any reimbursement obligation in respect of any LC Disbursement 
when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or 
otherwise; 
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(b)      the Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount (other than an amount referred to in 
clause (a) of this Article) payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, when and as the same shall become due and 
payable, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of three Business Days; 
 
(c)      any representation, warranty or certification made or deemed made by or on behalf of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in or 
in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, or in any report, certificate, 
financial statement or other document furnished pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification 
thereof or waiver thereunder, shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respects when made or deemed made; 
 
(d)      the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Sections 5.02, 5.03 (with 
respect to the existence of the Borrower), 5.10 or in Articles VI or VII, or in Article IV of the Security Agreement, in any 
Mortgage or in the Intercreditor Agreement; 
 
(e)      the Borrower or any Guarantor shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in any Loan 
Document (other than those specified in clause (a), (b) or (d) of this Article), and such failure shall continue unremedied for a 
period of 30 days after notice thereof from the Agent to the Borrower (which notice will be given at the request of any Lender); 
 
(f)      the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall fail to make any payment (whether of principal or interest and regardless of amount) 
in respect of any Material Indebtedness, (including, Indebtedness arising in connection with the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility 
and the Subordinated Debt Documents) when and as the same shall become due and payable; 
 
(g)      any event or condition occurs that results in any Material Indebtedness (including, Indebtedness arising in connection with 
the Synthetic Equipment Lease Facility and the Subordinated Debt Documents) becoming due prior to its scheduled maturity or that 
enables or permits the holder or holders of any Material Indebtedness or any trustee or agent on its or their behalf to cause any 
Material Indebtedness to become due, or to require the prepayment, repurchase, redemption or defeasance thereof, prior to its 
scheduled maturity; provided that this clause (g) shall not apply to secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the 
voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness; 
 
(h)      an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, 
reorganization or other relief in respect of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or its debts, or of a substantial part of its assets, 
under any  Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the 
appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Borrower or any Subsidiary or 
for a substantial part of its assets, and, in any such case, such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an
order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered; 
 
(i)      the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, 
reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or 
hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or 
petition described in clause (h) of this Article, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, 
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sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Borrower or any Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file 
an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding, (v) make a general assignment 
for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; 
 
(j)      the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall become unable, admit in writing its inability, or fail generally to pay its debts as 
they become due; 
 
(k)      one or more judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of $5,000,000 shall be rendered against the 
Borrower, any Subsidiary or any combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 consecutive days 
during which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or 
levy upon any assets of  the Borrower or any Subsidiary to enforce any such judgment; 
 
(l)      an ERISA Event shall have occurred that, in the opinion of the Required Lenders, when taken together with all other ERISA 
Events that have occurred, could or does result in a liability equal to or in excess of $5,000,000 or could reasonably be expected 
to result in a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
(m)      a Change in Control shall have occurred and a period of 60 days shall have elapsed after the occurrence thereof; 
 
(n)      any Lien purported to be created under any Loan Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by Borrower or any 
Guarantor not to be, a valid and perfected Lien on any Collateral, with the priority required hereby, except (i) as a result of the 
sale or other disposition of the applicable Collateral in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents or (ii) as a result of 
the Agent's failure to maintain possession of any stock certificates, promissory notes or other instruments delivered to it under 
the Security Agreement; 
 
(o)      the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement); 
 
(p)      either the Subsidiary Guaranty, the Security Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement or any Mortgage shall for any reason 
cease to be in full force and effect and valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms after its date of execution, or 
the Borrower or any Guarantor shall so state in writing; or 
 
(q)      the Borrower or any Guarantor shall suffer any uninsured, unindemnified or under insured loss of Collateral in excess of 
$5,000,000. 
 



then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (h) or (i) of this Article), and 
at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Agent may, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by 
notice to the Borrower, take either or both of the following actions, at the same or different times:  (i) terminate the Revolving 
Commitments, and thereupon the Revolving Commitments shall terminate immediately, and (ii) declare the Loans then outstanding to be 
due and payable in whole (or in part, in which case any principal not so declared to be due and payable may thereafter be declared 
to be due and payable), and thereupon the principal of the Loans so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest 
thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without 
notice of intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration, presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are 
hereby waived by the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (h) or (i) of this Article, 
the  Revolving Commitments shall automatically terminate and the principal of the Loans then outstanding, together with accrued 
interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, 
without notice of intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration, presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of 
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which are hereby waived by the Borrower.  In addition to the other rights and remedies that the Lenders may have upon the occurrence 
of an Event of Default, the Required Lenders may direct:  (i) the Collateral Agent to exercise the rights and remedies available to 
the Collateral Agent under the Intercreditor Agreement, the Mortgages and the Security Agreements and (ii) the Agent to exercise the 
rights and remedies available to it under the Subsidiary Guaranty. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE IX. 
 
                                                                 Agent 
 
         Each of the Lenders and the Issuing Bank hereby irrevocably appoints the Agent as its agent (and confirms and continues 
such appointment under the Prior Agreement) and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers 
as are delegated to it by the terms of the Loan Documents, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental 
thereto. 
 
         The bank serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other 
Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend 
money to and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were 
not the Agent hereunder. 
 
         The Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in the Loan Documents. Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, (a) the Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether 
a Default has occurred and is continuing, (b) the Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any 
discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Agent is required 
to exercise in writing by the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the 
circumstances as provided in Section 10.02), and (c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, the Agent shall not have 
any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Borrower or any 
Subsidiaries that is communicated to or obtained by the bank serving as Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity.  The Agent 
shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such 
other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 10.02) or in the 
absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.  The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any Default unless 
and until written notice thereof is given to the Agent by the Borrower or a Lender, and the Agent shall not be responsible for or 
have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan 
Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered thereunder or in connection therewith, (iii) the 
performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth in any Loan Document, (iv) the 
validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of any Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document, or (v) 
the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere in any Loan Document, other than to confirm receipt of items 
expressly required to be delivered to the Agent. 
 
         The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, 
certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent 
by the proper Person.  The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by 
the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon.  The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be 
counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or 
not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts. 
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         The Agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or more sub-agents 
appointed by the Agent.  The Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers 
through their respective Related Parties.  The exculpatory provisions of the preceding paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent 
and to the Related Parties of the Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with 
the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as the Agent. 
 
         Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor as provided in this paragraph, the Agent may resign at any time by 
notifying the Lenders, the Issuing Bank and the Borrower.  Upon any such resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, in 
consultation with the Borrower, to appoint a successor.  If no successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and 
shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring 
Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders and the Issuing Bank, appoint a successor Agent.  Upon the acceptance of its appointment as the 
Agent hereunder by a successor, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties 
of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. The fees payable by the 
Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and 
such successor.  After the Agent's resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article and Section 10.03 shall continue in effect 
for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or 
omitted to be taken by any of them while it was acting as the Agent. 
 
         Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their 
Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision 
to enter into this Agreement.  Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any 
other Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem 
appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan 
Document or related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder. 
 
         U.S. Bank National Association and Bank of America, N.A. have been designated as "documentation agent" and "syndication 
agent" hereunder respectively in recognition of the level of each of their Revolving Commitments.  Neither U.S. Bank National 
Association nor Bank of America, N.A. is an agent for the Lenders and no such Lender shall have any obligation hereunder other than 
those existing in its capacity as a Lender.  Without limiting the foregoing, no such Lender shall have or be deemed to have any 
fiduciary relationship with or duty to any Lender. 
 
         The Lenders hereby authorize JPMorgan Chase Bank (in its capacity as the "Agent" hereunder and in its capacity as the " 
Collateral Agent") to sign the following on behalf of each Lender and to bind each Lender to the terms thereof as if each Lender 
were directly a party thereto: (i) the Intercreditor Agreement and (ii) an agreement pursuant to which the Collateral Agent agrees 
that after receipt of the Termination Value in accordance with the Operative Agreements (as those terms are defined in the 
documentation governing the Synthetic Real Property Lease and provided neither the Termination Value nor any portion thereof shall 
have been disgorged, reclaimed or ordered to be returned) and at all times thereafter: (a) each Lender and Holder (as those terms 



are defined in the documentation governing the Synthetic Real Property Lease), solely in such capacity, will no longer be deemed a 
"Creditor" under the Original Intercreditor Agreement nor have any obligations of a "Creditor" thereunder and (b) Bank of America as 
agent for the Synthetic Lenders (as defined in the Original Intercreditor Agreement), solely in such capacity, shall no longer be 
deemed an "Agent" under the Original Intercreditor Agreement nor have any obligations of an "Agent" thereunder. 
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                                                                ARTICLE X. 
 
                                                             Miscellaneous 
 
SECTION 10.01.    Notices.  Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone, all 
notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier 
service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows: 
 
(a)      if to the Borrower, to it at One Information Way, Little Rock, Arkansas  72202, Attention of Chief Financial Officer 
(Telecopy No. 501-342-3913); 
 
(b)      if to the Agent, the Issuing Bank, the Swingline Lender or to JPMorgan, as a Lender, 2200 Ross Avenue, 3rd Floor, Dallas, 
Texas 75201, Attention of Mike Lister, (Telecopy No. 214-965-2044), with a copy to JPMorgan Chase Bank, Loan Agency Services, 1111 
Fannin, 10th Floor, Houston, Texas 77002; Attention:  Mia Hamilton, Telephone (713) 750-2336; Telecopy No. (713) 750-2228; 
 
(c)      if to a Lender to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth in the Administrative Questionnaire delivered to the 
Agent by such Lender in connection with the execution of the Prior Agreement or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which 
such Lender became a party hereto; and 
 
Any party hereto may change its address or telecopy number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other 
parties hereto.  All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement 
shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt. 
 
SECTION 10.02.    Waivers; Amendments. 
 
(a)      No failure or delay by the Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any 
other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any 
abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right or power.  The rights and remedies of the Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders hereunder and under 
the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have.  No waiver 
of any provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by the Borrower or any Guarantor therefrom shall in any event be 
effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) of this Section, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective 
only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of 
a Loan or issuance of a Letter of Credit shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Agent, any 
Lender or the Issuing Bank may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time. 
 
(b)      Neither this Agreement nor any other Loan Document nor any provision hereof or thereof may be waived, amended or modified 
except (x) pursuant to an Increased Commitment Supplement executed in accordance with Section 2.19 which only needs to be signed by 
the Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders increasing or providing new Revolving Commitments thereunder if the Increased Commitment 
Supplement does not increase the aggregate amount of the Revolving Commitments to an amount in excess of $200,000,000 and (y) in the 
case of this Agreement and any circumstance other than as described in clause (x), pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing 
entered into by the Borrower and the Required Lenders or, in the case of any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or 
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agreements in writing entered into by the parties thereto, in each case with the consent of the Required Lenders; provided that no 
such agreement shall (i) increase  the Revolving Commitment of any Lender without the written consent of such Lender, (ii) reduce 
the principal amount of any Loan or LC Disbursement or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable hereunder, 
without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby, (iii) postpone the scheduled date of payment of the principal amount of 
any Loan or LC Disbursement, or any interest thereon, or any fees payable hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any 
such payment, or postpone the scheduled date of expiration of any Revolving Commitment, without the written consent of each Lender 
affected thereby, (iv) change Section 2.17(b), (c) or (f) in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required 
thereby, without the written consent of each Lender, (v) change any of the provisions of this Section or the definition of "Required 
Lenders" or any other provision of any Loan Document specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to waive, amend or 
modify any rights thereunder or make any determination or grant any consent thereunder, without the written consent of each Lender, 
(vi) release any Guarantor from the Subsidiary Guaranty or limit its liability in respect of the Subsidiary Guaranty without the 
consent of each Lender, nor (v) change Section 2.20 in any manner that might affect the Exiting Lender without the consent of the 
Exiting Lender; provided further that (1) no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the 
Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Swingline Lender without the prior written consent of the Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Swingline 
Lender, as the case may be and (2) the Agent shall be obligated and shall have the power without the consent of any Lender to 
release a Guarantor from the Subsidiary Guaranty if the Guarantor is sold in accordance with the restrictions on the disposition of 
assets set forth in Section 6.05 or, if the Guarantor is the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary, if such release is required in 
connection with the financing permitted by Section 6.01(a)(xii)(C). 
 
SECTION 10.03.    Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver. 
 
(a)      The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, JP Morgan Securities Inc., Banc of 
America Securities LLC, and their respective Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for 
Agent, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., and Banc of America Securities, LLC, in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities 
provided for herein, the preparation and administration of the Loan Documents or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the 
provisions thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all reasonable 
out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Issuing Bank in connection with the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter 
of Credit or any demand for payment thereunder and (iii) all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, the Issuing Bank or any 
Lender, including the fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for the Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender, in connection 
with the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with the Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or 
in connection with the Loans made or Letters of Credit issued hereunder, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during 
any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans or Letters of Credit. 
 
(b)      THE BORROWER SHALL INDEMNIFY THE AGENT, J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC., BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, THE ISSUING BANK AND 
EACH LENDER, AND EACH RELATED PARTY OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING PERSONS (EACH SUCH PERSON BEING CALLED AN "INDEMNITEE") AGAINST, AND 
HOLD EACH INDEMNITEE HARMLESS FROM, ANY AND ALL LOSSES, CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES AND RELATED EXPENSES, INCLUDING THE FEES, 
CHARGES AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY COUNSEL FOR ANY INDEMNITEE, INCURRED BY OR ASSERTED AGAINST ANY INDEMNITEE ARISING OUT OF, IN 
CONNECTION WITH, OR AS A RESULT OF (I) THE EXECUTION OR DELIVERY OF ANY LOAN DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER AGREEMENT OR INSTRUMENT 
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, THE PERFORMANCE BY THE PARTIES TO THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OF THEIR RESPECTIVE OBLIGATIONS THEREUNDER OR THE 
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CONSUMMATION OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, (II) ANY LOAN OR LETTER OF CREDIT OR THE USE OF THE PROCEEDS THEREFROM 
(INCLUDING ANY REFUSAL BY THE ISSUING BANK TO HONOR A DEMAND FOR PAYMENT UNDER A LETTER OF CREDIT IF THE DOCUMENTS PRESENTED IN 
CONNECTION WITH SUCH DEMAND DO NOT STRICTLY COMPLY WITH THE TERMS OF SUCH LETTER OF CREDIT), (III) ANY ACTUAL OR ALLEGED PRESENCE OR 
RELEASE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ON OR FROM ANY REAL PROPERTY CURRENTLY OR FORMERLY OWNED OR OPERATED BY THE BORROWER OR ANY OF THE 
SUBSIDIARIES, OR ANY ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY RELATED IN ANY WAY TO THE BORROWER OR ANY OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, OR (IV) ANY ACTUAL OR 



PROSPECTIVE CLAIM, LITIGATION, INVESTIGATION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING, WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY 
OTHER THEORY AND REGARDLESS OF WHETHER ANY INDEMNITEE IS A PARTY THERETO; PROVIDED THAT SUCH INDEMNITY SHALL NOT, AS TO ANY 
INDEMNITEE, BE AVAILABLE TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH LOSSES, CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES OR RELATED EXPENSES ARE DETERMINED BY A COURT 
OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY FINAL AND NONAPPEALABLE JUDGMENT TO HAVE RESULTED FROM THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF 
SUCH INDEMNITEE.  IT IS THE EXPRESSED INTENT OF THE PARTIES HERETO THAT THE INDEMNITY IN THIS CLAUSE (b) SHALL, AS TO ANY 
INDEMNITEE, BE AVAILABLE TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH LOSSES, CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES OR RELATED EXPENSES ARE DETERMINED TO HAVE 
RESULTED FROM THE SOLE OR CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF SUCH INDEMNITEE. 
 
(c)      To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Agent, the Issuing Bank or the 
Swingline Lender under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agent, the Issuing Bank or 
the Swingline Lender, as the case may be, such Lender's pro rata share (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed 
expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount; provided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, 
damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Agent, the Issuing Bank or the 
Swingline Lender in its capacity as such.  For purposes hereof, a Lender's "pro rata share" shall be determined based upon its share 
of the sum of the total Revolving Exposures and unused Revolving Commitments at the time. 
 
(d)      To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any 
Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual 
damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, 
any Loan or Letter of Credit or the use of the proceeds thereof. 
 
(e)      All amounts due under this Section shall be payable promptly after written demand therefor. 
 
SECTION 10.04.    Successors and Assigns. 
 
(a)      The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and assigns permitted hereby (including any Affiliate of the Issuing Bank that issues any Letter of Credit), except that 
(i) the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent 
of each Lender (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void) and (ii) no 
Lender may assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations hereunder except in accordance with this Section.  Nothing in this 
Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective 
successors and assigns permitted hereby (including any Affiliate of the Issuing Bank that issues any Letter of Credit), Participants 
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(to the extent provided in clause (c) of this Section) and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each 
of the Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement. 
 
(b)      (i)  Subject to the conditions set forth in clause (b)(ii) below, any Lender may assign to one or more assignees all or a 
portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving Commitment and the Loans at 
the time owing to it) with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of: 
 
(A)      the Borrower, provided that no consent of the Borrower shall be required for an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a 
Lender, an Approved Fund or, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, to any other assignee; and 
 
(B)      the Agent, provided that no consent of the Agent shall be required for an assignment of any Revolving Commitment to an 
assignee that is a Lender with a Revolving Commitment immediately prior to giving effect to such assignment. 
 
(ii)     Assignments shall be subject to the following additional conditions: 
 
(A)      except in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender, an Approved Fund or an assignment of the 
entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Revolving Commitment or Loans, the amount of the Revolving Commitment or Loans of 
the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such 
assignment is delivered to the Agent) shall not be less than $5,000,000 unless each of the Borrower and the Agent otherwise consent, 
provided that no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; 
 
(B)      each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and 
obligations under this Agreement; 
 
(C)      the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a 
processing and recordation fee of $3,500; and 
 
(D)      the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Agent an Administrative Questionnaire. 
 
         For the purposes of this Section 10.04(b), the term "Approved Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is 
engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its 
business and that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an 
entity that administers or manages a Lender. 
 
(iii)    Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to clause (b)(iv) of this Section, from and after the effective date 
specified in each Assignment and Assumption the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest 
assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning 
Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations 
under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations 
under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 
2.14, 2.15, 2.16, 2.17 and 10.03).  Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that 
does not comply with this Section 10.04 shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation 
in such rights and obligations in accordance with clause (c) of this Section. 
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(iv)     The Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each 
Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the 
Revolving Commitment of, and principal amount of the Loans and LC Disbursements owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof 
from time to time (the "Register").  The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Agent, the Issuing Bank 
and the Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for 
all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary.  The Register shall be available for inspection by the 
Borrower, the Issuing Bank and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice. 
 
(v)      Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the 
assignee's completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and 
recordation fee referred to in clause (b) of this Section and any written consent to such assignment required by clause (b) of this 
Section, the Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and record the information contained therein in the Register.  No 
assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this clause. 
 
(c)      (i) Any Lender may, without the consent of the Borrower, the Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Swingline Lender, sell 
participations to one or more banks or other entities (a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and obligations 
under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving Commitment and the Loans owing to it); provided that (A) such 
Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (B) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other 



parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (C) the Borrower, the Agent, the Issuing Bank and the other Lenders shall 
continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. 
Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the 
sole right to enforce the Loan Documents and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of the Loan 
Documents; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, 
agree to any amendment, modification or waiver described in the first proviso to Section 10.02(b) that affects such Participant. 
Subject to clause (c)(ii) of this Section, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 
2.14, 2.15, 2.16 and 2.17 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to clause 
(b) of this Section.  To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 10.08 as 
though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.17(c) as though it were a Lender. 
 
                           (ii)  A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.14 or 2.16 than 
the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the 
sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower's prior written consent.  A Participant that would be a 
Foreign Lender if it were a Lender shall not be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.16 unless the Borrower is notified of the 
participation sold to such Participant and such Participant agrees, for the benefit of the Borrower, to comply with Section 2.16(f) 
as though it were a Lender. 
 
(d)      Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to 
secure obligations of such Lender, including without limitation any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve 
Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; provided that no such pledge or 
assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or 
assignee for such Lender as a party hereto. 
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SECTION 10.05.    Survival. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Borrower in the Loan Documents and 
in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall 
be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan 
Documents and the making of any Loans and issuance of any Letters of Credit, regardless of any investigation made by any such other 
party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any 
Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and 
effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement 
is outstanding and unpaid or any Letter of Credit is outstanding and so long as the Revolving Commitments have not expired or 
terminated.  The provisions of Sections 2.14, 2.15, 2.16, 2.17 and 10.03 and Article IX shall survive and remain in full force and 
effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans, the expiration or 
termination of the Letters of Credit and the Revolving Commitments or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof. 
 
SECTION 10.06.    Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Amendment and Restatement. This Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of 
which when taken together shall constitute a single contract.  THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND ANY SEPARATE LETTER 
AGREEMENTS WITH RESPECT TO FEES PAYABLE TO THE AGENT EMBODY THE FINAL, ENTIRE AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT 
MATTER HEREOF AND SUPERSEDE ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS COMMITMENTS, AGREEMENTS, REPRESENTATIONS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, WHETHER ORAL OR 
WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF (INCLUDING THE PRIOR AGREEMENT) AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED OR VARIED BY EVIDENCE OF 
PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OR DISCUSSIONS OF THE PARTIES HERETO  THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS 
AMONG THE PARTIES HERETO. Except as provided in Section 4.01, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed 
by the Agent and the Borrower and when the Agent shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the 
signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto 
and their respective successors and assigns.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy 
shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. This Agreement amends and restates in its 
entirety the Prior Agreement.  The execution of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents executed in connection herewith does not 
extinguish the commitment under or the indebtedness outstanding in connection with the Prior Agreement nor does it constitute a 
novation with respect to such commitment or such indebtedness.  The Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders ratify and confirm each of 
the Loan Documents entered into prior to the Effective Date (but excluding the Prior Agreement) and agree that such Loan Documents 
continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.  However, for all matters arising 
prior to the Effective Date (including the accrual and payment of interest and fees, and matters relating to indemnification and 
compliance with financial covenants), the terms of the Prior Agreement (as unmodified by this Agreement) shall control and are 
hereby ratified and confirmed.  The Borrower and each Guarantor represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date there are no 
claims or offsets against or defenses or counterclaims to its obligations under the Prior Agreement or any of the other Loan 
Documents.  TO INDUCE THE LENDERS AND THE AGENT TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT, THE BORROWER AND EACH GUARANTOR WAIVES ANY AND ALL 
SUCH CLAIMS, OFFSETS, DEFENSES OR COUNTERCLAIMS, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, ARISING PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE AND RELATING TO THE 
LOAN DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and 
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notwithstanding any Loan Document to the contrary, the Borrower, the Guarantors, the Agent and the Lenders agree and acknowledge 
that: 
 
(A)      the term "Credit Agreement" as used in each Loan Document means this Agreement; 
 
(B)      the term "Guaranteed Indebtedness" as used in the Subsidiary Guaranty and the term "Revolver Obligations" as used in the 
Intercreditor Agreement includes all of the obligations, indebtedness and liability of the Borrower to the Agent, the Issuing Bank 
and the Lenders, or any of them, arising pursuant to this Agreement; and 
 
(C)      any reference to The Chase Manhattan Bank or Chase Bank of Texas, National Association in any Loan Document executed prior 
to the Effective Date shall mean a reference to JPMorgan Chase Bank. 
 
SECTION 10.07.    Severability.  Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction 
shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting 
the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a 
particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction. 
 
SECTION 10.08.    Right of Setoff.  If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender and each of its 
Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any 
and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other obligations at any time owing 
by such Lender or Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any of and all the obligations of the 
Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have 
made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured.  The rights of each Lender under this Section 
are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender may have. 
 
SECTION 10.09.    Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process. 
 
(a)      This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of Texas. 
 
(b)      THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY, TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION 
OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF TEXAS SITTING IN DALLAS COUNTY AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF THE NORTHERN DISTRICT 
OF TEXAS, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF, IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ANY LOAN DOCUMENT, OR 
FOR RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT 
ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH TEXAS STATE OR, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED 



BY LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURT.  EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE 
CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW.  NOTHING IN 
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THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT THAT THE AGENT, THE ISSUING BANK OR ANY LENDER MAY OTHERWISE HAVE 
TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AGAINST THE BORROWER OR ITS PROPERTIES IN 
THE COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION. 
 
(c)      The Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any 
objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section.  Each of the parties hereto 
hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such 
action or proceeding in any such court. 
 
(d)      Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in 
Section 10.01.  Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve 
process in any other manner permitted by law. 
 
SECTION 10.10.    WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY 
RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, 
ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY).  EACH PARTY 
HERETO 
(A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER 
PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES 
HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION. 
 
SECTION 10.11.    Headings.  Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference 
only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this 
Agreement. 
 
SECTION 10.12.    Confidentiality.  The Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the 
Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' directors, officers, 
employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such 
disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information 
confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations 
or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this Agreement, (e) in connection with the exercise of any 
remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of 
rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, 
to any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this 
Agreement, (g) with the consent of the Borrower or (h) to the extent such Information:  (i) becomes publicly available other than as 
a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender on a nonconfidential 
basis from a source other than the Borrower. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from the 
Borrower relating to the Borrower or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Agent, the Issuing Bank 
or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower; provided that, in the case of information received 
from the Borrower after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential.  Any Person 
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required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its 
obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such 
Person would accord to its own confidential information. 
 
SECTION 10.13.    Maximum Interest Rate. 
 
(a)      No interest rate specified in any Loan Document shall at any time exceed the Maximum Rate. If at any time the interest rate 
(the "Contract Rate") for any obligation under the Loan Documents shall exceed the Maximum Rate, thereby causing the interest 
accruing on such obligation to be limited to the Maximum Rate, then any subsequent reduction in the Contract Rate for such 
obligation shall not reduce the rate of interest on such obligation below the Maximum Rate until the aggregate amount of interest 
accrued on such obligation equals the aggregate amount of interest which would have accrued on such obligation if the Contract Rate 
for such obligation had at all times been in effect.  As used herein, the term "Maximum Rate" means, at any time with respect to any 
Lender, the maximum rate of nonusurious interest under applicable law that such Lender may charge Borrower.  The Maximum Rate shall 
be calculated in a manner that takes into account any and all fees, payments, and other charges contracted for, charged, or received 
in connection with the Loan Documents that constitute interest under applicable law.  Each change in any interest rate provided for 
herein based upon the Maximum Rate resulting from a change in the Maximum Rate shall take effect without notice to Borrower at the 
time of such change in the Maximum Rate.  For purposes of determining the Maximum Rate under Texas law, the applicable rate ceiling 
shall be the weekly rate ceiling described in, and computed in accordance with, Article 5069-1.04, Vernon's Texas Civil Statutes. 
 
(b)      No provision of any Loan Document shall require the payment or the collection of interest in excess of the maximum amount 
permitted by applicable law.  If any excess of interest in such respect is hereby provided for, or shall be adjudicated to be so 
provided, in any Loan Document or otherwise in connection with this loan transaction, the provisions of this Section shall govern 
and prevail and neither Borrower nor the sureties, guarantors, successors, or assigns of Borrower shall be obligated to pay the 
excess amount of such interest or any other excess sum paid for the use, forbearance, or detention of sums loaned pursuant hereto. 
In the event any Lender ever receives, collects, or applies as interest any such sum, such amount which would be in excess of the 
maximum amount permitted by applicable law shall be applied as a payment and reduction of the principal of the obligations 
outstanding hereunder, and, if the principal of the obligations outstanding hereunder has been paid in full, any remaining excess 
shall forthwith be paid to the Borrower.  In determining whether or not the interest paid or payable exceeds the Maximum Rate, 
Borrower and each Lender shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, (a) characterize any non-principal payment as an expense, 
fee, or premium rather than as interest, (b) exclude voluntary prepayments and the effects thereof, and (c) amortize, prorate, 
allocate, and spread in equal or unequal parts the total amount of interest throughout the entire contemplated term of the 
obligations outstanding hereunder so that interest for the entire term does not exceed the Maximum Rate. 
 
(c)      The provisions of Chapter 346 of the Finance Code of Texas are specifically declared by the parties hereto not to be 
applicable to this Agreement  or to the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
SECTION 10.14.    Intercompany Subordination. 
 
(a)      Borrower agrees that the Subordinated Indebtedness (as defined below) shall be subordinate and junior in right of payment 
to the prior payment in full of all Senior Indebtedness (as defined below) as herein provided.  The Subordinated Indebtedness shall 
not be payable, and no payment of principal, interest or other amounts on account thereof, and no property or guarantee of any 
nature to secure or pay the Subordinated Indebtedness shall be made or given, directly or indirectly by or on behalf of any 
Guarantor or received, accepted, retained or applied by Borrower unless and until the Senior Indebtedness shall have been paid in 
full in cash; except that prior to the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, each Guarantor shall have the right to 
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make payments, and the Borrower shall have the right to receive payments on the Subordinated Indebtedness from time to time as may 
be determined by Borrower.  After the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, no payments of principal, 
interest or other amounts may be made or given, directly or indirectly, by or on behalf of any Guarantor or received, accepted, 



retained or applied by Borrower unless and until the Senior Indebtedness shall have been paid in full in cash.  If any sums shall be 
paid to Borrower by any Guarantor or any other Person on account of the Subordinated Indebtedness when such payment is not permitted 
hereunder, such sums shall be held in trust by the Borrower for the benefit of Agent and the Lenders and shall forthwith be paid to 
and applied by Agent against the Senior Indebtedness in accordance with the terms hereof.  For purposes of this Section 10.14, the 
term (i) "Subordinated Indebtedness" means, with respect to a Guarantor, all indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations of such 
Guarantor to Borrower, whether such indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations now exist or are hereafter incurred or arise, or are 
direct, indirect, contingent, primary, secondary, several, joint and several, or otherwise, and irrespective of whether such 
indebtedness, liabilities, or obligations are evidenced by a note, contract, open account, or otherwise, and irrespective of the 
Person or Persons in whose favor such indebtedness, obligations, or liabilities may, at their inception, have been, or may hereafter 
be created, or the manner in which they have been or may hereafter be acquired by Borrower and (ii) "Senior Indebtedness" means, 
with respect to each Guarantor, all of the obligations, indebtedness and liability of the such Guarantor to the Agent, the Issuing 
Bank and the Lenders, or any of them, arising pursuant to the Subsidiary Guaranty or any of the other Loan Documents, whether now 
existing or hereafter arising, whether direct, indirect, related, unrelated, fixed, contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, 
several, or joint and several, including, without limitation, any and all post-petition interest and expenses (including attorneys' 
fees) whether or not allowed under any bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar law. 
 
(b)      Borrower agrees that any and all Liens (including any judgment liens), upon any Guarantor's assets securing payment of any 
Subordinated Indebtedness shall be and remain inferior and subordinate to any and all Liens upon any Guarantor's assets securing 
payment of the Senior Indebtedness or any part thereof, regardless of whether such Liens in favor of Borrower, Agent or any Lender 
presently exist or are hereafter created or attached.  Without the prior written consent of Agent, Borrower shall not (i) file suit 
against any Guarantor or exercise or enforce any other creditor's right it may have against any Guarantor, or (ii) foreclose, 
repossess, sequester, or otherwise take steps or institute any action or proceedings (judicial or otherwise, including without 
limitation the commencement of, or joinder in, any liquidation, bankruptcy, rearrangement, debtor's relief or insolvency proceeding) 
to enforce any obligations of any Guarantor to Borrower or any Liens held by Borrower on assets of any Guarantor. 
 
(c)      In the event of any receivership, bankruptcy, reorganization, rearrangement, debtor's relief, or other insolvency 
proceeding involving any Guarantor as debtor, Agent shall have the right to prove and vote any claim under the Subordinated 
Indebtedness and to receive directly from the receiver, trustee or other court custodian all dividends, distributions, and payments 
made in respect of the Subordinated Indebtedness until the Senior Indebtedness has been paid in full in cash. Agent may apply any 
such dividends, distributions, and payments against the Senior Indebtedness in accordance with the terms hereof. 
 
(d)      Borrower agrees that all promissory notes and other instruments evidencing Subordinated Indebtedness shall contain a 
specific written notice thereon that the indebtedness evidenced thereby is subordinated under the terms of this Section 10.14. 
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized 
officers as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                                     BORROWER: 
 
 
                                                     ACXIOM CORPORATION, as the Borrower 
 
 
                                                     By:   /s/ Dathan A. Gaskill 
                                                        ----------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Dathan A. Gaskill, Corporate Finance Leader 
 
                                                     JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as the Agent, the Issuing Bank, the Swingline Lender and 
                                                     as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:   /s/ Brian McDougal 
                                                        ----------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Brian McDougal, Vice President 
 
                                                     BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as syndication agent and as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:   /s/ B. Kenneth Burton, Jr. 
                                                        ----------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name: B. Kenneth Burton, Jr. 
                                                            Title: Vice President 
 
                                                     U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (formerly Firstar Bank N.A.), as documentation 
                                                     agent and as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Eric Hartman 
                                                        ----------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name:  Eric Hartman 
                                                            Title: Vice President 
 
 
 
                                                     SUNTRUST BANK, as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Leonard L. McKinnon 
                                                        ---------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name: Leonard L. McKinnon 
                                                            Title: Director 
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                                                     WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Daniel Evans 
                                                        --------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name: Daniel Evans 
                                                            Title: Managing Director 
 
                                                     ABN AMRO BANK N.V., as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Maria Vickroy-Peralta 
                                                        -------------------------------------------- 



                                                            Name: Maria Vickroy-Peralta 
                                                            Title: Executive Director 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Peter Tisu 
                                                        -------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name: Peter Tisu 
                                                            Title: Vice President 
 
                                                     Union Planters BANK, N.A., as a Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ James R. Gummel 
                                                        -------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name: James R. Gummel 
                                                            Title: Sr. Vice President 
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                                                     THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, as the Exiting Lender 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Liz Hanson 
                                                        -------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Name: Liz Hanson 
                                                            Title: Director, TEG 
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                                                           Guarantor Consent 
 
         Each of the undersigned Guarantors:  (i) consent and agree to this Agreement (including without limitation, the provisions 
of Section 10.06 and (ii) agree that the Loan Documents to which it is a party shall remain in full force and effect and shall 
continue to be the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Guarantor enforceable against it in accordance with their respective 
terms. 
 
                                                     GUARANTORS: 
 
                                                     Acxiom CDC, Inc. 
                                                     Acxiom / May & Speh, Inc. 
                                                     Acxiom RM-Tools, Inc. 
                                                     ACXIOM ASIA, LTD. 
                                                     ACXIOM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, INC. 
                                                     ACXIOM / PYRAMID INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. 
                                                     ACXIOM TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC. 
                                                     GIS Information Systems, Inc. 
                                                     ACXIOM UWS, LTD. 
                                                     ACXIOM INFORMATION SECURITY SERVICES, INC. 
                                                     Acxiom SDC, Inc. (who will change its name to Acxiom e-Products, Inc. after the 
                                                            Effective Date) 
                                                     ACXIOM DIRECT MEDIA, INC. 
 
 
                                                     By:  /s/ Dathan A. Gaskill 
                                                        ------------------------------------------------- 
                                                            Dathan A. Gaskill, Authorized Officer of each Guarantor 
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                                                               EXHIBITS: 
 
EXHIBIT A - Form of Assignment and Assumption 
EXHIBIT B - Form of Opinion of Borrower's Counsel 
Exhibit C - Form of Increased Commitment Supplement 
EXHIBIT D - Form of Intercreditor Agreement 
EXHIBIT E - Form of Covenant Change Notice 
 
 
                                                              SCHEDULES: 
 
 
SCHEDULE 1.01 - Mortgaged Property 
SCHEDULE 2.01 - Commitments 
SCHEDULE 3.12 - Subsidiaries 
SCHEDULE 6.01 - Existing Indebtedness and Preferred Equity Interests 
SCHEDULE 6.02 - Existing Liens 
SCHEDULE 6.04 - Existing Investments 
SCHEDULE 6.10 - Existing Restrictions 
 
 
 
 
                                                               EXHIBIT A 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                   Form of Assignment and Assumption 
 
 
 
                                                       ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION 
 
         This Assignment and Assumption (the "Assignment and Assumption") is dated as of the Effective Date set forth below and is 
entered into by and between the assignor identified below (the "Assignor") and the assignee identified below (the "Assignee"). 
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (as 
amended, the "Credit Agreement"), receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee.  The Standard Terms and 
Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this 
Assignment and Assumption as if set forth herein in full. 



 
         For an agreed consideration, the Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to the Assignee, and the Assignee hereby 
irrevocably purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subject to and in accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the 
Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date inserted by the Agent as contemplated below (i) all of the Assignor's rights and 
obligations in its capacity as a Lender under the Credit Agreement and any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto 
to the extent related to the amount and percentage interest identified below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of 
the Assignor under the respective facilities identified below (including any letters of credit, guarantees, and swingline loans 
included in such facilities) and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under applicable law, all claims, suits, causes of 
action and any other right of the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender) against any Person, whether known or unknown, arising under 
or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan transactions 
governed thereby or in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including contract claims, tort claims, malpractice 
claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant 
to clause (i) above (the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above being referred to herein 
collectively as the "Assigned Interest").  Such sale and assignment is without recourse to the Assignor and, except as expressly 
provided in this Assignment and Assumption, without representation or warranty by the Assignor. 
 
1.       Assignor:                  ______________________________ 
 
2.       Assignee:                  ______________________________ 
                                    [and is an Affiliate/Approved Fund of [identify Lender]] 
 
3.       Borrower:                  ACXIOM CORPORATION 
 
4.       Agent:                     JPMORGAN CHASE BANK (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank), as the administrative agent under the 
                                    Credit Agreement 
 
5.       Credit Agreement:          Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated February 5, 2003, among Acxiom Corporation, 
                                    the Lenders parties thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Agent 
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6.       Assigned Interest: 
 
- ------------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------- -------------------------- 
      Facility Assigned           Aggregate Amount of           Amount of Revolving          Percentage Assigned of 
                                       Revolving             Commitment/Loans Assigned              Revolving 
                                  Commitment/Loans for                                          Commitment/Loans 
                                      all Lenders 
- ------------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------- -------------------------- 
                                $                         $                                                   % 
- ------------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------- -------------------------- 
                                $                         $                                                   % 
- ------------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------- -------------------------- 
                                $                         $                                                   % 
- ------------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------------- -------------------------- 
 
 
Effective Date:   _____________ ___, 200_ [TO BE INSERTED BY THE AGENT AND WHICH SHALL BE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF RECORDATION OF 
TRANSFER IN THE REGISTER THEREFOR.] 
 
The terms set forth in this Assignment and Assumption are hereby agreed to: 
 
                                                     ASSIGNOR 
 
                                                     [NAME OF ASSIGNOR] 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                              Title: 
 
 
                                                     ASSIGNEE 
 
                                                     [NAME OF ASSIGNEE] 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                              Title: 
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[Consented to and] Accepted: 
 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK 
(formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Agent 
 
 
By: 
       Title: 
 
 
[Consented to:] 
 
ACXIOM CORPORATION 
 
 
By: 
       Title: 
 
                                                                3 
 
 
                                                                                                                            ANNEX 1 
 
                              Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated February 5, 2003 among Acxiom 
                             Corporation, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly The Chase 
                                               Manhattan Bank), as administrative agent 
 
                                                   STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR 



                                                       ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION 
 
1.       Representations and Warranties. 
 
                  1.1      Assignor.  The Assignor (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial owner of the 
Assigned Interest, (ii) the Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it has 
full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to 
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; and (b) assumes no responsibility with respect to (i) any statements, warranties or 
representations made in or in connection with the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the execution, legality, 
validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Documents or any collateral thereunder, (iii) the financial 
condition of the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person obligated in respect of any Loan Document or 
(iv) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person of any of their 
respective obligations under any Loan Document. 
 
                  1.2.     Assignee.  The Assignee (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority, and has 
taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby and to become a Lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) it satisfies the requirements, if any, specified in the Credit 
Agreement that are required to be satisfied by it in order to acquire the Assigned Interest and become a Lender, (iii) from and 
after the Effective Date, it shall be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of 
the Assigned Interest, shall have the obligations of a Lender thereunder, (iv) it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, 
together with copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 thereof, as applicable, and such 
other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this 
Assignment and Assumption and to purchase the Assigned Interest on the basis of which it has made such analysis and decision 
independently and without reliance on the Agent or any other Lender, and (v) if it is a Foreign Lender, attached to the Assignment 
and Assumption is any documentation required to be delivered by it pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, duly completed and 
executed by the Assignee; and (b) agrees that (i) it will, independently and without reliance on the Agent, the Assignor or any 
other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit 
decisions in taking or not taking action under the Loan Documents, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with their terms all of 
the obligations which by the terms of the Loan Documents are required to be performed by it as a Lender. 
 
                  2.       Payments. From and after the Effective Date, the Agent shall make all payments in respect of the Assigned 
Interest (including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignor for amounts which have accrued to but 
excluding the Effective Date and to the Assignee for amounts which have accrued from and after the Effective Date. 
 
                  3.      General Provisions. This Assignment and Assumption shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the 
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  This Assignment and Assumption may be executed in any number of 
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counterparts, which together shall constitute one instrument.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this 
Assignment and Assumption by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Assignment and 
Assumption.  This Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas. 
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                                                               EXHIBIT B 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                 Form of Opinion of Borrower's Counsel 
 
 
 
                                                           February 5, 2003 
 
 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
as agent for itself and the lenders 
party to the hereinafter defined Agreement and 
as Collateral Agent for itself and the 
Creditors party to the hereinafter defined 
Intercreditor Agreement 
2200 Ross Avenue, 3rd Floor 
Dallas, TX  75201 
 
         Re:      Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 5, 2003  (the "Agreement") among Acxiom 
                  Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), JPMorgan Chase Bank, as the agent and Bank of America, N.A., 
                  as syndication agent and the other lenders named therein. 
 
                  Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement dated February 5, 2003 among the Company, the Guarantors, the Agent 
                  and JP Morgan Chase Bank as the collateral agent thereunder (the "Intercreditor Agreement"). 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
         We are special counsel to the Company. As such, we have been asked to render to you the opinion set forth below relating to 
the Agreement.  This opinion is given pursuant to Section 4.01(b) of the Agreement. Capitalized terms used herein, not otherwise 
defined, have the meanings given them in the Agreement. The Agreement and the Intercreditor Amendment, together with that certain 
Fourth Amendment to Security Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2003, executed by the Company and that certain Subsidiary Joinder 
Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2003 by Acxiom Interim Holdings, Inc., an Arkansas corporation ("AIHI") in favor of the Agent, 
are herein collectively referred to as the "Transaction Documents." 
 
         In preparing this opinion, we have reviewed originals or copies (certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction) of 
the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company, the Transaction Documents, the records of proceedings of the Board of 
Directors of the Company and the Guarantors, and such other documents, corporate records and certificates of public officials as we 
have considered appropriate. 
 
         For purposes of this opinion, we have, with your permission, assumed without independent investigation or inquiry that: 
 
                  (i)      all signatures of the Lenders on the Transaction Documents we examined are genuine, the 
         Transaction Documents submitted to us as originals are authentic, and the Transaction Documents submitted to us as 
         copies conform to the original Transaction Documents executed by the parties thereto; 
 
                  (ii)     the Transaction Documents have been duly and validly authorized, executed, delivered and accepted 
         by all parties thereto (other than the Company and the Guarantors) and all parties thereto (other than the Company 
         and the Guarantors) have all requisite power and authority to make and enter into the Transaction Documents and 
         perform their obligations thereunder pursuant to the laws of all relevant jurisdictions; 
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                  (iii)    the Agent and the Lenders have their principal place of business, chief executive office and 
         domicile outside of the State of Arkansas; all substantive negotiations relating to the transactions contemplated by 
         the Transaction Documents have taken place outside the State of Arkansas, either in person or by telephone 
         conferences between your representatives in the State of Texas and representatives of the Company in the State of 
         Arkansas; all credit decisions were made and approved by the Lenders outside the State of Arkansas, acceptance by 
         the Lenders or their counsel of the Transaction Documents occurred in the State of Texas; the administration of and 
         delivery and acceptance of payments pursuant to the Transaction Documents will take place in the States of Texas or 
         New York; the choice of law as provided for in the Transaction Documents is valid pursuant to the conflicts of laws 
         principles under the laws of any and all jurisdictions governing the same (other than the State of Arkansas) 
         specifically including the laws of the States of Texas and New York; and, the parties to the Transaction Documents 
         have voluntarily chosen to have the laws of the State of Texas to govern the Transaction Documents; 
 
                  (iv)     the Transaction Documents were entered into in good faith and for adequate consideration; 
 
                  (v)      the Agent and the Lenders will exercise their rights, remedies and benefits under the Transaction 
         Documents in a commercially reasonable manner, and 
 
                  (vi)     to the extent that (a) borrowings under the Agreement are used to fund the purchase by the Company 
         of shares of its common stock and (b) the value of such shares so purchased exceeds 25% of the value of all 
         Collateral pledged to collateral agent (the "Excess Shares"), the Company will cancel such Excess Shares and shall 
         not hold such Excess Shares as treasury stock. 
 
Based upon the foregoing and subject to the qualifications and limitations set forth below, we are of the opinion that: 
 
         1.       The Company and each Guarantor are organized under the laws of the States of either Arkansas or Delaware 
(collectively the "Loan Parties") have been duly organized and are validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State 
of their respective incorporation or organization as reflected in the Agreement.  Based solely on the Certificates of good standing 
issued by the Secretary of State of such States, each Guarantor organized under the laws of the States of California or Illinois are 
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of their respective incorporation.  AIHI's authorized 
capitalization consists of 200,000 common shares, of which 1000 shares are issued and outstanding and 1000 preferred shares of which 
no shares are issued and outstanding. The outstanding shares of AIHI have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid 
and non-assessable. 
 
         2.       Each Loan Party has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform the Transaction Documents to which 
it is a party.  The execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents have been duly authorized by all requisite 
corporate action on behalf of each Loan Party, and the Transaction Documents have been duly executed and delivered by each Loan 
Party that is a party thereto. 
 
         3.       The Transaction Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Loan Parties, enforceable against 
the Loan Parties in accordance with their respective terms. 
 
         4.      The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents, and the performance by each Loan Party of their respective 
terms, does not conflict with or result in a violation of law, rule or regulation, the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of 
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any Loan Party, or of any agreement, instrument, order, writ, judgment or decree known to us to which any Loan Party is a party or 
is subject. 
 
         5.      No consent, approval, authorization or other action by, or filing with, any governmental authority is required in 
connection with the execution and delivery by any Loan Party of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party. 
 
         6.      A court of the State of Arkansas presented with the facts as we have assumed them and properly applying the current 
conflict of law principles, would honor the choice of law provisions as set forth in the Transaction Documents and would not apply 
the substantive laws of the State of Arkansas, including usury laws to the Transaction Documents, except for certain issues 
necessarily governed by Arkansas law such as title to properties and remedies and procedures for enforcement in Arkansas. 
 
         7.      To our knowledge, there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or affecting the Company 
or any Subsidiary or any of their respective properties in any court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any 
Governmental Authority that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (as 
defined in the Agreement). 
 
         8.      In the event the laws of the State of Arkansas were deemed to apply to the Transaction Documents, the terms thereof 
would not be deemed to violate any applicable law of the State regulating or restricting the amounts payable as interest, principal 
or otherwise to the Lenders. 
 
         9.      The execution and delivery by the Loan Parties of the Transaction Documents, the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by the Transaction Documents and the performance of the terms and provisions of the Transaction Documents by each Loan 
Party will not involve any violations of Regulation T, U or X or any other rule or regulation of the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System pursuant to Section 7 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 
 
         10.     The Company is not an investment company, or a person directly or indirectly controlled by or acting on behalf of 
an investment company, within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. 
 
         11.     The indebtedness under the Agreement constitutes "Senior Indebtedness" as defined under the Subordinated Debt 
Documents. 
 
         The opinions hereinafter expressed are subject to the following qualifications and limitations: 
 
         (a)     We are members of the bar of the State of Arkansas only and we express no opinion as to the laws of any 
jurisdiction other than the United States of America, the State of Arkansas and the General Corporate Laws of the State of Delaware. 
 
         (b)     This opinion is limited to pertinent laws in effect as of the date hereof, and we expressly disclaim any 
undertaking to advise you of any changes of law or fact that may thereafter come to our attention. 
 
         (c)     Our opinion is limited to the matters stated herein and no opinion is to be implied or may be inferred beyond those 
matters expressly stated.  The opinions expressed herein represent our judgment as to certain legal matters, but they are not 
warranties or guarantees and should not be construed as such.  The liability of this firm is limited to the fullest extent possible 
under Ark. Code Ann. Section 16-114-303; provided, however, the requirements of such section necessary to allow the Lenders to rely 
on this opinion have been satisfied. 
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         (d)     This opinion is furnished by us solely for your benefit, and it may not be relied upon, quoted from or delivered to 
any person other than counsel to you and your agents or employees and participants without our express prior written consent, except 
(i) in connection with the enforcement of obligations of the Loan Parties under the Transaction Documents, (ii) in response to a 
valid subpoena or other legal process, (iii) as otherwise required by applicable law or regulations, or (iv) in connection with the 
sale or transfer of the rights under the Agreement to a subsequent purchaser or transferee. 



 
         (e)     The phrase "known to us" as used in this letter means the actual knowledge of those attorneys of our firm who have 
performed services in connection with the Transaction Documents and this opinion based solely on representations from the Company, 
and does not include constructive knowledge or knowledge imputed to our firm under common law principles of agency or otherwise. 
Except as expressly set forth herein, we have not undertaken any investigation to determine the existence or absence of any facts 
and no inference as to our knowledge concerning any facts should be drawn from the fact that such representation has been undertaken 
by us. 
 
         (f)      For purposes of the factual matters material to the opinions expressed herein, we have, with your consent, relied 
upon the correctness of the representations contained in the Transaction Documents and the factual assumptions stated therein. 
 
         (g)      Our opinions are rendered as of the date hereof and do not cover the effect of any amendment or supplement to the 
Transaction Documents or the validity or enforceability of any amendment or supplement thereto, including without limitation any 
refinancings, modifications, extensions, waivers or releases or the effect or applicability of federal or state tax laws on or to 
the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents. 
 
         (h)      We have made no examination or investigation to verify the accuracy or completeness of any financial, accounting, 
or statistical information furnished to you or with respect to any other accounting and financial matters and express no opinion 
with respect thereto. 
 
         (i)      We call your attention to the fact that the awarding of attorney's fees and expenses is discretionary under 
Arkansas law.  We cannot opine that attorney's fees and expenses will be awarded or if awarded, such award will be in any particular 
amount. 
         (j)      Our opinion herein concerning usury specifically excludes any opinion as to whether the fees, expenses and costs 
paid or to be paid by the Company or any Guarantor to the Lenders constitute interest under applicable Arkansas law. Reasonable late 
payment fees or charges imposed on a one-time basis only and for the purpose of encouraging prompt payment of amounts due on the 
Loans are not generally considered interest under applicable Arkansas law.  Further, reasonable and actual attorneys' fees and 
expenses associated with the preparation of the Transaction Documents and reasonable and actual out-of-pocket charges and expenses 
of the Lenders in making and securing the Loans are not generally considered interest under applicable state law, provided, however, 
to the extent any such charges and expenses paid by the Company are deemed payment or reimbursement of a Lender's general overhead 
expenses, such charges may be deemed interest.  Our opinion concerning usury specifically assumes the preemption of Arkansas law by 
12 U.S.C. &1831u(f), 12 U.S.C. &85 and 12 U.S.C. &36, and the validity, enforceability and constitutionality of those 
laws. 
 
         (k)      Our opinions are subject to, and we express no opinion on, state or federal law relating to fraudulent conveyances.
 
         (l)      The opinions expressed above are (i) given to the addressees hereof solely for their benefit and the benefit of 
their successors and transferees (including any assignee or participant in the Loans under the Agreement) and it is acknowledged 
that each such Loan Party has relied on same, (ii) not binding on any court and (iii) may not be quoted in whole or in part or 
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otherwise referred to in any legal opinion, document, or other report to be furnished to another person or entity without our prior 
written consent; provided, however, that you may furnish this opinion to any proposed assignee or participant in the Loans under the 
Agreement. 
 
                                                             Very truly yours, 
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                                                               EXHIBIT C 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                Form of Increased Commitment Supplement 
 
 
 
                                                    INCREASED COMMITMENT SUPPLEMENT 
 
         This INCREASED COMMITMENT SUPPLEMENT (this "Supplement") is dated as of ____________, ___ and entered into by and among 
ACXIOM CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Borrower"), each of the banks or other lending institutions which is a signatory 
hereto (the "Lenders"), JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as agent for itself and the other lenders (in such capacity, together with its 
successors in such capacity, the "Agent"), and is made with reference to that certain Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement 
dated as of February 5, 2003 (as amended, the "Credit Agreement"), by and among the Company, certain lenders, the Agent, U.S. BANK 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as documentation agent and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as syndication agent.  Capitalized terms used herein without 
definition shall have the same meanings herein as set forth in the Credit Agreement. 
 
                                                               RECITALS 
 
         WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.19 of the Credit Agreement, the Borrower and the Lenders are entering into this Increased 
Commitment Supplement to provide for the increase of the aggregate Revolving Commitments; 
 
         WHEREAS, each Lender [party hereto and already a party to the Credit Agreement] wishes to increase its Revolving Commitment 
[, and each Lender, to the extent not already a Lender party to the Credit Agreement (herein a "New Lender"), wishes to become a 
Lender party to the Credit Agreement];1 
 
         WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to agree to supplement the Credit Agreement in the manner provided herein. 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the agreements, provisions and covenants herein contained, the parties 
hereto agree as follows: 
 
         Section 1.        Increase in Revolving Commitments.  Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each Lender severally 
agrees that its Revolving Commitment shall be increased to [or in the case of a New Lender, shall be] the amount set forth opposite 
its name on the signature pages hereof. 
 
         Section 2.        [New Lenders.  Each New Lender (i) confirms that it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, together 
with copies of the most recent financial statements of the Borrower delivered under Section 5.01 and such other documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Supplement; (ii) agrees 
that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such 
documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Supplement; 
(iii) agrees that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any other Lender or any of their Related Parties and 
based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in 
taking or not taking action under the Credit Agreement; (iv) appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such action as agent on its 



behalf and to exercise such powers and discretion under the Credit Agreement as are delegated to the Agent by the terms thereof, 
together with such powers and discretion as are reasonably incidental thereto; and (v) agrees that it is a "Lender" under the Credit 
Agreement and will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations that by the terms of the Credit Agreement are 
required to be performed by it as a Lender. 
 
- ------------------------------- 
1 Bracketed alternatives should be included if there are New Banks. 
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         Section 3.        Conditions to Effectiveness.  Section 1 of this Supplement shall become effective only upon the 
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 
 
                  (a)      receipt by the Agent of an opinion of counsel to the Borrower as to the matters referred to in 
         Section 3.01, 3.02 and 3.03 of the Credit Agreement (with the term "Agreement" as used therein meaning this 
         Supplement for purposes of such opinion), dated the date hereof, satisfactory in form and substance to the Agent. 
 
                  (b)      receipt by the Agent of certified copies of all corporate action taken by the Borrower to 
         authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Supplement; and 
 
                  (c)      receipt by the Agent of a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Borrower 
         certifying the names and true signatures of the officers of the Borrower authorized to sign this Supplement and the 
         other documents to be delivered hereunder. 
 
         Section 4.        Representations and Warranties.  In order to induce the Lenders to enter into this Supplement and to 
supplement the Credit Agreement in the manner provided herein, Borrower represents and warrants to Agent and each Lender that (a) 
the representations and warranties contained in Article III of the Credit Agreement are and will be true, correct and complete in 
all material respects on and as of the effective date hereof to the same extent as though made on and as of that date and for that 
purpose, this Supplement shall be deemed to be the Agreement referred to therein, and (b) no event has occurred and is continuing or 
will result from the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Supplement that would constitute a Default. 
 
         Section 5.       Effect of Supplement. The terms and provisions set forth in this Supplement shall modify and supersede all 
inconsistent terms and provisions set forth in the Credit Agreement and except as expressly modified and superseded by this 
Supplement, the terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement are ratified and confirmed and shall continue in full force and effect. 
The Borrower, the Agent, and the Lenders party hereto agree that the Credit Agreement as supplemented hereby shall continue to be 
legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.  Any and all agreements, documents, or instruments 
now or hereafter executed and delivered pursuant to the terms hereof or pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement as 
supplemented hereby, are hereby amended so that any reference in such documents to the Agreement shall mean a reference to the 
Agreement as supplemented hereby. 
 
         Section 6.        Applicable Law.  This Supplement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the 
State of Texas and applicable laws of the United States of America. 
 
         Section 7.        Counterparts, Effectiveness.  This Supplement may be executed in any number of counterparts, by different 
parties hereto in separate counterparts and on telecopy counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed 
an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument; signature pages may be detached 
from multiple separate counterparts and attached to a single counterpart so that all signature pages are physically attached to the 
same document.  This Supplement (other than the provisions of Section 1 hereof, the effectiveness of which is governed by Section 3 
hereof) shall become effective upon the execution of a counterpart hereof by the Borrower, the Lenders and receipt by the Borrower 
and the Agent of written or telephonic notification of such execution and authorization of delivery thereof. 
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         Section 8.        ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  THIS SUPPLEMENT EMBODIES THE FINAL, ENTIRE AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE 
SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND SUPERSEDE ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS COMMITMENTS, AGREEMENTS, REPRESENTATIONS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, WHETHER ORAL 
OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED OR VARIED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR 
SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OR DISCUSSIONS OF THE PARTIES HERETO  THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG THE PARTIES HERETO. 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective 
officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above. 
 
                                                     ACXIOM CORPORATION 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Name: 
                                                            Title: 
 
New Total Revolving Commitment: 
$__________________                                  JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as the Agent 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Name: 
                                                            Title: 
 
$______________________                              [BANK] 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Name: 
                                                            Title: 
 
 
$______________________                              [NEW LENDER] 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Name: 
                                                            Title: 
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                                                         CONSENT OF GUARANTORS 
 
         Each Guarantor:  (i) consents and agrees to this Supplement; (ii) agrees that each of the Subsidiary Guaranty, the Security 
Agreement, and the Intercreditor Agreement is in full force and effect and continues to be its legal, valid and binding obligation 
enforceable in accordance with its respective terms; and (iii) agrees that the obligations, indebtedness and liabilities of the 
Borrower arising as a result of the increase in the Revolving Commitments contemplated hereby are "Guaranteed Indebtedness" as 
defined in the Subsidiary Guaranty, "Revolving Obligations" as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement, and "Obligations" as defined 



in the Security Agreement. 
 
 
 
                                                     [List Guarantors] 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Name: 
                                                            Title: 
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                                                               EXHIBIT D 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                    Form of Intercreditor Agreement 
 
 
 
                                             AMENDED AND RESTATED INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT 
 
                                                              relating to 
 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
 
                                                                 with 
 
                                                          JPMORGAN CHASE BANK 
                                                 (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank), 
                                                          as collateral agent 
 
                                                            5 February 2003 
 
 
 
                                             AMENDED AND RESTATED INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT 
 
         THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of February 5, 2003, is by and among, 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank who was successor in interest by merger to Chase Bank of Texas, National 
Association), as agent for the lenders under the Revolver Agreement (as such term is hereafter defined and in such capacity and its 
successors in such capacity, the "Revolver Agent"), JPMORGAN CHASE BANK (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank), as collateral agent 
hereunder (the "Collateral Agent"), ACXIOM CORPORATION ("Borrower") and its subsidiaries party hereto (such subsidiaries, together 
with Borrower and any other Person [as hereinafter defined] who is or becomes a party to any agreement that guarantees or secures 
payment and performance of the Obligations [as hereinafter defined] or any part thereof, the "Obligated Parties"). 
 
                                                               RECITALS: 
 
         A.      Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as the administrative agent, U.S. Bank National Association, as documentation agent, 
Bank of America, N.A., as syndication agent, and certain lenders named therein (such lenders, together with any other lender that 
becomes a party to the credit agreement described in this clause A, herein the "Revolving Lenders") have entered into that certain 
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 5, 2003 (as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or 
otherwise modified from time to time, herein the "Revolver Agreement"). 
 
         B.       The Obligated Parties, the Collateral Agent and certain other parties are party to that certain Intercreditor 
Agreement dated September 21, 2001 (as amended by that certain First Amendment to Intercreditor Agreement dated January 28, 2002 and 
that certain Second Amendment to Intercreditor Agreement dated May 13, 2002, the "Original Intercreditor Agreement"). JPMorgan Chase 
Bank in its capacity as "Term Lender" under the "Term Loan Agreement" and as "Letter of Credit Bank" (as such terms are defined in 
the Original Intercreditor Agreement) was also party to the Original Intercreditor Agreement.  In April 2002, Borrower prepaid the 
"Notes" (as defined in the Original Intercreditor Agreement) and the "Letter of Credit" (as defined in the Original Intercreditor 
Agreement) was cancelled.  Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Borrower has prepaid the obligations outstanding under 
the Term Loan Agreement and JPMorgan Chase Bank, solely in its capacity as "Term Lender" and "Letter of Credit Bank", has agreed 
that it is no longer party to the Original Intercreditor Agreement and that it may be amended or otherwise modified without its 
consent in such capacities only. 
 
         C.       Bank of America, N.A., in its capacity as "Synthetic Agent" (as defined in the Original Intercreditor Agreement), 
and the "Holders" and "Synthetic Lenders" (as both terms are defined in the Original Intercreditor Agreement)  were also party to 
the Original Intercreditor Agreement. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement:  (i) Borrower has prepaid its obligations 
outstanding under the "Operative Agreements" (as defined in the Original Intercreditor Agreement) and has terminated all commitments 
thereunder and (ii) the Synthetic Agent, the Holders and the Synthetic Lenders have agreed that they are no longer party to the 
Original Intercreditor Agreement and that it may be amended or otherwise modified without their consent. 
 
         D.       The Parties hereto desire to amend and restate the Original Intercreditor Agreement in order to: (i) clarify that 
upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, no "Letter of Credit Obligations", "Synthetic Obligations", or "Term Obligations" (as each 
is defined by the Original Intercreditor Agreement) exist and (ii) to delineate the respective rights and interests of the remaining 
parties entitled to the benefits of the Original Intercreditor Agent. 
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         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree as 
follows: 
 
                                                                ARTICLE I. 
 
                                                              Definitions 
 
SECTION 1.01.     Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 
 
                  "Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through 
         one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is under common control with the Person specified.  The 
         term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the 
         management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. 
 
                  "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the introduction hereto. 
 
                  "Borrower" has the meaning set forth in the introduction hereto. 
 



                  "Business Day" means any day on which commercial banks are not authorized or required to close in Texas or 
         New York. 
 
                  "Collateral" means the property in which the Collateral Agent has been granted security interests and Liens 
         pursuant to the Collateral Documents.  Except as provided in Section 4.03(a) and (b) or specifically in the Fourth 
         Amendment to Security Agreement dated February 5, 2003, between the Collateral Agent and the Borrower, the 
         Collateral does not include any Obligated Party's right, title or interest in or to the following (regardless of 
         whether title is held by any Obligated Party, a lessor or otherwise held in a trust estate created to facilitate the 
         financing of the Synthetic Property):  (i) the Synthetic Property and the other assets held by the Synthetic Real 
         Estate Subsidiary; (ii) the documentation governing the financing of the Synthetic Property and the other assets 
         held by the Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary; (iii) the Equity Interest in any single purpose entity established or 
         used to facilitate the financing of the Synthetic Property and the other assets held by the Synthetic Real Estate 
         Subsidiary; and (v) all modifications, replacements and proceeds of the foregoing clauses (i) through (iii). 
 
                  "Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank) in its capacity hereunder 
         as agent for the Creditors and, if JPMorgan Chase Bank shall resign or be removed as Collateral Agent pursuant to 
         Section 6.04 hereof, any successor collateral agent appointed pursuant to the terms hereof. 
 
                  "Collateral Documents" means this Agreement, the Original Intercreditor Agreement, the Security Agreement, 
         the Mortgages and all financing statements, landlord lien waiver and subordination agreements, intellectual property 
         security agreements and other documentation executed in connection with Section 4.03 of this Agreement or in 
         connection with the Security Agreement or the Mortgages, as any of the foregoing may be amended, renewed, extended, 
         supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time. 
 
                  "Creditors" means the Revolving Lenders, the Revolver Agent, and any Affiliate of any Revolving Lender or 
         the Revolver Agent who is owed any Obligations. 
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                  "Deposit Obligations" means all obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of any Obligated Party to any 
         Creditor arising pursuant to any deposit, lock box or cash management arrangements entered into by any Creditor with 
         any Obligated Party, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether direct, indirect, related, unrelated, fixed, 
         contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, several, or joint and several, including, without limitation, the 
         obligation, indebtedness, and liabilities of any Obligated Party, to repay any credit extended in connection with 
         such arrangements, interest thereon, and all fees, costs, and expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses) 
         provided for in the documentation executed in connection therewith.  The Deposit Obligations of a Creditor shall at 
         no time include any other type of Obligations described herein which are owed to such Creditor. 
 
                  "Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of the United States of 
         America, any state thereof or the District of Columbia. 
 
                  "Environmental Laws" means all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments, 
         injunctions, notices or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into by any governmental authority, 
         relating in any way to the environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the management, release or 
         threatened release of any Hazardous Material or to health and safety matters. 
 
                  "Environmental Liability" means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for 
         damages, costs of environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of Borrower or any Subsidiary 
         directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, 
         handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous 
         Materials, (d) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any 
         contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect 
         to any of the foregoing. 
 
                  "Equity Interests" has the meaning specified in the Revolver Agreement. 
 
                  "Event of Default" means any "Event of Default" as defined in the Revolver Agreement. 
 
                  "Hazardous Materials" means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic 
         substances, wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos 
         containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or 
         wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law. 
 
                  "Hedging Agreement" means any interest rate protection agreement, foreign currency exchange agreement or 
         other interest or currency hedging arrangement. 
 
                  "Hedging Obligations" means all obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of any Obligated Party to any 
         Creditor arising pursuant to any Hedging Agreements entered into by such Creditor with any Obligated Party whether 
         now existing or hereafter arising, whether direct, indirect, related, unrelated, fixed, contingent, liquidated, 
         unliquidated, joint, several, or joint and several, including, without limitation, all fees, costs, and expenses 
         (including attorneys' fees and expenses) provided for in such Hedging Agreements. 
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                  "Lien" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, 
         encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any 
         conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially 
         the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset and (c) in the case of securities, any 
         purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such securities. 
 
                  "Mortgage Policy" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.03. 
 
                  "Mortgaged Property" means, initially, each parcel of real property and the improvements thereto owned by 
         Borrower and identified on Schedule 1.01 and includes each other parcel of real property and improvements thereto 
         with respect to which a Mortgage is granted pursuant to Section 4.03 of this Agreement. 
 
                  "Mortgages" means (a) that certain Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Financing Statement dated 
         September 30, 2001 executed by Borrower and filed in Faulkner County, Arizona on September 28, 2001 at file number 
         2001-17713, (b) that certain Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Financing Statement dated September 30, 
         2001 executed by Borrower and filed in Maricopa County, Arizona on September 28, 2001 at file number 2001-0903489, 
         and (c) all other mortgages and deeds of trust executed by Borrower or any other Obligated Party for the benefit of 
         the Collateral Agent, in substantially the form of Exhibit "B" to the Original Intercreditor Agreement, as each may 
         be amended or otherwise modified from time to time. 
 
                  "Notice of Acceleration " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02. 
 
                  "Obligated Parties" has the meaning set forth in the introduction to this Agreement. 
 
                  "Obligations" means the Revolving Obligations, the Hedging Obligations, the Deposit Obligations and all 



         obligations, indebtedness and liability of Borrower to the Collateral Agent arising pursuant to this Agreement or 
         any of the Collateral Documents now existing or hereafter arising, whether direct, indirect, related, unrelated, 
         fixed, contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, several, joint and several, including without limitation, all 
         attorneys' fees and expenses incurred by the Collateral Agent. 
 
                  "Original Intercreditor Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 
 
                  "Person" means any individual, corporation, business trust, association, company, partnership, joint 
         venture, governmental authority or other entity. 
 
                  "Potential Default" means the violation by Borrower of any covenant in the Revolver Documents or the 
         occurrence of any other condition or event specifically described in the event of default sections of the Revolver 
         Documents which, in each case, after the giving of notice specified in the Revolver Documents or the lapse of any 
         time period specified in the Revolver Documents or both, would constitute an Event of Default. 
 
                  "Proceeds" means any and all money or other property received upon the sale, lease, exchange, casualty 
         loss, condemnation or other disposition of any Collateral or any proceeds thereof.  For purposes of this Agreement, 
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         the term "Proceeds" shall:  (a) specifically include (i) insurance proceeds paid from insurance covering the 
         Collateral and (ii) any amounts received through the exercise of any right of set-off, banker's lien or similar 
         right but (b) specifically exclude any amounts received as a result of any judgment (except judgments rendered in 
         respect of the Collateral) or any distribution from any bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings (except such 
         distributions made in respect of the Collateral). 
 
                  "Pro Rata" means, with respect to a Creditor and the type of Obligations specified, at the time of 
         determination, its ratable portion of such Obligations expressed as a percentage determined by dividing the amount 
         of such Obligations owed to such Creditor by the total amount of the same Obligations owed to all Creditors and then 
         multiplying the quotient thereof by 100 and rounding to the nearest one hundredth of one percent. 
 
                  "Required Creditors" means:  (i) at any time any portion of the Revolving Obligations remain unsatisfied, 
         Revolving Lenders holding at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the principal amount of the Revolving Obligations; and 
         (ii) at any time after the Revolving Obligations have been satisfied, Creditors holding at least fifty-one percent 
         (51%) of the principal amount of the Obligations.  For purposes of the calculations under this definition: (i) the 
         principal amount of the obligations of the Revolving Lenders shall be deemed to be equal to the Revolving 
         Commitments (as defined in the Revolver Agreement) prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and (ii) the 
         Revolver Agent, in its capacity as such, shall not be included as a Creditor. 
 
                  "Revolver Agent" has the meaning set forth in the introduction hereto. 
 
                  "Revolver Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 
 
                  "Revolver Documents" means the Revolver Agreement, the guaranties described therein, the other Loan 
         Documents (as defined therein), and any other agreements, instruments and other documentation executed and delivered 
         in connection therewith, as such agreements, instruments and other documentation may be amended or otherwise 
         modified from time to time. 
 
                  "Revolving Lenders" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 
 
                  "Revolving Obligations" means all obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of Borrower or any other 
         Obligated Party to the Revolver Agent and the Revolving Lenders, or any of them, arising pursuant to any of the 
         Revolver Documents, now existing or hereafter arising, whether direct, indirect, related, unrelated, fixed, 
         contingent, liquidated, unliquidated, joint, several, or joint and several, including, without limitation, the 
         obligations, indebtedness, and liabilities of Borrower under the Revolver Agreement and the other Revolver Documents 
         (including, without limitation, all of Borrower's contingent reimbursement obligations in respect of letters of 
         credit issued pursuant thereto), and all interest accruing thereon and all attorneys' fees and other expenses 
         incurred in the enforcement or collection thereof. 
 
                  "Security Agreement" means the Security Agreement dated September 21, 2002 among Collateral Agent and the 
         Obligated Parties, as the same has been and may be further amended or otherwise modified from time to time. 
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                  "subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the "parent") at any date, any corporation, limited 
         liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those 
         of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in 
         accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, 
         association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the 
         equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general 
         partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or (b) that is, as of such date, otherwise 
         controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of 
         the parent. 
 
                  "Subsidiary" means any subsidiary of Borrower. 
 
                  "SPV Finance Documents" has the meaning specified in the Revolver Agreement. 
 
                  "Synthetic Property " has the meaning specified in the Revolver Agreement. 
 
                  "Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary " has the meaning specified in the Revolver Agreement. 
 
                  "Transaction Documents" means this Agreement, the Original Intercreditor Agreement, the Revolver Documents, 
         the Collateral Documents, the documentation evidencing and governing any of the Deposit Obligations and the Hedging 
         Obligations and any other agreements, instruments and other documentation executed and delivered in connection with 
         any of the foregoing, as such agreements, instruments and other documentation may be amended or otherwise modified 
         from time to time. 
 
SECTION 1.02.     Other Definitional Provisions.  All definitions contained in this Agreement are equally applicable to the singular 
and plural forms of the terms defined.  The words "hereof", "herein", and "hereunder" and words of similar import referring to this 
Agreement refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.  Unless otherwise specified, all 
Article and Section references pertain to this Agreement. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE II. 
 
                                            Sharing of Collateral; Distribution of Proceeds 
 
SECTION 2.01.     Sharing of Collateral.  The Collateral Agent shall be the secured party under the Collateral Documents and shall 
hold the Collateral, all for the benefit of the Creditors.  Each Creditor shall have an undivided interest in the Collateral and 



shall be entitled to its portion of any Proceeds received by Collateral Agent from any of the Collateral in accordance with this 
Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2.02.     Distribution of Proceeds by Collateral Agent. All Proceeds received by the Collateral Agent shall first be applied 
as payment of the accrued and unpaid fees of the Collateral Agent hereunder and then to all other unpaid or unreimbursed Obligations 
(including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) owing to the Collateral Agent in its capacity as Collateral Agent only.  Any 
amount of such Proceeds remaining after the applications described in the preceding sentence shall be distributed: 
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(a)      First, to the Revolver Agent for application to Revolving Obligations until all the liquidated Revolving Obligations have 
been satisfied in full and all contingent reimbursement obligations in respect to letters of credit issued under the Revolver 
Agreement have been fully cash collateralized; 
 
(b)      Second, to the Creditors who are owed Hedging Obligations for application to the Hedging Obligations, Pro Rata (calculated 
based on the Hedging Obligations), until all the liquidated Hedging Obligations have been satisfied in full and all contingent 
Hedging Obligations have been fully cash collateralized; 
 
(c)      Third, to the Creditors who are owed Deposit Obligations for application to the Deposit Obligations, Pro Rata (calculated 
based on the Deposit Obligations), until all the liquidated Deposit Obligations have been satisfied in full and all contingent 
Deposit Obligations have been fully cash collateralized; 
 
(d)      Fourth, to the Creditors for application to any other Obligation, Pro Rata (calculated based on the Obligations then 
outstanding), until all of the Obligations have been satisfied in full or cash collateralized; and 
 
(e)      Finally, after all of the Obligations have been satisfied in full or cash collateralized and all commitments and other 
obligations of the Creditors to the Obligated Parties or any one of them have been terminated or otherwise satisfied, to the 
Obligated Party entitled thereto or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct or as otherwise required by law. 
 
SECTION 2.03.    Creditor Delivery of Information. If a Creditor fails to supply information relating to the outstanding Obligations 
owed to it for purposes of calculating the Pro Rata portions within ten (10) Business Days after being given a written request by 
the Collateral Agent, distributions hereunder shall be established by the Collateral Agent on the basis of the information available 
to it and the Collateral Agent shall have no liability or responsibility for any shortfall or excess in amounts distributed on the 
basis thereof. 
 
SECTION 2.04.     Proceeds Securing Contingent Obligations. Portions of the Proceeds of the Collateral distributed to a Creditor may 
thereafter be held by the Creditor as collateral for the contingent or unliquidated Obligations.  In the event that such Obligations 
do not turn into liquidated Obligations and/or are otherwise finally satisfied or no longer exist, the Creditor holding the 
applicable Proceeds agrees to distribute the Proceeds so held in accordance with Section 2.02. 
 
SECTION 2.05.     Proceeds Received Directly by a Creditor.  If any Creditor receives any Proceeds after receiving a Notice of 
Acceleration or as a result of the exercise of the right of set-off, banker's lien or similar right (other than pursuant to the 
exercise of the right of set-off, banker's lien or similar right exercised to satisfy any Deposit Obligations) such Person shall: 
(a) notify the Collateral Agent and the Revolver Agent in writing of the nature of such receipt, the date of the receipt and the 
amount thereof; (b) deduct from the Proceeds received any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses) incurred in 
connection with the acquisition of such Proceeds; (c) hold the remaining amount of such Proceeds in trust for the benefit of the 
Collateral Agent until paid over to the Collateral Agent; and (d) pay the remaining amount of such Proceeds to the Collateral Agent 
promptly upon receipt thereof.  Upon receipt, the Collateral Agent shall promptly distribute the Proceeds so received in accordance 
with Section 2.02.  Prior to receiving a Notice of Acceleration, any Creditor may accept and apply payments made from the Collateral 
on or in respect of the Obligations to which they are a party without any responsibility to turn over or share such payments with 
any other Creditor; provided that any Proceeds received at any time from or as a result of:  (i) the exercise of the right of set- 
off, banker's lien or similar right (other than an exercise of such a right to satisfy Deposit Obligations) or (ii) a casualty loss 
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to or condemnation of any of the Collateral shall be turned over to the Collateral Agent and distributed in accordance with Section 
2.02. After a Notice of Acceleration is sent, all such Proceeds shall be turned over to the Collateral Agent in accordance with this 
Section 2.05 and shall be distributed by the Collateral Agent in accordance with Section 2.02. 
 
SECTION 2.06.     Incorrect Distribution.  If any Creditor receives any Proceeds in an amount in excess of the amount such Person is 
entitled to receive under the terms hereof, such Person shall (a) hold such excess Proceeds in trust for the benefit of the 
Collateral Agent until paid over to the Collateral Agent and (b) shall promptly pay the excess amount of such Proceeds to the 
Collateral Agent.  The Collateral Agent shall promptly distribute the amount so received to the Creditors entitled thereto in 
accordance with the terms of Section 2.02. 
 
SECTION 2.07.    Return of Proceeds. If at any time payment, in whole or in part, of any Proceeds distributed hereunder is rescinded 
or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Collateral Agent or by any Creditor as a preference, fraudulent conveyance or 
otherwise under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, then each Person receiving any portion of such Proceeds agrees, upon 
demand, to return the portion of such Proceeds it has received to the Person responsible for restoring or returning such Proceeds. 
 
SECTION 2.08.     Notice to Persons making Distributions.  Each Creditor shall promptly and appropriately instruct any Person (other 
than the Collateral Agent) making any distribution of Proceeds to make such distribution so as to give effect to this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2.09.     Perfection by Possession. The Collateral Agent hereby appoints each Creditor to serve as its bailee to perfect the 
Collateral Agent's Liens and security interest in any Collateral, including any Proceeds, in the possession of any such Creditor 
(and continues the appointments made under the Original Intercreditor Agreement).  Any Creditor possessing such Collateral agrees to 
so act as bailee for the Collateral Agent in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof. 
 
SECTION 2.10.     Non-Cash Proceeds.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, if Collateral Agent shall ever 
acquire any Collateral through foreclosure or by a conveyance in lieu of foreclosure or by retaining any of the Collateral in 
satisfaction of all or part of the Obligations or if any Proceeds received by Collateral Agent (or received directly by any 
Creditor) to be distributed and shared pursuant to this Article II are in a form other than immediately available funds, the Person 
receiving such Collateral or Proceeds shall not be required to remit any share thereof under the terms hereof and the Creditors 
shall only be entitled to their undivided interests in the Collateral or non-cash Proceeds as determined hereby. The Creditors shall 
receive the applicable share of any immediately available funds consisting of Proceeds from such Collateral or proceeds of such non- 
cash Proceeds so acquired only if and when paid in connection with the subsequent disposition thereof. While any Collateral or other 
property to be shared pursuant to this Article II is held by the Collateral Agent pursuant to this Section 2.10, the Collateral 
Agent shall hold such Collateral or other property for the benefit of the Creditors in accordance with their undivided interest 
therein and all matters relating to the management, operation, further disposition or any other aspect of such Collateral or other 
property shall be resolved by the agreement of the Required Creditors subject to the restrictions in Section 7.06 hereof. 
 
SECTION 2.11.     Subordination of Other Liens.  Subject to the rights of the Creditors created by this Agreement and the Collateral 
Documents and notwithstanding any contrary terms of any Transaction Document, all Liens and other right, title and interest now or 
hereafter acquired by the Collateral Agent in any or all of the Collateral (the "Collateral Agent Interests") shall be prior and 
superior to any Lien, or other right, title or interest, now held or hereafter acquired by any other Creditor in and to such 
property (collectively, the "Creditor Subordinate Interests") and the Creditors hereby agree that the Creditor Subordinate Interests 
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shall be subordinate to the Collateral Agent Interests.  The priority of the Collateral Agent Interests shall be applicable 
irrespective of the time or order of attachment or perfection of any Lien, or other right, title or interest or the time or order of 
filing of any financing statements or other documents, or any statutes, rules or law, or court decisions to the contrary. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE III. 
 
                                                          Rights and Remedies 
 
SECTION 3.01.     Creditors' Rights and Remedies.  The Creditors shall have all the rights and remedies available to them under the 
Transaction Documents to which they or their agent is a party or under applicable law upon the occurrence of a Potential Default or 
an Event of Default or at any other time and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Creditor shall have the 
independent right, exercised in accordance with the applicable Transaction Documents (other than the Collateral Documents) (and if 
required by the applicable Transaction Documents, through such Creditor's agent), to do any of the following: 
 
(a)      accelerate the Obligations owing to such Creditor pursuant to the Transaction Documents (other than the Collateral 
Documents) to which such Creditor is a party; 
 
(b)      institute suit against any Obligated Party (i) under the terms of the applicable Transaction Documents (other than the 
Collateral Documents) for collection of the amounts owing thereunder or (ii) seeking an injunction, restraining order or any other 
similar remedy; 
 
(c)      seek the appointment of a receiver for any Obligated Party (but not any of the Collateral); 
 
(d)      file an involuntary petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws against any Obligated Party or file a proof of claim 
in any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding; 
 
(e)      exercise the right of set-off; or 
 
(f)      take any other enforcement action with respect to any Potential Default or Event of Default pursuant to and in accordance 
with the Transaction Documents (other than the Collateral Documents) to which it or its agent is a party. 
 
Without limiting the foregoing, any Creditor that is owed Deposit Obligations shall be entitled to exercise all rights of set-off, 
banker's lien or other rights under the Transaction Documents (other than the Collateral Documents) relating to the Deposit 
Obligations to pay and satisfy the Deposit Obligations owing to such Creditor unless the Creditor has entered into an agreement with 
the Collateral Agent to the contrary.  Notwithstanding the first sentence of this Section 3.01 and except as otherwise provided in 
the second sentence of this Section 3.01, no Creditor may bring any action or other proceeding in respect of the Collateral or 
enforce or demand enforcement of any rights with respect to the Collateral except upon the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement.  If any Creditor obtains any payment of any Obligations owed as a result of the exercise of any right or remedy permitted 
by this Section 3.01, other than from a distribution of Proceeds (except as otherwise provided in the second sentence of this 
Section 3.01), such Person shall be entitled to retain the full amount thereof and shall promptly apply the amount received to the 
Obligations owed to it in accordance with the Transaction Documents to which it is a party. 
 
SECTION 3.02.     Enforcement of Security Interest.  Any Creditor which has actual knowledge of an Event of Default or Potential 
Default which has not been or is not reasonably expected to be cured or waived or facts which indicate that a Potential Default or 
an Event of Default which has not been or is not reasonably expected to be cured or waived has occurred, shall deliver to the 
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Collateral Agent and the other Creditors a written notice setting forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances thereof. A 
Creditor that has accelerated, or has actual knowledge of any acceleration of any of the Obligations shall deliver to the Collateral 
Agent and the other Creditors a written notice setting forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances thereof (a "Notice of 
Acceleration").  Upon the receipt of a Notice of Acceleration, the Collateral Agent shall, subject to the other terms and provisions 
hereof, take such steps as the Required Creditors may direct, including without limitation, steps (a) to foreclose or otherwise 
enforce any Lien or security interest granted to the Collateral Agent under the Collateral Documents in accordance with the terms 
thereof and (b) to exercise any and all other rights and remedies afforded to the Collateral Agent by the terms of this Agreement, 
by the terms of the Collateral Documents, by the laws of the State of Texas or any other jurisdiction, by equity or otherwise. 
 
SECTION 3.03.    Emergency Actions. The Collateral Agent is authorized, but not obligated, to take any action reasonably required to 
perfect or continue the perfection of the security interests and Liens on the Collateral for the benefit of the Creditors and 
following the occurrence of an Event of Default and before the Required Creditors have given the Collateral Agent directions, to 
take any action which the Collateral Agent, in its sole discretion and good faith, believes to be reasonably required to promote and 
protect the interests of the Creditors and to maximize both the value of the Collateral and the present value of the recovery by the 
Creditors on the Obligations; provided, however, that once such directions have been received, the actions of the Collateral Agent 
shall be governed thereby and the Collateral Agent shall not take any further action which would be contrary thereto. The Collateral 
Agent shall give written notice of any such action to the Creditors within one Business Day and shall cease any such action upon its 
receipt of written instructions from the Required Creditors. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE IV. 
 
                                                      Obligated Party Agreements 
 
SECTION 4.01.     Insurance.  Borrower will, and will cause each of the other Obligated Parties to, maintain with financially sound 
and reputable insurance companies insurance in such amounts (with no greater risk retention) and against such risks as are 
customarily maintained by companies of established repute engaged in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar 
locations.  Borrower will furnish to the Collateral Agent, upon its request, information in reasonable detail as to the insurance so 
maintained.  Each general liability insurance policy shall name the Collateral Agent as additional insured.  Each insurance policy 
covering Collateral shall name the Collateral Agent as loss payee and shall provide that such policy will not be canceled or 
materially changed without thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Collateral Agent. 
 
SECTION 4.02.     Inspection and Audit Rights.  In addition to inspections pursuant to any Transaction Document, Borrower will, and 
will cause each Obligated Party to permit any authorized representative designated by the Collateral Agent (acting individually or 
at the request of the Required Creditors), together with any authorized representative of any Creditor desiring to accompany the 
Collateral Agent, to (a) visit and inspect the properties and financial records of any Obligated Party (including those records 
relating to the existence and condition of the Collateral), (b) conduct audits, appraisal and examinations of the Collateral, 
(c) make extracts from such financial records, and (d) discuss the affairs, finances and condition of the Obligated Parties and the 
Collateral with its officers and employees and independent public accountants.  The Collateral Agent shall also have the right to 
verify with any and all customers of any Obligated Party the existence and condition of the accounts receivable, as often as the 
Collateral Agent may require. 
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SECTION 4.03.     Further Assurances; Additional Assets and Subsidiaries; other Collateral Matters.  At any time and from time to 
time, upon the written request of Collateral Agent, and at the expense of Borrower, each Obligated Party will promptly execute and 
deliver any and all such further instruments and documentation and take such further action as the Collateral Agent deems necessary 
or advisable in obtaining the full benefits of this Agreement and the Collateral Documents and of the rights, remedies and powers 
herein and therein conferred or reserved, subject to the terms of the Security Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the 
forgoing, Borrower agrees as follows: 
 
(a)      Additional Subsidiaries.  If any additional Domestic Subsidiary is formed or acquired after the date hereof, Borrower will: 



(i) notify the Collateral Agent thereof, and (ii) promptly after such Subsidiary is formed or acquired: (A) cause such Subsidiary to 
become a party to the Security Agreement pursuant to the completion and execution of a Subsidiary Joinder Agreement (as such term is 
defined in the Security Agreement) and promptly take such actions to create and perfect Liens intended to be created on such 
Subsidiary's personal property assets under the terms of the Security Agreement to secure the Obligations as the Collateral Agent 
shall reasonably request; (B) cause such Subsidiary to grant the Collateral Agent Liens on such Subsidiary's real property assets 
under the terms of a Mortgage to secure the Obligations; (C) cause such Subsidiary to execute and deliver any and all further 
documentation and take such further action as the Collateral Agent deems necessary or advisable to (1) grant, perfect and protect 
such Liens, (2) to evidence the authority of such Subsidiary to grant such Liens and (3) for the Collateral Agent to obtain the full 
benefits of this Agreement and the Collateral Documents, but subject to the exclusions set forth in the Security Agreement; and 
(D) cause the equity interests issued by such Subsidiary to be pledged pursuant to the Security Agreement by the owner thereof. 
Notwithstanding the forgoing or anything in the Security Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower will not be required to cause the 
Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary to comply with the provisions of clauses (A) through (C) of this Section unless the Collateral 
Agent requests when: (i) an Event of Default under clause (a) or (b) of Article VIII (payment defaults) of the Revolver Agreement 
exists or (ii) an Event of Default arising as a result of the failure to comply with the covenants in Article VII (the financial 
covenants) of the Revolver Agreement exists which has not been cured or waived within 30 days after the occurrence thereof.  If the 
Collateral Agent makes a request under and pursuant to the permissions of the forgoing sentence, then the Borrower will, and will 
cause the Synthetic Real Estate Subsidiary to, comply with the obligations under first sentence of this section and any obligations 
under the Security Agreement promptly after such request is delivered with respect to all of its property which is not encumbered by 
a Lien permitted by the Revolver Agreement. 
 
(b)      Additional Assets. If any material assets (including any real property or improvements thereto or any interest therein) are 
acquired by any Obligated Party after September 21, 2001 (other than:  (i) assets constituting Collateral under the Collateral 
Documents that become subject to the Lien of the Collateral Documents upon acquisition thereof, (ii) assets financed with 
indebtedness permitted by the Revolver Agreement, (iii) assets encumbered by other consensual Liens permitted by the Revolver 
Agreement, and (iv) any Synthetic Property or any SPV Finance Documents) or if any Lien encumbering any material assets (other than 
the Synthetic Property) which are not Collateral as of September 21, 2001 are released or otherwise discharged after September 21, 
2001, Borrower will notify the Collateral Agent thereof, and, if requested by the Collateral Agent or the Required Creditors, 
Borrower will cause such assets to be subjected to a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent securing the Obligations and will take, 
and cause the applicable other Obligated Parties to take, such actions as shall be necessary or reasonably requested by the 
Collateral Agent to grant and perfect such Liens, including actions described in paragraph (a) of this Section but subject to the 
exclusions set forth in the Security Agreement, all at the expense of the Obligated Parties.  The Borrower acknowledges that the fee 
and leasehold interests of the Borrower in the real property and related improvements located in Faulkner County, Conway, Arkansas 
which became unencumbered on or about July 3, 2002 are subject to the provisions of the forgoing sentence and the Collateral Agent 
or the Required Creditors may require the Borrower to grants Liens therein at any time as long as such property is not then 
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encumbered by a Lien permitted by the Revolver Agreement.  If the Collateral Agent requests when: (i) an Event of Default under 
clause (a) or (b) of Article VIII (payment defaults) of the Revolver Agreement exists or (ii) an Event of Default arising as a 
result of the failure to comply with the covenants in Article VII (the financial covenants) of the Revolver Agreement exists which 
has not been cured or waived within 30 days after the occurrence thereof, the Borrower will, and will cause any other Obligated 
Party who has any interest in any Synthetic Property or SPV Finance Documents to, grant Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent to 
secure the Obligations in all the Synthetic Property and SPV Finance Documents which are not encumbered by a Lien permitted by the 
Revolver Agreement and will take, and cause the applicable other Obligated Parties to take, such actions as shall be necessary or 
reasonably requested by the Collateral Agent to grant and perfect such Liens, including actions described in paragraph (a) of this 
Section but subject to the exclusions set forth in the Security Agreement, all at the expense of the Obligated Parties. 
 
(c)      Mortgaged Property. 
 
(i)      Appraisals.  If requested by the Collateral Agent or required by applicable law, Borrower shall deliver or cause to be 
delivered to the Collateral Agent from time to time (but not more frequently than once each calendar year) a current appraisal of 
the Mortgaged Property or any portion thereof, such appraisals to be in form and substance satisfactory to the Collateral Agent. 
 
(ii)     Title Insurance Commitments.  If requested by the Collateral Agent or required by applicable law, Borrower shall promptly 
deliver or cause to be delivered from time to time to the Collateral Agent (but not more frequently than once each calendar year): 
(i) an unconditional commitment for the issuance of a mortgagee policy of title insurance, written by a title insurance company 
acceptable to Collateral Agent, and in a form satisfactory to Collateral Agent, with all requirements and conditions to the issuance 
of the final policy deleted or marked satisfied, in an amount equal to not less than the fair market value of the Mortgaged Property 
subject to the Lien created by the Mortgages insured thereby, committing to insuring that such Lien creates a valid first Lien on, 
and security and title to, all Mortgaged Property described therein, with no exceptions which Collateral Agent shall not have 
approved in writing or (ii) an update to the title insurance commitment delivered in September 2001, such update to be in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Collateral Agent. 
 
(iii)    Title Insurance Policy.  Within twenty (20) days following the request by the Collateral Agent, Borrower shall deliver or 
cause to be delivered to the Collateral Agent a mortgagee policy of title insurance (the "Mortgage Policy"), written by a title 
insurance company acceptable to Collateral Agent, and in a form satisfactory to Collateral Agent, in an amount equal to not less 
than the fair market value of the Mortgaged Property, insuring that the Mortgages create a valid first Lien on, and security and 
title to, all Mortgaged Property, with no exceptions which Collateral Agent shall not have approved in writing.  The Mortgage Policy 
shall include an endorsement insuring against the effect of future advances under the Transaction Documents, for mechanics' liens 
and for any other matter that Collateral Agent may request, and shall provide for affirmative insurance and such reinsurance as the 
Collateral Agent may request. 
 
(iv)     Environmental Reports.  If the Collateral Agent at any time has reasonable basis to believe that there may be a material 
violation of any Environmental Laws by, or any material liability arising thereunder of, any Obligated Party or related to any 
Mortgaged Property or any real property adjacent to any Mortgaged Property, then Borrower agrees, upon the request of the Collateral 
Agent to provide the Collateral Agent with such environmental reports and assessments, engineering studies or other written material 
or data as the Collateral Agent may require relating thereto. 
 
(v)      Environmental Remediation.  In the event that the Collateral Agent determines from the environmental reports or information 
delivered pursuant to clause (iv) of this Section 4.03(c) or pursuant to any other information, that remedial action to correct an 
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adverse environmental condition is necessary with respect to any Obligated Party or the Mortgaged Property or any other property of 
any Obligated Party, Borrower shall take such action as the Collateral Agent may require to cure, or protect against, any material 
violation or potential violation of any Environmental Laws or any material actual or potential liability under any Environmental 
Law. 
 
SECTION 4.04.     Obligations Unimpaired.  Except as expressly provided herein, nothing contained in this Agreement shall impair, as 
between any Obligated Party and any Creditor, the obligation of an Obligated Party to pay or perform any Obligation it owes under 
the terms of the applicable Transaction Documents or any other liability of any Obligated Party to such Creditor when the same shall 
become due and payable in accordance with the terms of the applicable Transaction Documents. 
 
SECTION 4.05.     No Additional Rights for Borrower. If any Creditor shall enforce its rights and remedies in violation of the terms 
of this Agreement, each Obligated Party agrees that it shall not use such violation as a defense to the enforcement by such Creditor 
of any of its rights under the Transaction Documents to which it is a party nor assert such violation as a counterclaim or basis for 
set-off or recoupment against such Creditor.  In furtherance of the foregoing, each Obligated Party agrees that this Agreement shall 
not give any Obligated Party any substantive or affirmative rights against any Creditor. 
 



SECTION 4.06.     Confidentiality.  Each of the Collateral Agent, the Revolver Agent and the other Creditors agrees to maintain the 
confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' 
directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the 
Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such 
Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or 
regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this Agreement, (e) in connection with the 
exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of rights 
hereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to any assignee of or 
participant in, or any prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (g) with 
the consent of Borrower, or (h) to the extent such Information: (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of 
this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Collateral Agent, any Agent or any other Creditor on a nonconfidential basis from a 
source other than Borrower. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from Borrower relating to 
Borrower or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Collateral Agent, either Agent or any other 
Creditor on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by Borrower; provided that, in the case of information received from 
Borrower after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential.  Any Person required 
to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation 
to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person 
would accord to its own confidential information. 
 
SECTION 4.07.     Leasing Limitations. Collateral Agent's consent shall be required in connection with any and all new leases, or in 
connection with the amendment or other modification of any existing lease(s), of the real property encumbered by the Mortgages (the 
"Mortgaged Property").  Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in any of the Transaction Documents to the contrary, Collateral 
Agent's consent shall not be required in connection with any new lease or in connection with the amendment or other modification of 
any existing lease of the Mortgaged Property, if such new lease or such existing lease following such amendment or other 
modification:  (i) is on a standard form lease previously approved in writing by Collateral Agent (with only non-material 
modifications thereto), (ii) covers less than 7,500 square feet, (iii) is for a term of not more than five (5) years (including all 
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renewal options), (iv) in the case of an amendment, does not reduce the rental rate provided under the lease being amended; and, in 
the case of a new lease, provides for rental rate not less than rental rates which are being obtained by landlords in projects 
similar to the Mortgaged Property in the market where such Mortgaged Property is located, and in any event, not less than the rental 
rate in effect under the lease being replaced, and (v) is entered into prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default.  Borrower 
shall deliver to Collateral Agent a copy of all new leases or any amendment to an existing lease within five (5) days after the 
execution thereof, whether or not Collateral Agent's consent to the execution thereof is required hereunder. 
 
                                                                ARTICLE V. 
 
                                                   Other Agreements Among Creditors 
 
SECTION 5.01.     Independent Credit Decisions.  Each Creditor agrees that it has  independently and without reliance on the 
Collateral Agent or any other Creditor, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own 
analysis of the Collateral, its own credit analysis of the Obligated Parties and decision to enter into the Transaction Documents to 
which it is a party and that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Collateral Agent or any other Creditor, and based 
upon such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own analysis and decisions in 
taking or not taking action under this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents. 
 
SECTION 5.02.     Accounting and Other Information. Each Creditor agrees to provide the Collateral Agent upon request a statement as 
to the outstanding amount of the Obligations owed to such Creditor. Each Creditor will promptly furnish to the Collateral Agent such 
other information concerning the Obligations owed to it as the Collateral Agent may reasonably request. 
 
SECTION 5.03.     Keeping Books and Records.  The Collateral Agent will maintain proper books of record and account in which full, 
true and correct entries shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to this Agreement, including without limitation, 
records of the calculation of the Pro Rata shares and the distributions made hereunder. 
 
SECTION 5.04.     Parties Having Other Relationships.  Each Creditor acknowledges and accepts that now and in the future the 
Collateral Agent and other Creditors or their respective affiliates may lend to Borrower or any other Obligated Party on a basis 
other than as covered by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents and on a basis which is not secured by the Collateral or may 
accept deposits from, act as trustee under indentures of, act as servicing bank or any similar function under any credit 
relationship with, and generally engage in any kind of business with Borrower or any other Obligated Party, all as if the Collateral 
Agent or such Creditor were not a party to this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents.  Except as set forth herein, each 
Creditor acknowledges that the Collateral Agent and other Creditors and their respective Affiliates may exercise all contractual and 
legal rights and remedies which may exist from time to time with respect to such other existing and future relationships without any 
duty to account therefore to the other Creditors. 
 
SECTION 5.05.     Modification to Financing Documents.  Nothing herein shall restrict the right of any Creditor to amend, waive, 
consent to the departure from or otherwise modify any Transaction Document to which it is a party in accordance with the terms 
thereof. 
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                                                             ARTICLE VI. 
 
                                                           Collateral Agent 
 
SECTION 6.01.     Appointment, Powers and Immunities.  In order to expedite the various transactions contemplated by this Agreement, 
the Creditors hereby irrevocably appoint and authorize JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank), and hereby continue 
the appointment of JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank) under the Original Intercreditor Agreement, to act as 
their collateral agent hereunder and under each of the Collateral Documents. JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank) 
consents to such appointment and agrees to perform the duties of the Collateral Agent as specified herein.  The Creditors authorize 
and direct the Collateral Agent to take such action in their name and on their behalf under the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement and the Collateral Documents and to exercise such rights and powers thereunder as are specifically delegated to or 
required of the Collateral Agent for the Creditors, together with such rights and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.  The 
Collateral Agent is hereby expressly authorized to act as the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Creditors: 
 
(a)      To receive on behalf of each of the Creditors any Proceeds paid pursuant to the Collateral Documents or in respect of the 
Collateral and to distribute to the Creditors the Proceeds so received as provided in this Agreement; 
 
(b)      To receive all Collateral and other items to be furnished or delivered under the Collateral Documents and to hold any 
Collateral so received as agent and bailee for the Creditors to perfect the Liens and security interests granted pursuant to the 
Collateral Documents therein; 
 
(c)      To act as nominee for and on behalf of the Creditors in and under the Collateral Documents; 
 
(d)      To distribute to the Creditors information, requests, notices, documents and other items received from Borrower and other 
Persons in respect of the Collateral and the Collateral Documents; 
 
(e)      To execute and deliver to Borrower and other Persons, all requests, demands, approvals, notices, and consents received from 
the Required Creditors in respect of the Collateral and the Collateral Documents; 



 
(f)      To the extent permitted by this Agreement and the Collateral Documents, to exercise on behalf of the Creditors all rights 
and remedies under the Collateral Documents upon the occurrence of any Event of Default; 
 
(g)      To accept, execute, and deliver the Collateral Documents and any other security documents as the secured party for the 
benefit of the Creditors; 
 
(h)      To take title to Collateral for the benefit of the Creditors pursuant to the exercise of any rights and remedies under the 
Collateral Documents and to manage the Collateral so acquired pursuant to the directions of the Required Creditors; and 
 
(i)      To take such other actions as may be required hereunder or under the Collateral Documents and as may be requested by the 
Required Creditors. 
 
Neither the Collateral Agent nor any of its Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, attorneys, or agents shall be liable for any 
action taken or omitted to be taken by any of them hereunder or otherwise in connection with this Agreement or any of the other 
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Collateral Documents except for its or their own gross negligence or willful misconduct.  Without limiting the generality of the 
preceding sentence, the Collateral Agent:  (i) shall have no duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in this 
Agreement and the Collateral Documents; (ii) shall not be required to initiate any litigation, foreclosure or collection proceedings 
hereunder or under any Collateral Document except to the extent requested by the Required Creditors; (iii) shall not be responsible 
to any Creditor for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties except those made by the Collateral Agent, contained in 
this Agreement or any Collateral Document, or any certificate or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by any 
of them under this Agreement or any Collateral Document, or for the value, validity, effectiveness, enforceability, or sufficiency 
of this Agreement or any other Collateral Document or any other document referred to or provided for herein or therein or for any 
failure by any Person to perform any of its obligations hereunder or thereunder; (iv) shall not be required to keep itself informed 
as to the performance or observance by Borrower or any other Obligated Party of any Transaction Document or to inspect the 
properties or books of Borrower or any other Obligated Party; (v) except for notices, reports and other documents and information 
expressly required to be furnished to the Creditors by the Collateral Agent hereunder or under the Collateral Documents, shall not 
have any duty or responsibility to provide any Creditor with any credit or other financial information concerning the affairs, 
financial condition, properties or business of Borrower or any Obligated Party (or any of its Affiliates) or the Collateral which 
may come into the possession of the Collateral Agent or any of its Affiliates; (vi) may consult with legal counsel, independent 
public accountants, and other experts selected by it and shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken in good 
faith by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants, or experts; and (vii) shall incur no liability under or in 
respect of this Agreement or any Collateral Document by acting upon any notice, consent, certificate, or other instrument or writing 
believed by it to be genuine and signed or sent by the proper party or parties.  As to any matters not expressly provided for by 
this Agreement, the Collateral Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, hereunder in 
accordance with instructions signed by the Required Creditors, and such instructions of the Required Creditors and any action taken 
or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding on the Creditors; provided, however, that the Collateral Agent shall not be 
required to take any action which exposes the Collateral Agent to personal liability or which is contrary to this Agreement or any 
Collateral Document or applicable law. 
 
SECTION 6.02.     Rights of Collateral Agent as a Creditor.  JPMorgan Chase Bank in its capacity as the Revolver Agent, a Revolving 
Lender, and a Creditor hereunder and not as Collateral Agent shall have the rights and powers hereunder as any other party hereto 
and may exercise the same as though it were not acting as the Collateral Agent (except as provided in Section 6.04), and the terms 
"Revolving Lender", "Creditors", or "Creditor" shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, include the Collateral Agent in its 
individual capacity. 
 
SECTION 6.03.     Indemnification; Reimbursement.  THE CREDITORS AGREE TO INDEMNIFY THE COLLATERAL AGENT, ITS AFFILIATES AND THEIR 
RESPECTIVE DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND ADVISORS (COLLECTIVELY THE "INDEMNIFIED PARTIES") FROM AND HOLD EACH OF THEM 
HARMLESS AGAINST (TO THE EXTENT NOT REIMBURSED UNDER SECTIONS 7.01 AND 7.02 OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT, BUT WITHOUT LIMITING 
THE OBLIGATIONS OF BORROWER UNDER SECTIONS 7.01 AND 7.02 OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT), RATABLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THEIR PRO 
RATA PORTIONS THEREOF (CALCULATED, WITH RESPECT TO EACH CREDITOR BY DIVIDING THE AMOUNT OF THE OBLIGATIONS OWED TO SUCH CREDITOR BY 
THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE OBLIGATIONS OWED TO ALL CREDITORS), ANY AND ALL LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, 
ACTIONS, JUDGMENTS, DEFICIENCIES, SUITS, COSTS, EXPENSES (INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES), AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY KIND OR 
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NATURE WHATSOEVER WHICH MAY BE IMPOSED ON, INCURRED BY, OR ASSERTED AGAINST ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY IN ANY WAY RELATING TO OR ARISING 
OUT OF THE COLLATERAL OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR ANY ACTION TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE TAKEN BY ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY UNDER 
OR IN RESPECT OF THE COLLATERAL OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS; PROVIDED, THAT NO CREDITOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY PORTION OF 
THE FOREGOING TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY AN INDEMNIFIED PARTIES' GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT.  WITHOUT LIMITING THE 
FOREGOING, IT IS THE EXPRESS INTENTION OF THE PARTIES HERETO THAT EACH INDEMNIFIED PARTY SHALL BE INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER FROM AND 
HELD HARMLESS AGAINST (TO THE EXTENT NOT REIMBURSED UNDER SECTIONS 7.01 AND 7.02 OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT, BUT WITHOUT 
LIMITING THE OBLIGATIONS OF BORROWER UNDER SECTIONS 7.01 AND 7.02 OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT) ALL OF SUCH LIABILITIES, 
OBLIGATIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, ACTIONS, JUDGMENTS, DEFICIENCIES, SUITS, COSTS, EXPENSES (INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' 
FEES), AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM THE SOLE OR CONTRIBUTORY 
NEGLIGENCE OF ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY.  Without limiting any other provision of this Section, each Creditor agrees to reimburse the 
Collateral Agent promptly upon demand for its Pro Rata portion (calculated, with respect to each Creditor by dividing the amount of 
the Obligations owed to such Creditor by the total amount of the Obligations owed to all Creditors), of any and all out-of-pocket 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by the Collateral Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, 
delivery, administration, modification, amendment or enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings, or otherwise) of, 
or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities hereunder or under the Collateral Documents, to the extent that the 
Collateral Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by Borrower. 
 
SECTION 6.04.     Successor Collateral Agent.  Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Collateral Agent as provided 
below, the Collateral Agent may resign at any time by giving thirty (30) days' prior written notice thereof to each Creditor and 
Borrower and the Collateral Agent may be removed at any time for any material breach of its obligations hereunder by the vote of the 
Required Creditors (excluding the Collateral Agent in its individual capacities acting as a Creditor, whose Obligations shall be 
excluded from the calculation of Required Creditors for this purpose). Upon any such resignation or removal, Required Creditors will 
have the right to appoint a successor Collateral Agent.  If no successor Collateral Agent shall have been so appointed by Required 
Creditors and shall have accepted such appointment within thirty (30) days after the retiring Collateral Agent's giving of notice of 
resignation or the Required Creditors' removal of the retiring Collateral Agent, then the retiring Collateral Agent may, on behalf 
of the Creditors, appoint a successor Collateral Agent and such successor Collateral Agent shall be any other commercial bank 
organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof, having combined capital and surplus of at least One 
Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000.00) and rated "A" or better by Standard & Poors Rating Service or Moody's Investor Service, 
Inc.  Upon the acceptance of its appointment as successor Collateral Agent, such successor Collateral Agent shall thereupon succeed 
to and become vested with all rights, powers, privileges, immunities, and duties of the resigning or removed Collateral Agent, and 
the resigning or removed Collateral Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under this Agreement and the other 
Collateral Documents.  After any Collateral Agent's resignation or removal as Collateral Agent, the provisions of this Article VI 
shall continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was the Collateral 
Agent. 
 
SECTION 6.05.    Interpleader; Declaratory Judgment. In the event any controversy arises between or among the Creditors with respect 
to this Agreement or any rights of any Creditor hereunder, the Collateral Agent shall have the right to institute a bill of 
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interpleader in any court of competent jurisdiction with respect to any amounts held by the Collateral Agent hereunder or to 
initiate proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for a declaratory judgment to determine the rights of the parties. 
 
SECTION 6.06.     Release of Collateral. 
 
(a)      Automatic Release.  If the Borrower sells any Collateral which is permitted to be disposed of under all of the Transaction 
Documents and the Borrower complies with the terms of the Transaction Documents, the Collateral will be disposed of free and clear 
of all Liens of the Collateral Agent. 
 
(b)      Written Release.  The Collateral Agent is authorized to release of record, and shall release of record, any Liens 
encumbering any Collateral that is permitted to be sold upon the Borrower certifying in writing to the Collateral Agent that the 
proposed disposition of Collateral is permitted under all of the Transaction Documents, unless the Collateral Agent is aware that 
the proposed disposition is not permitted under the terms of the Transaction Documents. To the extent the  Collateral Agent is 
required to execute any release documents in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence (and clause (a) above), the 
Collateral Agent shall do so promptly upon request of the Borrower. If the sale or other disposition of Collateral is not permitted 
under or pursuant to the Transaction Documents, the Liens encumbering the Collateral may only be released with the consent of the 
Collateral Agent and the Revolver Agent (at the direction of the Revolving Lenders). Beginning with the fiscal quarter ended 
December 31, 2002, in connection with the delivery of its quarterly financial statements as required by certain of the Transaction 
Documents, the Borrower shall deliver to the Collateral Agent and each Agent a written report describing the Collateral disposed of 
during the fiscal quarter then ended as well as the aggregate sales price for all such Collateral. 
 
(c)      Conway Property.  Without the consent or further agreement of any Creditor, the Collateral Agent is authorized to, and 
shall, release the Liens granted to it under the terms of the Mortgage in the Borrower's real property, improvements and fixtures 
located at 301 Industrial Boulevard, Conway, Arkansas  72032 (which includes the Mortgaged Property described in item 2 on Schedule 
1.01) if and when such property is refinanced pursuant to a sale and lease back transaction or other financing permitted by the 
Transaction Documents upon receipt of a certification by a financial officer of the Borrower that such property has been financed in 
a transaction permitted by all the Transaction Documents. 
 
(d)      Synthetic Property.  Without the consent or further agreement of any Creditor, the Collateral Agent is authorized to, and 
shall, release the Liens granted to it under the terms of any of the Collateral Documents in any of the Synthetic Property, the 
other assets of the Synthetic Real Property Subsidiary, the SPV Finance Documents and the Equity Interests in the Synthetic Real 
Property Subsidiary when the Synthetic Property is financed pursuant to a financing permitted by Section 6.01(a)(xii)(C) of the 
Revolver Agreement if: (i) a financial officer of the Borrower provides a written certification that such property has been financed 
in a transaction permitted by all the Transaction Documents and (ii) the release is required in connection with such financing. 
 
                                                              ARTICLE VII. 
 
                                                             Miscellaneous 
 
SECTION 7.01.     Expenses.  Borrower hereby agrees to pay the Collateral Agent on demand (a) all costs and expenses incurred by the 
Collateral Agent in connection with the preparation, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement, the other Collateral Documents 
and any and all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, and supplements thereof and thereto, including, without limitation, 
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the fees and expenses of legal counsel for the Collateral Agent, (b) all costs and expenses incurred by the Collateral Agent in 
connection with the enforcement of this Agreement and the other Collateral Documents, including, without limitation, the fees and 
expenses of legal counsel for the Collateral Agent, and (c) all other costs and expenses incurred by the Collateral Agent in 
connection with this Agreement or any Collateral Document, including, without limitation, all costs, expenses, taxes, assessments, 
filing fees, and other charges levied by an governmental authority, incurred in connection with any environmental assessment or any 
audit or appraisal of any Collateral or otherwise payable in respect of this Agreement or any other Collateral Document. 
 
SECTION 7.02.     Indemnification.  BORROWER HEREBY INDEMNIFIES THE COLLATERAL AGENT AND EACH AFFILIATE THEREOF AND THEIR RESPECTIVE 
OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, ATTORNEYS, AND AGENTS FROM, AND HOLDS EACH OF THEM HARMLESS AGAINST, ANY AND ALL LOSSES, LIABILITIES,
CLAIMS, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, JUDGMENTS, COSTS, AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING ATTORNEYS' FEES) TO WHICH ANY OF THEM MAY BECOME SUBJECT WHICH 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISE FROM OR RELATE TO (A) THE NEGOTIATION, EXECUTION, DELIVERY, PERFORMANCE, ADMINISTRATION, OR ENFORCEMENT 
OF ANY OF THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS, (B) ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS, (C) ANY BREACH BY 
BORROWER OR ANY OBLIGATED PARTY OF ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, COVENANT, OR OTHER AGREEMENT CONTAINED IN ANY OF THE TRANSACTION 
DOCUMENTS, (D) ANY ACTUAL OR ALLEGED PRESENCE OR RELEASE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ON OR FROM ANY COLLATERAL OR ANY OTHER PROPERTY 
CURRENTLY OR FORMERLY OWNED OR OPERATED BY ANY OBLIGATED PARTY, OR ANY ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY RELATED IN ANY WAY TO THE COLLATERAL 
OR ANY OBLIGATED PARTY, OR (E) ANY INVESTIGATION, LITIGATION, OR OTHER PROCEEDING, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY THREATENED 
INVESTIGATION, LITIGATION, OR OTHER PROCEEDING RELATING TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING; PROVIDED HOWEVER, NO PERSON TO BE INDEMNIFIED UNDER 
THIS SECTION SHALL BE INDEMNIFIED FROM OR HELD HARMLESS AGAINST ANY LOSSES, LIABILITIES, CLAIMS, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, JUDGMENTS, 
COSTS AND EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF RESULTING FROM THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF THE PERSON TO BE INDEMNIFIED. WITHOUT 
LIMITING THE FOREGOING, IT IS THE EXPRESS INTENTION OF THE PARTIES HERETO THAT EACH PARTY TO BE INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER SHALL BE 
INDEMNIFIED HEREUNDER FROM AND HELD HARMLESS AGAINST ALL OF SUCH LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, ACTIONS, 
JUDGMENTS, DEFICIENCIES, SUITS, COSTS, EXPENSES (INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES), AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM THE SOLE OR CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF ANY PARTY TO BE INDEMNIFIED 
HEREUNDER. 
 
SECTION 7.03.     Limitation of Liability. Neither the Collateral Agent nor any Affiliate, officer, director, employee, attorney, or 
agent thereof shall have any liability with respect to, and each Obligated Party and each Creditor hereby waives, releases, and 
agrees not to sue any of them upon, any claim for any special, indirect, incidental, punitive or consequential damages suffered or 
incurred by any Obligated Party or any Creditor in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to, this Agreement or any 
of the other Transaction Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Transaction 
Documents. 
 
SECTION 7.04.     No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies.  No failure on the part of the Collateral Agent or any other Creditor to exercise 
and no delay in exercising, and no course of dealing with respect to, any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement or any 
other Transaction Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or 
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privilege under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of 
any other right, power, or privilege. The rights and remedies provided for in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents are 
cumulative and not exclusive of any rights and remedies provided by law. 
 
SECTION 7.05.     Successors and Assigns. The Revolver Agent represents and warrants that it has the authority to bind the Revolving 
Lenders to the terms and provisions of this Agreement. By accepting the benefits hereof and of the Collateral, the Creditors who are 
not a party hereto also agree to the terms hereof. As a result, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
Collateral Agent, the Creditors, each Obligated Party and their respective successors and assigns, including any assignees permitted 
under the terms of the Transaction Documents.  No Obligated Party may assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder 
without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent and all of the Creditors. 
 
SECTION 7.06.     ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT; AMENDMENT. This Agreement amends and restates in its entirety the 
Original Intercreditor Agreement.  The Obligated Parties and the Creditors ratify and confirm the Original Intercreditor Agreement 
and for all matters arising prior to the effective date of this Agreement (including, without limitation, matters relating to 
indemnification), the terms of the Original Intercreditor Agreement (as unmodified by this Agreement) shall control and are hereby 
ratified and confirmed. Each Obligated Party represents and warrants that as of the date hereof there are no claims or offsets 



against or rights of recoupment with respect to or defenses or counterclaims to its obligations under the Original Intercreditor 
Agreement or any of the other Collateral Documents.  TO INDUCE THE CREDITORS TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT, EACH OBLIGATED PARTY 
WAIVES ANY AND ALL SUCH CLAIMS, OFFSETS, RIGHTS OF RECOUPMENT, DEFENSES OR COUNTERCLAIMS, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, ARISING PRIOR TO 
THE DATE HEREOF AND RELATING TO THE ORIGINAL INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT OR THE COLLATERAL DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED 
HEREBY OR THEREBY. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO HEREIN EMBODY THE FINAL, ENTIRE AGREEMENT AMONG 
THE PARTIES HERETO AND SUPERSEDE ANY AND ALL PRIOR COMMITMENTS, AGREEMENTS (INCLUDING THE ORIGINAL INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT), 
REPRESENTATIONS, AND UNDERSTANDINGS, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF (PROVIDED THAT THE TERMS AND 
PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE IV HEREOF SHALL BE IN ADDITION TO THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS AND SHALL NOT AFFECT 
THE OBLIGATIONS OF BORROWER OR ANY OTHER OBLIGATED PARTY UNDER SUCH TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS) AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED OR VARIED BY 
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OR DISCUSSIONS OF THE PARTIES HERETO. THERE ARE NO ORAL AGREEMENTS 
AMONG THE PARTIES THERETO. No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or the Collateral Documents, nor any consent to 
any departure by Borrower or any Obligated Party therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be agreed to and 
consented to by the Collateral Agent and the Required Creditors, and each such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the 
specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given; provided, that no amendment, waiver, or consent shall, unless in 
writing and signed by all of the Creditors, do any of the following:  (a) change the number of Creditors which shall be required for 
the Collateral Agent to take any action under this Agreement; (b) change the substance of any provision contained in Articles II or 
III or this Section 7.06 whether through the amendment to such sections or amendments to the definitions used therein; or (c) 
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release any Collateral (other than as provided by Section 6.06) or permit any Collateral to secure obligations other than the 
Obligations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section, no amendment, waiver or consent shall be made with 
respect to: (i) Article VI hereof without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent; and (ii)  Article IV, or Sections 7.01 
and 7.02 without the agreement of the Obligated Parties.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, any Subsidiary who joins into the Security 
Agreement pursuant to a Subsidiary Joinder Agreement in the form attached thereto, may become an Obligated Party hereunder on the 
terms thereof without the consent or agreement of any other party hereto. 
 
SECTION 7.07.     Notices.  All notices and other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and telecopied, 
mailed by certified mail return receipt requested, or delivered to the intended recipient at the "Address for Notices" specified on 
Schedule 7.07 hereto; or, as to any party at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to each other party 
given in accordance with this Section.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all such communications shall be deemed to 
have been duly given when transmitted by telecopy, subject to telephone confirmation of receipt, or when personally delivered or, in 
the case of a mailed notice, when duly  deposited in the mails, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid. 
 
SECTION 7.08.     Applicable Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas and the applicable laws of the United States of America. EACH OBLIGATED PARTY HEREBY 
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY, TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF 
TEXAS SITTING IN DALLAS COUNTY AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT 
FROM ANY THEREOF, IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY COLLATERAL DOCUMENT, OR FOR 
RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT, AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT ALL 
CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH TEXAS STATE OR, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY 
LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURT.  EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE 
CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW.  NOTHING IN 
THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT THAT ANY CREDITOR MAY OTHERWISE HAVE TO BRING ANY ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT AGAINST ANY OBLIGATED PARTY OR ITS PROPERTIES IN THE COURTS 
OF ANY JURISDICTION.  Each Obligated Party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and 
effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising 
out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Collateral Document in any court referred to in this Section.  Each of the parties 
hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of 
such action or proceeding in any such court.  Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner 
provided for notices in Section 7.07. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document will affect the right of any party 
to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. 
 
SECTION 7.09.     Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and on facsimile counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. 
 
SECTION 7.10.     Severability.  Any provision of this Agreement held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable shall not impair or invalidate the remainder of this Agreement and the effect thereof shall be confined to the 
provision held to be invalid or illegal. 
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SECTION 7.11.     Headings.  The headings, captions, and arrangements used in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not 
affect the interpretation of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 7.12.     Construction.  Each Obligated Party, each Creditor and the Collateral Agent acknowledge that each of them has had 
the benefit of legal counsel of its own choice and has been afforded an opportunity to review this Agreement with its legal counsel 
and that this Agreement shall be construed as if jointly drafted by the parties hereto. 
 
SECTION 7.13.     Termination.  This Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of (a) irrevocable payment in full of the 
Obligations (and the termination of the commitments of all of the Creditors under the Transaction Documents), provided, however, 
this Agreement shall be reinstated if any such payment is required to be returned by any Creditor or (b) the total liquidation of 
the Collateral and the distribution of all the Proceeds in accordance herewith.  Without prejudice to the survival of any other 
obligations hereunder, the obligations under Sections 2.11, 6.03, 7.01 and 7.02 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 7.14.    WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT 
IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY 
OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY 
HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH 
OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER 
PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS 
SECTION. 
 
SECTION 7.15.     No Duty.  All attorneys, accountants, appraisers, and other professional Persons and consultants retained by the 
Collateral Agent shall have the right to act exclusively in the interest of the Collateral Agent and shall have no duty or 
obligation of any type or nature whatsoever to any Obligated Party or any other Person. 
 
SECTION 7.16.     Conflict with other Transaction Documents.  In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and any other 
Transaction Document, this Agreement shall control. 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                                     JPMORGAN CHASE BANK (formerly The Chase Manhattan  Bank), as Collateral Agent 
                                                     and Revolver Agent 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Brian McDougal, Vice President 
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                                                     ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                                     ACXIOM/MAY & Speh, Inc. 
                                                     Acxiom RM-Tools, Inc. 
                                                     ACXIOM ASIA, LTD. 
                                                     ACXIOM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, INC. 
                                                     ACXIOM / PYRAMID INFORMATION SYSTEMS, INC. 
                                                     Acxiom SDC, Inc. (who will change its name to Acxiom e-Products, Inc. after the 
                                                            Effective Date) 
                                                     ACXIOM CDC, INC. 
                                                     ACXIOM / DIRECT MEDIA, Inc. 
                                                     ACXIOM TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC. 
                                                     GIS INformation SYSTEMS, INC. 
                                                     aCXIOM iNFORMATION sECURITY sERVICES, iNC 
                                                     ACXIOM INTERIM HOLDINGS, INC. 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                            Dathan A. Gaskill, Authorized Officer of all the foregoing companies 
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                                                          INDEX TO SCHEDULES 
 
Schedule 1.01 - Mortgaged Property 
Schedule 7.07 - Address for Notice 
 
 
 
                                                             SCHEDULE 1.01 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             AMENDED AND RESTATED INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT 
 
                                                          Mortgaged Property 
 
1.       Real property owned by Borrower located in Maricopa County, Arizona, excluding real property encumbered by the Synthetic 
         Real Estate Lease. 
 
2.       67.990 acres (more or less), and facilities located thereon, at 301 Industrial Boulevard, Conway, Arkansas 72032, excluding 
         (i) office building OB-4 which is encumbered by a separate mortgage with Regions Bank and (ii) office building ASB 1 which 
         is unencumbered 
 
 
 
                                                             SCHEDULE 7.07 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             AMENDED AND RESTATED INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT 
 
                                                          Address for Notice 
 
 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK 
2200 Ross Avenue 
P. O. Box 660197 
Dallas, TX  75266-0197 
Attention:         Michael J. Lister 
Telephone No.:     214/965-2891 
Telecopy No.:      214/965-2044 
 
 
ACXIOM CORPORATION and other Obligated Parties 
No. 1 Information Way 
Little Rock, AR  72202 
Attention:    Dathan Gaskill 
Telephone No.:     501/252-1350 
Telecopy No.:      501/342-3919 
 
 
 
                                                               EXHIBIT E 
                                                                  TO 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                    Form of Covenant Change Notice 
 
 
 
                                                                [date] 
 
 
 
                                                        Covenant Change Notice 
 
 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
as agent for certain lenders 
party to the hereinafter defined Agreement 
2200 Ross Avenue, 3rd Floor 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
 
Re:      The Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 5, 2003 (as amended, the "Agreement") among Acxiom 
         Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), JPMorgan Chase Bank, as the agent and Bank of America, N.A., as 
         syndication agent, and the other lenders named therein.  Capitalized terms used herein, not otherwise defined, have the 
         meanings given them in the Agreement. 
 



Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
        This letter is the "Covenant Change Notice" referred to in the Agreement and is delivered by the Borrower under Section 6.08 
of the Agreement with the effects provided for under Sections 7.02 and 7.04 of the Agreement. 
 
                                                     ACXIOM CORPORATION 
 
 
 
                                                     By: 
                                                           Dathan Gaskill, Authorized Officer 
 
 
 
                                                             SCHEDULE 1.01 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                          Mortgaged Property 
 
 
1.       Real property owned by Borrower located in Maricopa County, Arizona, excluding real property encumbered by the Synthetic 
         Real Estate Lease. 
 
2.       67.990 acres (more or less), and facilities located thereon, at 301 Industrial Boulevard, Conway, Arkansas 72032, excluding 
         (i) office building OB-4 which is encumbered by a separate mortgage with Regions Bank and (ii) office building ASB 1 which 
         is unencumbered. 
 
 
 
                                                             SCHEDULE 2.01 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                        Lenders and Commitments 
 
 
                          Lenders                                                   Revolving 
                                                                                   Commitments 
 
1.       JPMorgan Chase Bank                                                       $30,000,000 
2.       U.S. Bank National Association                                            $25,000,000 
3.       Bank of America, N.A.                                                     $25,000,000 
4.       ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.                                                       $20,000,000 
5.       SunTrust Bank                                                             $20,000,000 
6.       Wachovia Bank, N.A.                                                       $20,000,000 
7.       Union Planters Bank, N.A.                                                 $10,000,000 
 
                           Total                                                  $150,000,000.00 
 
                                                             SCHEDULE 3.12 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                              a. List of all Subsidiaries of the Company 
 
 
=================================================================================================================================== 
                                                      DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES 
=================================================================================================================================== 
                  Name                      Incorporated In       Authorized Capital Stock          Issued and       Warrants and 
                                                                                               Outstanding Capital   Other Equity 
                                                                                                      Stock             Rights 
========================================= ===================== ============================== ===================== ============== 
Acxiom Asia, Ltd.                               Arkansas        300 shares of common stock     300 shares of              N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom CDC, Inc.1                               Arkansas        1000 shares of common stock    1000 shares of             N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10; 60 shares     common stock; 60 
                                                                of preferred stock par value   shares of preferred 
                                                                $100                           stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom/May & Speh, Inc.                         Delaware        1000 shares of common stock    1000 shares of             N/A 
                                                                par value $0.01                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
GIS Information Systems, Inc.2                  Illinois        2000 shares of common stock    1000 shares of             N/A 
                                                                no par value                   common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom Property Development, Inc.               Arkansas        100 shares of common stock     100 shares of              N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom / Pyramid Information Systems,          California       1,000,000 shares               100 shares of              N/A 
Inc.                                                                                           common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom RM-Tools, Inc.                           Arkansas        1000 shares of common stock    1000 shares of             N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom SDC, Inc. (who will change its           Arkansas        300 shares of common stock     300 shares of              N/A 
name to Acxiom e-Products, Inc. after                           par value $0.10                common stock 
the Effective Date) 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom / Direct Media, Inc.                     Arkansas        300 shares of common stock     300 shares of              N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom Transportation Services, Inc.            Arkansas        100 shares of common stock     50 shares of common        N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10                stock 



- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom UWS, Ltd.                                Arkansas        100 shares of common stock     100 shares of              N/A 
                                                                par value $0.10                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom Information Security Services,           Arkansas        100 shares of common stock     100 shares of              N/A 
Inc.                                                            par value $0.10                common stock 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom Interim Holdings, Inc.                   Arkansas        200,000 shares of common       1000 shares of             N/A 
                                                                stock par value $0.01; 1000    common stock 
                                                                shares of preferred stock 
                                                                par value $0.01 
========================================= ===================== ============================== ===================== ============== 
 
- --------------------------------------- 
 
1 Borrower owns 100% of the outstanding common stock of Acxiom CDC, Inc. and 83% of the preferred. 
2 Wholly-owned subsidiary of Acxiom/May & Speh, Inc. 
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=================================================================================================================================== 
                                                       FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES 
=================================================================================================================================== 
                  Name                      Incorporated In       Authorized Capital Stock          Issued and       Warrants and 
                                                                                               Outstanding Capital   Other Equity 
                                                                                                      Stock             Rights 
========================================= ===================== ============================== ===================== ============== 
Acxiom Limited 3                             United Kingdom                                    4,600,000 at £l            N/A 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom France SA                                 France                                        300.00 FRANCS              N/A 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom Australia Pty Ltd.                      Australia                                       1 share                    N/A 
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
- ----------------------------------------- --------------------- ------------------------------ --------------------- --------------
Acxiom Personnel Pty Ltd4                      Australia                                       1 share                    N/A 
========================================= ===================== ============================== ===================== ============== 
 
Except as otherwise noted on this Schedule 3.12, all Subsidiaries are wholly-owned by Borrower. 
 
b.   Outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, or rights to acquire, and 
outstanding securities or instruments convertible into any Equity Interests of the Borrower 
 
1.       Borrower currently maintains various option/incentive plans for directors, employees and/or consultants pursuant to which 
         options or other instruments convertible into Equity Interests of the Borrower have been or will be issued. 
 
2.       The Subordinated Debt which is convertible into common stock of the Borrower. 
 
3.       The following warrants granting rights to acquire Equity Interests of the Borrower are currently outstanding: 
 
         a.       Warrants to acquire an aggregate amount of 206,773 shares at $17.50 per share held by the various owners of SIGMA 
                  Marketing Group, Inc.  All currently vested.  Expiration date:  9/30/03 
 
         b.       Warrant to acquire 100,000 shares at $32.129 per share held by Allstate Insurance Company. Vesting date:  3/31/05. 
                  Expiration date:  9/30/05 
 
         c.       Warrant to acquire 13,900 shares at $29.05 per share held by Allstate Insurance Company.  Vesting date:  3/31/05. 
                  Expiration Date:  9/30/05 
 
         d.       Warrant to acquire 91,010 shares at $16.39 per share held by Allstate Insurance Company.  Vesting date:  3/31/05. 
                  Expiration date: 9/30/05 
 
         e.       Warrant to acquire 163,380 shares at $16.2753 per share held by Allstate Insurance Company. Vesting date: 3/31/05. 
                  Expiration date: 9/30/05 
 
         f.       Warrant to acquire 1,272,024 shares at $16.32 per share held by Trans Union, LLC. Vesting date: All currently 
                  vested.  Expiration date: 8/12/17 
 
         g.       Warrant with a value of up to $2.0 million, contingently issuable to Toplander Corporation in connection with 
                  acquisition 
 
- ---------------------------------------- 
3 Borrower owns 4,599,999 shares of Acxiom Limited. 
4 Wholly-owned subsidiary of Acxiom Australia Pty Ltd. 
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                                                             SCHEDULE 6.01 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                          Existing Indebtedness and Preferred Equity Interest 
 
                                                       A. Existing Indebtedness 
 
======== =========================================== ============================ ======================================= 
                        Description                     Principal Outstanding                    Liens 
                                                                as of 
                                                          December 31, 2002 
======== =========================================== ============================ ======================================= 
1.       Subordinated Debt                                   $ 175,000,000        Unsecured 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
2.       Capital Lease Obligations                              12,848,000        Secured by Lien on land located in 
                                                                                  Downers Grove, Illinois and the 
                                                                                  related building and other related 
                                                                                  real and personal property assets of 
                                                                                  Acxiom / May & Speh, Inc. 



- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
3.       Software license liabilities                           77,765,000        Interest is software licenses arising 
                                                                                  under related agreements. 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
4.       Construction loan                                       8,783,000        Secured by Lien on land located in 
                                                                                  Conway, Arkansas and the related 
                                                                                  building and other related real and 
                                                                                  personal assets of Borrower 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
5.        Aircraft lease Agreement with General                11,222,0001        Secured by Lien on Aircraft (as 
         Electric Capital Corporation                                             defined in the Aircraft Lease 
                                                                                  Agreement) 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
6.       Other capital leases, debt and long-term                2,709,000        Secured by various Liens on assets of 
         liabilities                                                              Borrower and/or its Subsidiaries or 
                                                                                  equipment underlying lease. 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
7.       Synthetic lease with General Electric                169,593,0001        Secured by liens on equipment 
         Capital Corporation 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
8.       Chenal Joint Venture building loan to                   8,197,523        Secured by lien on Chenal building 
         partnership in which Borrower is a                                       (amount represents total loan) 
         general partner 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
9.       Riverdale Joint Venture building loan                   4,473,031        Secured by lien on Acxiom Plaza 
         partnership in which Borrower is a                                       building (amount represents total 
         general partner                                                          loan) 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
10.      Outstanding letters of credit                          10,754,176        Unsecured 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
11.      Capital Lease obligations resulting from               10,867,000        Secured by liens on equipment 
         sale-leaseback transactions with                                         underlying lease. 
         Technology Investment Partners, LLC and 
         Merrill-Lynch 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
12.      Capital lease with General Electric                     4,980,000        Secured by equipment underlying lease 
         Capital Corporation 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
13.      Lease Obligations between Borrower and                 36,553,888        Secured by real property and 
         the City of Little Rock, Arkansas                                        improvements located at 601 East 
         relating to the Synthetic Property and                                   Third Street, Little Rock Arkansas, 
         the guaranty obligations of Borrower with                                72201 
         respect to the $36,553,888, Series 2000-B 
         Taxable Industrial Development Revenue 
         Bonds (Acxiom Corporation Project) issued 
         by the City of Little Rock, Arkansas 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
14.      Note for purchase of Australian joint                   1,385,000        Unsecured 
         venture 
- -------- ------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
 
- --------------------------------------------- 
1 Amount represents total amount drawn as of December 31, 2002. 
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                                                     B. Preferred Equity Interests 
 
1.       Acxiom CDC, Inc. has issued an outstanding 60 shares of preferred stock (50 shares issued to Borrower and 10 shares to 
         Trans Union LLC).  All outstanding common and preferred stock of Acxiom CDC, Inc. has been pledged to Trans Union LLC. 
 
                                                             C. Guarantees 
 
1.       Acxiom Corporation entered into that certain Continuing Payment and Performance Guaranty dated as of October 30, 1998, as 
         amended, pursuant to which Acxiom Corporation unconditionally guaranteed the obligation of Kidco Holdings, LLC ("Kidco") to 
         make timely payments of the principal amount owed, plus accrued interest, when the same become due, under that certain 
         Promissory Note, dated as of October 30, 1998, as amended, between Mercantile Bank of Arkansas National Association, as 
         lender, and Kidco, as borrower, in the principal amount of $1,184,500.00.  As of June 24, 2002, the referenced Promissory 
         Note was refinanced with BanCorpSouth Bank, a Mississippi state bank.  Kidco Holdings LLC remained as borrower and Acxiom 
         Corporation unconditionally guaranteed the obligation to make timely payment and performance under the loan through a 
         Guaranty Agreement.  The loan balance as of 1/30/03 was $1,171,977.93. 
 
2.       Acxiom Corporation entered into a guaranty arrangement with First Community Bank ("First Community") pursuant to which 
         Acxiom Corporation guaranteed the obligation of Cope's Aircraft Services, Inc. ("Cope's") to make timely payments of the 
         principal amount owed, when the same become due, under a loan arrangement from First Community to Cope's in the principal 
         amount of $280,000.00. As of January 30, 2003, the balance of such loan was  $213,106.39. 
 
                                                               D. Other 
 
         On August 12, 2002, Acxiom Corporation acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of a business owned by Trans 
Union, LLC for an aggregate purchase price of $34.8 million.  The purchase prices consisted of cash of $7.5 million paid at closing, 
a note of $2.5 million paid in October 2002, additional cash of $0.2 million paid in October 2002 as a result of purchase price 
adjustments, 664,562 shares of common stock of Acxiom Corporation valued at $10.5 million and warrants to purchase 1,272,024 shares 
of common stock of Acxiom Corporation at an exercise price of $16.32, valued at $14.1 million. If the value of the 664,562 shares of 
common on August 12, 2003 is less than $10.0 million, the Company will be required to pay additional cash consideration in the 
amount of the deficit, but not more than $5.0 million. 
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                                                             SCHEDULE 6.02 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                            Existing Liens 
 
1.       Liens relating to the Indebtedness described in Schedule 6.01 
 
2.       Liens against assets and capital stock of Acxiom CDC, Inc. in favor of Trans Union LLC to secure performance of services 



         (UCC-1 originally filed August 31, 1992; continuation filed March 12, 1997) 
 
 
 
                                                             SCHEDULE 6.04 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                         Existing Investments 
 
 
=================================== ================= ============================ ==================== ============== 
              Issuer                   Book Value          Type of Property              Number          Percent of 
                                    at December 31,                                     of Units         Borrower's 
                                          2002                                                            Interest 
                                     (in thousands) 
=================================== ================= ============================ ==================== ============== 
Chenal Technology Office Joint           1,782        Real Estate Partnership               N/A              50% 
Venture1 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Exchange Applications 2                    159        Common Stock                     64,173 shares         <1% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
City of Little Rock, Arkansas            1,300        Little Rock Revenue Bond              N/A              N/A 
Series-A Bond 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Series 2000-B Taxable Industrial        36,553        Little Rock Revenue Bonds             N/A              N/A 
Development Revenue Bonds (Acxiom 
Corporation Project) issued by 
the City of Little Rock, 
Arkansas, owned by Acxiom Interim 
Holdings, Inc. 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Riverdale3                               1,166        Real Estate Partnership               N/A              50% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Bigfoot International, Inc. 4              800        Common Stock                     5,000 shares         <20% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Think Direct Marketing, Inc. 5           1,475        Equity interest in                    N/A              13% 
                                                      privately held corporation 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
EMC6                                         0        Equity interest in joint              N/A              50% 
                                                      venture 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Constellation Venture 7                  3,409        Venture Capital Fund                  N/A            5.85% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
The Personal Marketing Company               0        $250,000 loan                         N/A              N/A 
("PMC") 8 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
TheStreet.com 9                            164        Common Stock                     57,075 shares        <20% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
USADATA.com 10                           8,075        Common Stock                   1,976,357 shares     12.75% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Preference Solutions, LLC 11             2,655        Equity interest in Joint              N/A              50% 
                                                      Venture (formerly 
                                                      Healthcare ProConnect) 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
 
- --------------------------------- 
1    General partner (50% ownership interest) in real estate partnership that owns the Acxiom Chenal Building. 
2    Investment in software company. Exchange Application is a public company; its stock symbol is:  EXAP. 
3    General partner (50% ownership interest) in real estate partnership that owns the Acxiom Plaza Building. 
4    Investment in company that provides internet/e-mail services.   Bigfoot is a privately held company. 
5    Equity  interest in a privately held company that provides marketing services to small  businesses. Formerly doing business as 
     Digital Asset Management, Inc. ("DAMI"). 
6    Equity interest in joint venture entered by May & Speh, Inc.  Joint Venture is inactive. 
7    Venture capital fund in which Acxiom's maximum total commitment is $5 million. 
8    Represents  $250,000 loan from Borrower to PMC (seed money to PMC to build data file of pre-mover data);  Borrower has written- 
     off this loan. 
9    Investment in company that provides financial/market research.  TheStreet.com is a public company, its stock symbol is:  TSCM. 
10   Investment in company that provides marketing services.  USADATA.COM is a privately held company. 
11   Joint venture with the American Medical Association.  Established to be the data source of physician information in the United 
     States. 
                                                                1 
 
 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Landscape 12                               655        Stock in Japanese Company        207 shares            15% 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Sedona 13                                1,700        Common and Preferred Stock   $1,500,000 preferred     <20% 
                                                                                      541,363 common 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Market Advantage, LLC 14                     0        Membership in Limited                 40               40% 
                                                      Liability Company 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Intrinsic Ltd.                             368        Maximum payment owed to               N/A              N/A 
                                                      Borrower pursuant to 
                                                      liquidation settlement 
- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ---------------------------- -------------------- -------------- 
Achievant LLC                                0        Membership in Limited                 500              50% 
                                                      Liability Company 
=================================== ================= ============================ ==================== ============== 
Total                                     23,708 
=================================== ================= ============================ ==================== ============== 
 
 
 
- ----------------------------------------- 
12   Investment in a Japanese data company. 
13   Represents a non-cash investment gain received for the sale of CIMSBU (business unit of Borrower); Borrower received $1,500,000 



     of preferred stock and warrants in Sedona. Subsequently, Borrower made an additional investment that was converted into 541,363 
     shares of common stock. 
14   Investment in privately held company.  No cash investment is required. 
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                                                             SCHEDULE 6.10 
                                                                  to 
                                                          ACXIOM CORPORATION 
                                             SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                                         Existing Restrictions 
 
         Existing restrictions include the restrictions and conditions on the (a) ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to 
create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon any of its property or assets, or (b) the ability of any Subsidiary to pay dividends 
or other distributions with respect to any shares of its capital stock, to make or repay loans or advances to the Borrower or any 
other Subsidiary, or to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other subsidiary, that are contained in the loan documents 
pertaining to the Indebtedness described in item 2 of Schedule 6.01. 
 



                                                                                                                      Exhibit 99.1 
 
 
                                                       CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                                                        18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                                                        AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                                             SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report of Acxiom Corporation (the Company) on Form 10-Q for the period ending December 
31, 2002 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Charles D. Morgan, Company Leader 
(principal executive officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. & 1350, as adopted pursuant to & 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that: 
 
          (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
          (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result 
of operations of the Company. 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Charles D. Morgan 
- ------------------------------------------- 
Charles D. Morgan 
Company Leader 
(principal executive officer) 
February 11, 2003 
 



                                                                                                       Exhibit 99.2 
 
 
                                             CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                                              18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                                              AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                                   SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report of Acxiom Corporation (the Company) on Form 10-Q for the 
period ending December 31, 2002 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
Report), I, Jefferson D. Stalnaker, Financial Operations Leader (principal financial officer) of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. & 1350, as adopted pursuant to & 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my 
knowledge, that: 
 
          (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
          (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and result of operations of the Company. 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Jefferson D. Stalnaker 
- ------------------------------------------ 
Jefferson D. Stalnaker 
Company Financial Operations Leader 
(principal financial officer) 
February 11, 2003 
 


